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Part I [Information on the Company] 

I. [Overview of the Company] 
1. [Key Financial Data] 

(1) Consolidated financial data 

Business year 26th 27th 28th 29th 30th 

Year end 
December 

2019 
December 

2020 
December 

2021 
December 

2022 
December 

2023 

Net sales (thousands of yen) 21,518,666 26,056,360 31,635,891 36,264,883 41,425,501 

Ordinary profit (thousands of yen) 1,501,385 2,148,379 2,818,548 3,411,896 3,681,575 

Profit attributable to owners of 
parent 

(thousands of yen) 989,595 1,446,372 1,905,925 2,082,698 2,518,738 

Comprehensive income (thousands of yen) 988,652 1,435,956 1,920,582 2,048,283 2,491,272 

Net assets (thousands of yen) 5,021,024 6,184,203 7,483,722 8,989,708 10,814,362 

Total assets (thousands of yen) 9,236,452 11,689,074 13,947,800 16,072,150 18,993,237 

Net assets per share (yen) 82.86 102.05 123.78 148.69 178.86 

Earnings per share (yen) 16.33 23.87 31.49 34.45 41.66 

Diluted earnings per share (yen) － － － － － 

Equity ratio (%) 54.4 52.9 53.7 55.9 56.9 

Return on equity (%) 21.4 25.8 27.9 25.3 25.4 

Price-earnings ratio (times) 49.30 62.80 35.24 27.23 26.79 

Net cash provided by (used in) 
operating activities 

(thousands of yen) 779,201 1,947,758 2,106,198 1,581,443 1,780,782 

Net cash provided by (used in) 
investing activities 

(thousands of yen) (151,900) (648,329) (357,677) (624,513) (1,661,156) 

Net cash provided by (used in) 
financing activities 

(thousands of yen) (212,625) (273,824) (614,149) (552,958) (667,086) 

Cash and cash equivalents at 
end of period 

(thousands of yen) 3,447,783 4,473,388 5,607,760 6,011,732 5,464,270 

Number of employees 

(persons) 

276 290 320 349 378 

(Average number of temporary 
employees not included in the 
above) 

(155) (168) (188) (217) (319) 

(Note 1) The Company conducted a 2-for-1 split of its common stock, effective January 1, 2021. Net assets per share, earnings 

per share and diluted earnings per share are calculated on the basis that the concerned stock splits were conducted at the 

beginning of the 26th business year. 

(Note 2) Diluted net income per share is not shown in the above table, as there are no residual shares. 

(Note 3) Calculation of net assets per share for the 28th and subsequent business year includes treasury shares deducted from the 

Company-issued shares at the end of the period remaining in trust recorded as treasury shares under shareholders’ equity. 

Moreover, calculation of earnings per share includes shares remaining in trust in treasury shares that deducted from the 
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(2) Key financial data of reporting company 

Business year 26th 27th 28th 29th 30th 

Year end 
December 

2019 
December 

2020 
December 

2021 
December 

2022 
December 

2023 

Net sales (thousands of yen) 18,948,340 26,055,807 31,608,553 36,203,339 41,341,828 

Ordinary profit (thousands of yen) 1,264,684 1,987,081 2,588,817 3,229,845 3,409,475 

Profit (thousands of yen) 852,268 1,641,736 1,767,100 2,001,352 2,361,998 

Share capital (thousands of yen) 573,496 573,496 573,496 573,496 573,496 

Total number of issued shares (shares) 30,300,000 30,300,000 60,600,000 60,600,000 60,600,000 

Net assets (thousands of yen) 4,699,080 6,057,624 7,218,318 8,642,958 10,310,873 

Total assets (thousands of yen) 8,643,194 11,622,998 13,618,027 15,716,340 18,477,837 

Net assets per share (yen) 77.54 99.96 119.39 142.95 170.54 

Total dividends per share 
(yen) 

9.00 14.00 9.00 11.00 13.00 

(interim dividends per share) (－) (－) (－) (－) (－) 

Earnings per share (yen) 14.06 27.09 29.20 33.10 39.07 

Diluted earnings per share (yen) － － － － － 

Equity ratio (%) 54.4 52.1 53.0 55.0 55.8 

Return on equity (%) 19.5 30.5 26.6 25.2 24.9 

Price-earnings ratio (times) 57.23 55.33 38.01 28.34 28.56 

Dividend payout ratio (%) 32.0 25.8 30.8 33.2 33.3 

Number of employees 

(persons) 

196 235 262 280 291 

be(Average number of 
temporary employees not 
included in the above) 

(42) (55) (65) (78) (96) 

Total shareholder return (%) 120.2 224.3 167.9 144.0 172.3 

(Benchmark: TOPIX [incl. 
dividends]) 

(%) (118.1) (126.8) (143.0) (139.5) (178.9) 

Highest share price (yen) 2,111 1,552 1,736 1,180 1,127 

   (3,260)    

Lowest share price (yen) 1,161 1,485 1,028 887 721 

   (999)    

(Note 1) The Company conducted a 2-for-1 split of its common stock, effective January 1, 2021. Net assets per share, earnings 

per share and diluted earnings per share are calculated on the basis that the concerned stock splits were conducted at the 

beginning of the 26th business year. 

(Note 2) Diluted net income per share is not shown in the above table, as there are no residual shares. 

(Note 3) Calculation of net assets per share for the 28th and subsequent business year includes treasury shares deducted from the 

Company-issued shares at the end of the period remaining in trust recorded as treasury shares under shareholders’ equity. 

Moreover, calculation of earnings per share includes shares remaining in trust in treasury shares that deducted from the 

average number of shares during the period. 

(Note 4) The highest and lowest share prices are those on the Tokyo Stock Exchange (Prime Market) from April 4, 2022, and those 

on the Tokyo Stock Exchange (First Section) before that.  

(Note 5) The Company conducted a 2-for-1 split of its common stock, effective January 1, 2021. The highest and lowest share 

prices for the 27th business year is shown after the stock split, with the highest and lowest share prices before the stock 

split are shown in parentheses. 
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2. [Company History] 

Month/Year Events 

February 1995 Limited Company Elan established for bedding sales in Sagamihara City, Kanagawa Prefecture 
September 1997 Head Office relocated to Zama City, Kanagawa Prefecture, for business expansion 

October 1997 Organization changed to ELAN Corporation 
November 1998 Matsumoto Branch opened in Matsumoto City, Nagano Prefecture (Minamihara) 

Launched bedding renewal business 
June 2001 Head Office relocated to Matsumoto City, Nagano Prefecture (Minamihara), to expand the bedding renewal 

business 
August 2001 Nagano Branch opened in Nagano City, Nagano Prefecture, to expand the bedding renewal business 

May 2003 Sagamihara Branch opened in Chuo Ward, Sagamihara City, Kanagawa Prefecture 
Launched nursing- and medical-care-related business 

Launched CS Set services in Sagamihara Branch 
January 2006 Launched CS Set services in Matsumoto Head Office 

December 2006 Nagano Branch closed (integrated into Matsumoto Head Office) 
Reduced the scales of the bedding sales and bedding renewal businesses to concentrate management resources 

into the nursing- and medical-care-related business 
September 2008 Head Office relocated to Matsumoto City, Nagano Prefecture (Takamiya-higashi) 

October 2008 Kanazawa Branch opened in Kanazawa City, Ishikawa Prefecture 
April 2009 Nagoya Branch opened in Naka Ward, Nagoya City, Aichi Prefecture 

February 2010 Hiroshima Branch opened in Naka Ward, Hiroshima City, Hiroshima Prefecture 
March 2011 Osaka Branch opened in Suita City, Osaka Prefecture 

March 2012 Shikoku Branch (currently Takamatsu Branch) opened in Takamatsu City, Kagawa Prefecture 
September 2012 Head Office relocated to Matsumoto City, Nagano Prefecture (Idegawa Town) 

January 2013 Launched education and recreation set services in Sagamihara Branch 
March 2013 Fukuoka Branch opened in Hakata Ward, Fukuoka City, Fukuoka Prefecture 

April 2014 Sapporo Branch opened in Shiroishi Ward, Sapporo City, Hokkaido 
November 2014 Listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange Mothers Market 

March 2015 Saitama Branch opened in Omiya Ward, Saitama City, Saitama Prefecture 
November 2015 

July 2016 
February 2017 

July 2017 

November 2017 

Listed market changed to the Tokyo Stock Exchange First Section 

Tokyo Office opened in Minato Ward, Tokyo 
LTASK Corporation made into a subsidiary 
Niigata Branch opened in Niigata City, Niigata Prefecture 

Okayama Branch opened in Okayama City, Okayama Prefecture 
July 2018 

September 2018 
 

November 2018 
 

July 2019 
August 2019 

January 2020 
June 2020 

November 2020 
April 2021 

November 2021 
April 2022 

 
September 2022 

October 2022 
November 2022 

December 2022 
January 2023 

October 2023 
November 2023 

Tokyo Branch opened in Minato Ward, Tokyo 

ELAN Service Corporation established as a wholly owned subsidiary to diversify individual invoices and the 
customer support unit 

Minamikyushu Sales Office of the Fukuoka Branch (currently Minamikyushu Branch) opened in Kumamoto 
City, Kumamoto Prefecture 

Hakodate Sales Office of LTASK Corporation’s Hirosaki Branch opened in Hakodate City, Hokkaido 
Shizuoka Branch opened in Shizuoka City, Shizuoka Prefecture 

LTASK Corporation absorbed through a merger 
Distribution Center opened in Yokohama City, Kanagawa Prefecture 

Okinawa Branch opened in Naha City, Okinawa Prefecture 
Ryukyu ELAN Corporation established as a wholly owned subsidiary 

Chiba Branch opened in Chiba City, Chiba Prefecture 
Transitioned to “Prime Market” of the Tokyo Stock Exchange from “First Section” due to market 

reclassification by the Tokyo Stock Exchange. 
Distribution Center relocated to Sagamihara City, Kanagawa Prefecture 

Matsumoto Branch opened in Matsumoto City, Nagano Prefecture 
Matsuyama Branch opened in Matsuyama City, Ehime Prefecture 

Tokyo Office relocated to Chuo Ward, Tokyo 
ELAN COULEUR Corporation established as a wholly owned subsidiary 

ELAN LOGISTICS Corporation established as a wholly owned subsidiary 
Kushiro Sales Office opened in Kushiro City, Hokkaido 
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3. [Business Description] 
The following descriptions relate to the main businesses operated by the Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates as of the end 

of the fiscal year under review. 

The Company provides services for rental with laundry service of clothes, towels, etc. combined with supply of daily necessities 

as a set called the “CS (Care Support) Set” (hereinafter, the “CS Set”) to persons admitted to hospitals and persons admitted to 

long-term care health facilities for the elderly, intensive care homes for the elderly, fee-based homes for the elderly, group homes, 

care houses and other nursing care facilities (hereinafter, “nursing facilities for the elderly and other such facilities”). 

More specifically, CS Set is the name of the service combining the lending of clothing and towels with the sale of daily necessities 

instead of the actual users providing their own clothing, towels, and daily necessities during hospitalization or residential care. This 

eliminates the need for the patient and their family members to worry about washing or changing clothes and towels or replenishing 

daily necessities during hospitalization or residential care, allowing the patient to be admitted to a hospital or care facility “empty 

handed” and leave “empty handed.” Another important feature is that fees are calculated based on the number of days of 

hospitalization or residential care, rather than on how much a customer used what items. By utilizing a fixed daily fee system, 

patients can be relieved of concerns about how often they should wash or change clothes and towels or how much they use daily 

necessities during their hospitalization or residential care. We also believe that it offers advantages for users, including the ease of 

calculating costs for living in a hospital or residential care facility. 

Users enter into a contract with the Group when they are hospitalized or admitted, with a portion of the CS Set service operation 

provided by the hospital, nursing care facility for the elderly, or other such facility, as well as the linen suppliers (businesses that 

supply linen products such as clothing, towels, sheets, and pillowcases) and daily necessities distributors (collectively “linen and 

other suppliers”). 

When introducing a CS Set, the Group designs a plan for its component items and other elements, provides operational support to 

the hospital, nursing care facility for the elderly or other such facility, and arranges for the delivery of pajamas, etc. to linen and 

other suppliers. After introduction, the Group collects usage fees from users and responds to inquiries and conducts other tasks 

The hospital, nursing care facility for the elderly or other such facility provides a place to store the CS Set’s component items, 

explains the CS Set to users, accepts their application, rents/collects pajamas, etc., and distributes daily necessities, etc. The Group 

pays an outsourcing fee as consideration for these tasks to the hospital, nursing care facility for the elderly or other such facility. 

Linen and other suppliers deliver laundered pajamas, daily necessities, etc., to locations designated by the hospital, nursing care 

facility for the elderly or other such facility, and collect and launder pajamas, etc., after use. The Group pays a laundry fee, etc. as 

consideration for these tasks to the linen and other suppliers. 

 

The following charts outline the business. 
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(In the case of supplier as the contractor)
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(About ELAN as the contractor or supplier as the contractor) 

Commercial distribution of the CS Set is broadly divided into two forms of transaction according to the different forms of 

agreement with hospitals, nursing care facilities for the elderly and other facilities and with linen and other suppliers. 

i. Form where the ELAN Group directly contracts with hospitals, nursing care facilities for the elderly and other such 

facilities (ELAN as the contractor) 

ii. Form where linen and other suppliers are the parties contracting with hospitals, nursing care facilities for the elderly 

and other such facilities, and the ELAN Group has no direct contractual relationship with the hospitals, nursing care 

facilities for the elderly and other such facilities (supplier as the contractor) 

The above forms of transaction have differences, such as in the way of contact with the hospitals, nursing care facilities 

for the elderly and other such facilities, but there is no difference in the roles of each of the relevant parties in terms of the 

CS Set management. 

 

We believe that this business is notable in that we can provide benefits not only to CS Set users and their families but also to 

hospitals, nursing care facilities for the elderly and other such facilities, as well as linen and other suppliers, and that the Group 

can play a central role in building win-win relationships. 

 

i. Benefits for hospitals, nursing care facilities for the elderly and other such facilities 

When hospitals, nursing care facilities for the elderly and other such facilities charge persons admitted to their hospital or facility 

for services that are not covered by insurance, they are required to take strict measures in accordance with administrative 

guidance from the Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare. The Group provides this service in a format that conforms to the 

aforementioned administrative guidance. By adopting this service, hospitals and facilities can mitigate workloads on their nurses, 

caregivers and others related to on-site laundry, replenishment of daily necessities, etc. In addition, the ELAN Group outsources 

the explanation about this service to persons admitted to the hospital or facility, reception of applications for the service from 

the same, and the storage of goods to hospitals, nursing care facilities for the elderly and other such facilities. The contractor 

then receives an outsourcing fee, thus contributing to the profitability of the hospitals, nursing facilities for the elderly and other 

such facilities adopting the service. 

 

ii. Benefits for linen and other suppliers 

Linen and other suppliers are contracted by hospitals, nursing care facilities for the elderly and other such facilities to deliver 

and launder bedding covered by medical insurance and long-term care insurance (futons, comforters, sheets, pillows, and 

pillowcases). This service provides linen and other suppliers with new opportunities previously unavailable to them to earn 

revenue through the lease of daily-use towels and clothes, laundry services, and sale of daily necessities included in CS Sets. 
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4. [Information on Subsidiaries and Affiliates] 
As of December 31, 2023 

Name Address 
Share capital 

(thousands of yen) 
Main business 

Ownership of 
voting rights 

(%) 
Relationship 

(Consolidated 
subsidiaries) 
ELAN Service 
Corporation 

Matsumoto City, 
Nagano Prefecture 

10,000 
Nursing- and 
medical-care-
related business 

100 
Concurrent 
Directors 

(Consolidated 
subsidiaries) 
Ryukyu ELAN 
Corporation 

Naha City, Okinawa 
Prefecture 

45,000 Same as above 100 
Concurrent 
Directors 

(Consolidated 
subsidiaries) 
ELAN COULEUR 
Corporation 

Matsumoto City, 
Nagano Prefecture 

30,000 Same as above 100 
Concurrent 
Directors  

(Consolidated 
subsidiaries) 
ELAN LOGISTICS 
Corporation 

Midori Ward, 
Sagamihara City, 
Kanagawa 
Prefecture 

30,000 Same as above 100 
Concurrent 
Directors 

(Note) The “Main business” presented is the name of the business segment. 

 

5. [Employees] 
(1) Consolidated Companies 

As of December 31, 2023

Name of business segment Number of employees 

Nursing- and medical-care-related business 378 (319) 

Total 378 (319) 

(Note 1) “Number of employees” represents full-time employees only. An additional figure for the average number of 

temporary employees (including part-time employees and those dispatched from personnel dispatch companies) 

employed during the fiscal year is provided in parentheses. 

(Note 2) The main reason for the increase in the number of full-time employees and temporary employees compared with the 

previous fiscal year is due to the hiring of new graduates and temporary employees as a result of business expansion. 

 

(2) Non-consolidated (Reporting Company Data) 
As of December 31, 2023

Number of employees Average age Average length of service (year) Average annual pay (yen) 

291 (96) 33.4 6.0 5,434,739 

 

Since segment information is not presented, the following table shows employees by department. 

Department name Number of employees 

Sales Department 185 (58) 

Management Department 106 (38) 

Total 291 (96) 

(Note 1) “Number of employees” represents full-time employees only. An additional figure for the average number of temporary 

employees (including part-time employees and those dispatched from personnel dispatch companies) employed during 

the fiscal year is provided in parentheses. 

(Note 2) Segment information is omitted, because the Company has a single segment—the nursing-and medical-care-related 

business. 

(Note 3) “Average annual pay” includes bonuses and non-regular wages. 

(Note 4) The main reason for the increase in the number of full-time employees and temporary employees compared with the 

previous fiscal year is due to the hiring of new graduates and temporary employees as a result of business expansion. 
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(3) Labor Unions 

Labor relations are stable, though a labor union has not been formed. 

 

(4) Ratio of female employees in management positions, ratio of male employees taking childcare leave, and wage differences 

between male and female employees  

[1] Filing company 

Fiscal year under review 

Ratio of female 
employees in 

management positions 
(%) 

(Note) 1. 

Ratio of male 
employees taking 

childcare leave (%) 
(Note) 2. 

Wage differences  
between male and female employees (%) 

(Note)１．  
All employees Of which, regular 

employees 
Of which, part-time and 
fixed-term employees 

7.2 50.0 56.4 71.6 35.6 

 (Notes) 1．Calculated in accordance with the provisions of the “Act on the Promotion of Women’s Active Engagement in 

Professional Life” (Act No. 64 of 2015). 

2．Calculated as the “ratio of childcare leave, etc. taken” in Item 1 of Article 71-4 of the “Ordinance for Enforcement of the 

Act on Childcare Leave, Caregiver Leave, and Other Measures for the Welfare of Workers Caring for Children or Other 

Family Members” (Ordinance of the Ministry of Labour No. 25 of 1991) pursuant to the provisions of the “Act on 

Childcare Leave, Caregiver Leave, and Other Measures for the Welfare of Workers Caring for Children or Other Family 

Members” (Act No. 76 of 1991). 

 

[2] Consolidated subsidiaries 

For consolidated subsidiaries, this information is omitted because it is not subject to disclosure requirements under the “Act 

on the Promotion of Women’s Active Engagement in Professional Life” (Act No. 64 of 2015) and the “Act on Childcare 

Leave, Caregiver Leave, and Other Measures for the Welfare of Workers Caring for Children or Other Family Members” 

(Act No. 76 of 1991). 
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II. [Business Overview] 
1. [Management Policy, Business Environment, Issues to Be Addressed, Etc.] 

Forward-looking statements in this document reflect the judgment of the Group as of the date of this document’s filing. 

(1) Management Policy 

The Group’s management philosophy is that we will pursue the best products and services that satisfy our customers and 

contribute to the realization of an enriching living environment through our passionate actions. With this, the Group focuses its 

business activities on provision of CS Sets, its mainstay product. The Group’s basic policy is to maximize corporate value by 

providing products and services that meet the needs of its customers, thereby further strengthening its competitiveness and 

meeting the expectations of shareholders, employees, and other stakeholders. 

 

(2) Management Strategy, Etc. 

The ELAN Group is engaged in the nursing- and medical care-related business (CS Set) to realize a society in which people live 

fulfilling lives as stated in its management philosophy, and the Group believes it is essential to take appropriate action going 

forward in response to a range of business risks, which can include future changes in government policies, revision of law, and 

the emergence of new market entrants. 

In its medium- to long-term management strategy, the Company will, for the time being, focus on expanding the market share of 

its CS Sets across Japan. It will continue to make improvements to this service, adding to its appeal for CS Set users, hospitals, 

and other stakeholders, and build greater sales so as to make CS Sets available to as many people as possible. Another important 

issue is the development of new value-added products. The Group will also promote entry into new businesses, including via 

business alliances and M&A, harnessing the personal information of CS Set users and strong relationships with hospitals and 

other stakeholders. While expenses for personnel and other areas are increasing in accordance with the Group’s expanding 

business and growing sales, it will also strive to improve productivity, including systemization. 

Furthermore, the Company will proactively consider business development in emerging countries that are experiencing 

remarkable economic growth, such as India and Southeast Asian countries. 

 

(3) Business Environment 

In the fiscal year under review, the Japanese economy showed signs of a gradual recovery as restrictions imposed on activities 

during the COVID-19 pandemic were lifted, and economic and social activity continued to improve and move toward 

normalization. However, the economic outlook remained uncertain in part due to the prolonged crisis in Ukraine and unstable 

conditions in other parts of the world, and the rising prices of goods caused by soaring resource and energy prices amid yen 

depreciation. 

In the medical care and nursing care industry in which the Group operates, with steady progress in aging of the population as 

evidenced by such factors as the population aged 65 years and over of 36.20 million accounting for 29.2% of the total population 

as of January 1, 2024 (January 2024 Monthly Report of Population Estimates by the Statistics Bureau of the Ministry of Internal 

Affairs and Communications), the market size for services that concern the Group is likely to increasingly expand. 

 

(4) Priority Business and Financial Issues to Be Addressed 

The CS Set, the Group’s core business, is “a service that combines rental of clothes and towels with laundry service and provision 

of daily necessities,” and solves customers’ “problems” while bringing “smiles” to their faces. 

With regard to the future business environment surrounding the Group, although the growth in Japan’s elderly population is 

expected to result in continued and more rapid expansion in the overall market for the medical care and nursing care industry, 

the Group does not believe this is a situation that can be viewed with optimism. Future changes in government policies or revision 

of laws may have a significant impact on the Group’s business, or competition may intensify with the emergence of new entrants 

with a similar business format. 

Even in the midst of such changes in the external environment, the Group will focus its efforts on the following points in order 

to promote further growth in its business scale and boost corporate value in the medium to long term in the sixth medium-term 

business plan. 

 

i. Nationwide sales network development and business continuity measures 

The Group opened the Kushiro Sales Office in November 2023. With the opening of Kushiro Sales office, the Group’s 

provision of more tailored, localized and prompt services was facilitated within Hokkaido East Area. 
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As a result of the planned opening of new branches and the splitting of large branches ongoing for a number of years, the 

Group had 28 locations in Japan as of December 31, 2023. These locations are working on sales of the CS Sets to hospitals, 

nursing facilities for the elderly, and other such facilities across Japan. Going forward, the Group will continue to open new 

branches and sales offices to shorten the distance between its sales offices and facilities served, building a structure where it 

can provide more prompt, tailored services. 

In addition, disasters such as typhoons, heavy rainfall, and heavy snowfall are expected to increase as the impact of climate 

change expands on a global scale. In Japan, there is also concern about the risk of large-scale earthquake disasters, which 

are a unique threat to volcanic islands. Furthermore, preparations need to be made to cope with future outbreaks of new 

infectious diseases. The risks of disruption to socioeconomic activity posed by such natural disasters and pandemics are also 

critical business risks for the Group. During periods of normal operation, the Group therefore undertakes initiatives such as 

strengthening its information systems, decentralizing its back-office operations, and building early recovery systems. In 

October 2023, the Group established the subsidiary ELAN LOGISTICS Corporation with the aim of strengthening its 

logistics functions and enhancing its inventory stockpiling.  

The Group will continue to work together to strengthen its organization, and thus ensure stable business continuity in the 

event business risks materialize. 

 

ii. Improvement of profitability by reflecting cost increases in customer pricing and promoting systemization 

The CS Set is a made-to-order service in which various specifications are determined separately for each facility to be served. 

And as the needs for the CS Set diversify, the Group was called on to assign permanent reception staff to facilities and to 

outsource the delivery of daily supplies. The cost-of-sales ratio tends to increase due to higher costs associated with such 

diversification of needs, as well as higher procurement costs resulting from the recent rise in labor costs and prices. Similarly, 

the SG&A ratio has trended upward as growth in CS Set users has resulted in increased back-office operations and personnel 

expenses in recent years. 

Against this backdrop, the Group recognizes that efforts to reflect higher costs into user prices, enhance the added value of 

its services (e.g., provision of the original patient wear “lifte” and daily necessities that are environmentally friendly), and 

increase productivity by promoting systemization will be essential to improve its corporate value over the medium to long 

term. To ensure cost increases are passed on appropriately to service users, the Group will continue to provide detailed 

explanations to service users, contracted facilities, and related personnel, and strive to foster an understanding of the price 

increases. Furthermore, the Group will continue to promote systemization, improve productivity in various operations, and 

explore new business opportunities by harnessing information technology. For example, it will develop a full-fledged 

electronic medical record business that promotes digitalization at medical institutions. 

 

iii. Improvement of customer satisfaction 

The Group’s customers are individuals who are inpatients at hospitals and residents of nursing facilities for the elderly 

and other such facilities. Therefore, the Group recognizes the importance of increasing the level of customer satisfaction 

of these individuals. 

As examples of actions taken to increase customer satisfaction, the Group conducts periodic customer satisfaction surveys 

to investigate customer satisfaction levels, diversifies payment methods, including credit card payment, and offers 

multilingual telephone support at ELAN Service Corporation for inquiries from non-Japanese individuals. The Group is 

also actively working to increase customer satisfaction by extending the operating hours of its contact centers, etc. 

The Group will continue to take actions for enhancing customer satisfaction among CS Set users, who are its customers. 

 

iv. New business development 

The CS Set, the Group’s core business, is a service that solves customers’ “problems” and brings “smiles” to their faces, and 

the Group has continuously strived to enhance its quality. 

To bring even more smiles to the faces of its customers in the future, the Group will seek to further improve the added value 

it provides through efforts such as expanding the adoption of its original patient wear “lifte,” providing home care support 

sets, and developing new services that take advantage of ELAN HOTLINE TV. Furthermore, it will concentrate on creating 

new business domains, including the development of platforms that provide essential services throughout a customer’s 

lifetime. 

 

v. Overseas expansion 

The Group has previously invested in companies such as an Indian laundry service provider, and has continued to explore 

opportunities for overseas expansion. In January 2024, it resolved to convert a Vietnamese company that offers laundering 
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services to major hospitals into a subsidiary, thereby investing in a second country overseas, following India. Vietnam is 

expected to enjoy population growth and economic expansion going forward, but the country will also eventually face an 

aging population as its average life expectancy and average age increase in the future. The number of medical institutions 

and hospital beds in the country are therefore expected to increase alongside further growth in demand for healthcare-

related services. Through overseas investments, the Group aims to strengthen initiatives to develop its global presence, 

and expand the adoption of its flagship CS Set service overseas. 

 

vi. Developing human resources and promoting global talent 

The Group recognizes that there is no corporate growth without the growth of its employees and that employee growth 

through employee education and development is an essential and important issue for the lasting growth of the Group. In 

addition to practical human resources education (on-the-job training, or OJT) in which employees receive direct guidance 

from senior employees, the Group has established a mentor system as an educational program for new graduates, as well as 

various training programs for mid-level and executive employees in order to cultivate superior human resources over a 

shorter period of time. 

Furthermore, the Group believes it is important to train and promote the appointment of employees who can work globally 

in the future. The Group will begin actively recruiting global human resources, systematically train them, promote them to 

be the next generation of leaders responsible for overseas expansion, and focus on creating an organization in which a diverse 

range of human resources can play an active role. 

 

vii. SDGs and ESG compliance 

Under its management philosophy of “pursuing the best products and services that satisfy our customers and contributing to 

the realization of an enriching living environment through our passionate actions,” the Group aims to realize a sustainable 

society by making social contributions through its business activities. It has positioned initiatives to support sustainability 

as important management issues, and established a Sustainability Committee in March 2023 to concurrently resolve social 

issues through its businesses and enhance the growth of the company and its employees. The committee has taken the lead 

in implementing various measures related to the sustainable development goals (SDGs) and environment, society, and 

governance (ESG). 

On the environmental side, the Group contributes to a reduction in environmental burdens by promoting wider adoption of 

its CS Sets, which, among other things, help lower the consumption of household electricity and water. It also explores 

environmentally friendly product offerings by, for example, switching to environmentally friendly daily necessities for its 

CS Sets. Furthermore, the Group endorses the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures 

(TCFD), and strives to actively disclose information regarding issues such as the impact of its operations on climate change. 

In terms of social contributions, the Group promotes further adoption of its CS Sets, which help resolve social issues such 

as a declining birthrate, an aging population, and growth in single-person households. It also undertakes initiatives such as 

increasing hiring and promoting the growth of its employees, contributing to healthcare and welfare through donations and 

other forms of support to public organizations, actively recruiting people with disabilities and ensuring continued retention 

of such human resources, and giving back to the community through sports and cultural promotion. Furthermore, the Group 

established ELAN COULEUR Corporation in January 2023 to promote the hiring of people with disabilities and ensure their 

stable employment. The new company was certified as a special subsidiary under the Act on Employment Promotion etc. of 

Persons with Disabilities in August 2023. After obtaining the certification, the company proceeded to create employment 

opportunities that enable individuals with disabilities to fully exercise their abilities in a wide variety of jobs. 

In terms of governance, the Group will enhance the effectiveness of its Board of Directors and Management Meeting and 

promote sustainability management under which it contributes to solving social issues through business activities and 

achieves sustainable development in collaboration with local communities from environmental, social, and economic 

perspectives. 

 

(5) Objective indicators for determining achievement status of management goals 

The Group places emphasis on the ratio of operating profit to net sales and cash flows from operating activities. The Group will 

strive to increase net sales while thoroughly controlling costs, provide high value-added products and services, establish and 

maintain a system to ensure the collection of trade receivables, and work to improve the ratio of operating income to net sales 

and secure cash flow from operating activities. 
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2. [Views and Initiatives related to Sustainability] 
The ELAN Group’s views and initiatives related to sustainability are described below.  

Furthermore, all matters relating to the future in the sections below are based on the views of the Group as of the filing date 

of this report. 

 

(1)  Governance and risk management related to overall sustainability 

The Vision of the Group is to achieve a state where smiles abound among a greater number of people and, by extension, in 

society as a whole, through its business activities. The Group believes that actions underpinned by the corporate culture 

embodied in the ELAN Credo will serve as the driving force to realize its Vision. To achieve that Vision, the Group has defined 

its Mission as resolving societal challenges in the fields of medical and healthcare. It intends to contribute to society through 

its business activities, guided by its management philosophy of “pursuing the best products and services that satisfy our 

customers and contributing to the realization of an enriching living environment through our passionate actions.” Furthermore, 

with the aim of concurrently realizing its goals (Purpose and Vision) and the goal of society (achievement of sustainability), 

the Group will promote sustainable management that pursues growth and expansion for its business, while considering the 

environment and social sustainability, which form the foundation of its business activities. 
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In light of the above, the Group established the Sustainability Committee in March 2023.  

The Sustainability Committee is chaired by the President and COO, and the members of the committee and its subcommittees 

are executive officers, and senior and young employees tasked with leading the next generation. 

The committee holds regular monthly meetings in which its members formulate basic policies on sustainability management, 

discuss important sustainability matters (material issues), set goals and action plans for each subcommittee and report and manage 

related progress, and deliberate and provide instructions on information disclosure. In addition, the committee reports and makes 

proposals to the Management Meeting and other governance bodies as necessary, thereby contributing to the decision-making 

process that informs business execution. Furthermore, once every quarter, a meeting is held that brings together all subcommittee 

members that make up the committee to promote internal awareness of sustainability initiatives. In this way, the committee works 

in collaboration with various decision-making bodies, such as subcommittees established for important themes and the 

Management Meeting. 

In terms of risk management, the Sustainability Committee manages risks that can have a significant impact on the management 

and business activities of the Group through the activities of its subcommittees and promotion division. Sustainability-related 

risks and opportunities identified by the subcommittees and promotion division are escalated to the Sustainability Committee, 

which assesses and discusses prioritization, and communicates the information to the Management Meeting and Crisis 

Management Committee to support decisions on business execution. The decisions are subsequently relayed to the relevant 

subcommittees and promotion division, which take the lead in implementing specific measures, while the Sustainability 

Committee monitors the progress of these actions. 

The organizational structure of the Sustainability Committee is as follows.  
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To promote sustainability management and achieve the goal of "contributing to the realization of an enriching living 

environment,” the Group has identified important sustainability matters (material issues) that it should prioritize. In selecting 

these material issues, it first determined the issues companies will likely be called upon by society to resolve in the future. It 

subsequently evaluated the importance of the identified issues based on the degree to which the Group can contribute to their 

resolution. It ultimately determined the material issues after discussing them in in the Management Meeting and confirming their 

validity based on insights of external experts. 
 

(2) Important sustainability issues (material issues) 

The important sustainability issues (material issues) for the Group are described below.  

 

[1] Support the promotion of health and well-being of all people  

The hospitalization sets of the Group help support the promotion of health and welfare, so increasing the number of facilities 

adopting such sets directly contributes to society. In addition, with the shift from hospitalization to home care being promoted 

as a national policy, the Group is well positioned to develop services that support individuals receiving nursing care or long-

term care at home, having built the largest customer base for hospitalization sets in Japan.  

 

[2] Provide stable services and reduce environmental burdens 

In order to implement material issue [1], it is essential to have a system capable of maintaining stable services even in a world 

with increasing uncertainties, including severe disasters and pandemics.  

Furthermore, the Group intends to build a cooperative framework with important trading partners such as medical institutions, 

nursing care facilities, and suppliers, and implement measures that contribute to reducing environmental burdens and 

mitigating risks associated with climate change.  

 

[3] Realize a society full of smiles 

As described in our Vision, bringing smiles not only to our own faces but to all the people we engage with is essential to 

ensure the long-term sustainability of our valuable business. 

 

[4] Establish and maintain a sound, sustainable business foundation 

In Japan, there have been cases of corporate misconduct that have led to a company’s existence being called into question 

and its business continuity being threatened. To achieve material issues [1], [2], and [3], the Group needs to eliminate risks 

that can lead to corporate misconduct, and establish sound and sustainable business foundations. The Group believes it needs 

to clearly define the principles that must be observed to achieve this goal. 
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The indicators and goals used to manage progress for initiatives are described on pages 37–38 of the Company’s integrated 

report “ELAN REPORT 2023.” 

 

(3) Initiatives related to management of human resources  

The Group regards human resources as the most important and essential factor in the creation of business value. While 

continually making investments to improve the quality of its services centered on the CS Set business, the Group believes it 

is crucial for its employees to have a high level of work engagement because its services invariably involve addressing 

challenges in the medical and healthcare fields, both in Japan and overseas.  

In terms of sales positions, the Group has expanded its workforce primarily through recruitment of new graduates, and strived 

to advance its business accordingly. It has positioned the sales mindset as more important than sales procedures. It encourages 

its employees to deeply understand the corporate culture, philosophy, and thinking of the Group, pursue individual growth by 

emulating the actions of senior employees, and aim to contribute to the overall growth of the business. The Group believes 

this approach gives it a competitive advantage over other companies, and intends to further accelerate this theme. However, 

one challenge it faces is the recruitment of mid-career professionals with expertise in areas such as legal work and system 

development, which become necessary as a company grows. 

The Group has many passionate young employees, and accordingly brings together diverse values. It believes that the key to 

improving work engagement among such employees lies in approaches to remove obstacles to growth and employment. 

 

i. Governance related to management of human resources 

Under its management philosophy of “pursuing the best products and services that satisfy our customers and contributing to 

the realization of an enriching living environment through our passionate actions,” the Group aims to realize sustainable 

growth and continuously enhance its corporate value. It has promoted the growth of individual employees and its overall 

organization mainly through the Human Resources Management Subcommittee, which operates under the Sustainability 

Committee.  

At the same time, as part of its initiatives to enhance corporate value, the Group has identified important themes in human 

resources management and promoted related measures, such as maximizing the value of human resources, enhancing 

diversity, promoting workstyle reforms and women’s advancement in the workplace, promoting health management, 

compliance and ethics, and integration into the business strategy.  

 

ii. Initiatives to enhance corporate value 

a. Maximizing the value of human resources 

 1) Human resources education programs and personnel system 

To maximize the value of its human resources, the Group has not only implemented a practical on-the-job training 

(OJT) program where junior employees receive direct guidance from senior employees, but also established a 

mentorship system as an education program for new graduates as well as various training programs for mid-level and 

executive employees to develop high-caliber human resources in a shorter period of time. With the aim of achieving 

sustainable growth for individual employees and its organization as a whole, the Group comprehensively reformed its 

personnel system in 2017, and introduced a new personnel system the following year, in 2018. It conducts fair 

evaluations of employees’ abilities and achievement of goals based on their actions and performance, and provides 

feedback mainly on areas for improvement based on evaluation results, thereby fostering employee growth. By clearly 

defining expected behavior and numerical targets for its employees, the Group promotes skill development and 

enhanced productivity. 

 

2) Internal award system ELAN Awards 

Every year, the Group holds the ELAN Awards event to commend employees that have performed well during the 

year. It confers various awards such as the Best Challenge Award that recognizes the employee who most embodies 

the spirit of taking on challenges without fear of failure, an attitude the Group places great value on, as well as the Best 

Credo Award given to the employee who exemplifies the Group’s Credo according to recommendations and a vote by 

all employees. The Group also confers other awards such as the Best Team Award, the New Employee Award, the 

Best Management Award, the President’s Award, and the MVP Award. Celebrating the efforts of employees in this 

manner further improves motivation. 

 

b. Enhancing diversity 

 1) Promotion of employment of non-Japanese nationals 
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The Group’s awareness in terms of recruiting non-Japanese nationals has not been sufficient to date, in part because it 

has been focused solely on domestic operations. In tandem with market growth, including globalization, the Group 

has now positioned the active recruitment of individuals with diverse mindsets and capabilities and the creation of a 

corporate culture that embraces such human resources as an issue to address, and it has recently started hiring not only 

new graduates but also mid-career professionals. The Group strives to create an environment in which employees with 

different cultural backgrounds and diverse values can respect each other and foster mutual growth. 

 

(Status at domestic consolidated companies) 

Year of employment Fiscal 2021 Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2023 
Fiscal 2024 

(target) 

Fiscal 2025 

(target) 

Number of non-

Japanese employees  
3 4 5 7 9 

 

2) Employment of para-athletes  

In 2022, the Group hired athletes who aim to participate in the Paralympics. It employs them as company-affiliated 

athletes under contracts that take into account their athletic activities, and provides support to enable them to focus on 

their competitions with peace of mind. Furthermore, the Group shares the achievements of the athletes through its 

internal portal site and all its employees collectively encourage the athletes. The Group believes that the presence 

within its organization of employees who strive to achieve their dreams and perform at the top level of their respective 

sports, provides inspiration and energy to other employees.  

 

3) Establishment of special subsidiary 

The Group has positioned the employment of people with disabilities as a key initiative, regarding it as one of its 

social responsibilities. The legally mandated employment rate for people with disabilities is expected to gradually 

increase from 2.5% in the this spring to 2.7% in the future. However, as a corporate group that operates in the 

healthcare industry, the Group aims to go beyond the legal requirement, and create more opportunities for individuals 

with disabilities to participate in society in a better environment. To achieve this goal, its subsidiary ELAN COULEUR 

Corporation obtained the certification of special subsidiary on August 18, 2023, and it employed 12 persons with 

disabilities as of December 31, including seconded employees, who are working in hospitals as CS Set representatives, 

engaged in the management of merchandise at distribution warehouses, and involved in administrative work in 

customer support operations. Going forward, in addition to being subcontracted by hospitals to handle certain hospital 

operations, the Group will strive to create employment opportunities with a view to supporting employment of people 

with disabilities at hospitals. 

 

c. Promotion of work style reforms and participation and advancement of women in the workplace 

1) Work style reforms 

In 2017, the Group launched the ELAN Kagayaki Project to ensure all its employees, regardless of gender, can work 

with vitality, and it has taken steps to improve its working environment and design new systems in collaboration with 

the Human Resources Department. 

 

[Overtime hours]  

The Group continuously monitors employees who work more than 360 hours of overtime per year as excessive overtime 

workers. In parallel with a review of tasks undertaken by each division, it has introduced and established flexible 

working systems, such as flextime and telework. As a result, the percentage of employees working more than 360 hours 

of overtime per year has declined from 10.1% in 2021 to 7% in 2022.  

 

[Paid leave utilization rate] 

The Group introduced its Anniversary Leave System in 2021 as an initiative to promote the systematic utilization of 

annual paid leave, but its paid leave utilization rate for 2022 remained at 78.1%, a level exceeding the national average 

of 56.6% (according to Summary of the 2021 General Survey on Working Conditions by the Ministry of Health, Labour 

and Welfare). The Group is also implementing other multifaceted initiatives to promote a work-life balance for 

employees, including the introduction of a Cumulative Leave System in 2023, under which employees can accumulate 

unused annual paid leave days that would otherwise have expired. 
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(Status at filing company)  

 Fiscal 2021 Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2023 
Fiscal 2024 

(target) 

Fiscal 2025 

(target) 

Paid leave utilization 

rate 
74.9% 78.1% 71.6% 80.0% 85.0% 

 

[Childcare leave acquisition rate] 

The Group is working through various projects to create an environment that makes it easier for male employees to take 

childcare leave. These projects include sending out messages from management encouraging male participation in 

childcare, sharing instructional materials that outline the key points of revisions to the Childcare and Caregiver Leave 

Act when the legislation is updated, and providing a portal for male employees’ childcare reports. 

 

(State at filing company) 

 Fiscal 2021 Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2023 
Fiscal 2024 

(target) 

Fiscal 2025 

(target) 

Childcare leave 

acquisition rate 
68.8% 60.0% 75.0% 80.0% 85.0% 

Childcare leave 

acquisition rate for 

male employees 

44.4% 41.2% 50.0% 55.0% 60.0% 

 

2) Participation and advancement of women in the workplace 

 The Company has implemented an action plan based on the Act on Promotion of Women’s Active Engagement in 

Professional Life.  

 

 [Action plan]  

Goal: Create an employment environment that flexibly accommodates the different life stages of employees and allows them 

to grow together with the company and work with vitality.  

 Fiscal 2023 (target) Fiscal 2023 (result) Fiscal 2024 (target) 

1 
Achieve an average of 28 hours of 

overtime work per month or less 
18 hours 49 minutes 20 hours 

2 
Achieve a paid leave utilization rate 

of 50% or higher 
78.3% 80.0% 

3 

Hold six exchange events or other 

gatherings per year as a measure to 

prevent employee departures 

attributable to life events 

Six events Six events 

4 

Maintain the ratio of female 

employees in management positions 

at 10% or higher 

10.2% (excluding directors)  12.5% (excluding directors) 

 *  Including assigned employees 

 

 [Implemented measures]  

Career development support 
・Area system that allows employees, regardless of gender, to choose their 

career path based on work location. 

Elimination of gender disparities 

・Activities to raise awareness of the benefits of taking paternal leave 

among male employees (messages from top management, “father” 

meetings, and reports on child-rearing practices to raise healthy children) 

Continued work style reforms ・Flexible work systems such as flextime and telework 

Prevention of employee departures 

・Provision of childcare salons 

・Shortened working hours system to support childcare *1 

・Shortened working hours system to provide living support *2 
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 *1  Shortened working hours system to support childcare 

To allow employees to return to work and play an active role after childbirth or during childcare and child rearing, the 

Group provides a shortened working hours system to facilitate childcare until the applicable children start elementary 

school. It has improved its childcare support allowance payments to compensate for salary reductions. These efforts 

have contributed to a staff turnover rate (excluding retirees) of 11.9%, which is below the national average of 13.9% 

(according to Summary of the Results of the 2021 Labor Survey by the Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare by the 

Ministry of Health, Labor and Welfare).  

 

 *2  Shortened working hours system to provide living support 

A system that extends the application of the shortened working hours system to facilitate childcare until the applicable 

children start junior high school.  

 

[Percentage of female employees in management positions and gender pay gap] 

The period from joining the Group as a new graduate to becoming a manager does not differ based on gender, and the 

number of female employees being promoted to management positions has increased. However, there is an urgent need 

to develop systems that ensure life events—a term generally used to refer to marriage, childbirth, and childcare—do not 

become an obstacle. In terms of the gender pay gap, there is no structural difference between male and female employees 

in the wage system. However, indexed against the wage level for male general employees (set at 100), the wage level 

for female general employees is below the 75.2 level announced by the Cabinet Office in 2021, so the Group recognizes 

this will need to be considered in conjunction with other initiatives.  

 

(State at consolidated companies) 

 Fiscal 2023 Fiscal 2024 (target) Fiscal 2025 (target) 

Percentage of female 

employees in management 

positions 

9.9% 20.0% 25.0% 

 

(State at consolidated companies) 

Gender pay gap 

(Ratio of female employee wages to male 

employee wages) 

Fiscal 2023 Supplementary information 

All employees 37.3% 

The ratio of part-time and fixed-term employee wages 

to regular employee wages is 26.7%, and since 96.7% 

of part-time and fixed-term employees are female, the 

ratio of female employee wages to male employee 

wages is 37.3%.   

 

  Regular employees 71.3% 

The wage gap for regular employees is attributable to 

the ratio of male to female managers and supervisors, 

and there is no wage gap for employees with the same 

wage grade and position.  

 

  Part-time and fixed-term employees 90.0% 

The wage gap for part-time and fixed-term employees 

is attributable to differences in total working hours 

stemming from different types of work. 

 

d. Promotion of health management 

The Group believes that in order for a company to be healthy, it is important for each employee to be physically and 

mentally healthy. It therefore actively promotes health management for its employees. As part of employee health 

management, the Group conducts regular stress checkups, and strives to understand the health conditions of its employees.  

 

[Periodic health examination participation rate]  
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(Status at filing company) 

 Fiscal 2021 Fiscal 2022 
Fiscal 2023 

(target) 

Fiscal 2024 

(target) 

Fiscal 2025 

(target) 

Periodic health 

examination 

participation rate 

91.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

 * The data collection period was from April 1 of each fiscal year to March 31 of the following fiscal year.  

 

e. Compliance and ethics 

The Company defines compliance as comprehensive adherence to laws, social norms, and corporate ethics, and it 

continuously educates its employees in this regard. 

Before 2022, the Company prioritized the establishment of a fundamental awareness of compliance across its entire 

organization, conducting monthly training with easy-to-understand content. However, after becoming aware of problems 

such as some employees not attending the training (total of 12 non-attendees in 2022) and educational content lacking 

practical utility, the Company revamped its compliance training system in April 2023. 

Specific changes that were introduced are as follows.  

 ・Developed rank-based educational content in accordance with position 

The Group modified its e-learning content based on compliance violations that are more likely to occur in each position. 

 ・Significantly improved content and changed the training frequency from monthly to three-monthly sessions 

In the past, training participants only had to read an article and answer a multiple-choice test comprising five questions 

with two possible answers each. At present, they are required to complete a rank-based e-learning session (approx. one 

hour), and pass a completion test comprising 10 questions with four possible answers each. 

 ・Put in place appropriate reminders for participation while taking into account work schedules  

 

The Company regards compliance as comprehensive adherence to laws, social norms, and corporate ethics and 

continuously educates its employees in this regard, and it has not experienced significant compliance violations to date. 

 

f. Integration into management strategy  

The Group recognizes it needs to develop talent now more than ever before in order to expand its overseas business and 

strengthen its domestic operations. It is therefore promoting the development of essential management skills such as 

English proficiency and MBA knowledge, alongside active recruitment of professionals with advanced skills. It has 

developed mechanisms through which employees recognize the skills they need and gain the motivation to actively acquire 

them, and has started integrating these into its evaluation system. Through new personnel and training systems, it aims to 

maximize the talents of its individual employees. Furthermore, the Group provides skill-based allowances to encourage 

the acquisition of qualifications that serve as eligibility criteria for internal promotion exams. In this way, it has produced 

a system in which skill improvement is directly recognized. In terms of cultivating next-generation leaders who can help 

shape the future, the Group encourages employees to enroll in management schools and MBA courses taught by external 

lecturers, and it increases opportunities to bring awareness to strategic thinking and changes in behavior.  

 

[Content and frequency of human resources development training] 
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1．Training content  

  Please refer to diagram below. 

  ・Internal training 

   Annual training for new employees: When joining, six months after joining, 1.5 years after joining, 2.5 years after 

joining 

   Training for mid-career professionals: When joining, after joining 

   Training of mentors: Before appointment, six months after appointment 

   Training of manager evaluators: After appointment 

 

  ・External training 

   Executive development training A (for managers): As needed 

   Executive development training B (for assistant managers): As needed 

 

2．Training participation rate 

  64.8% 

  * 245 training participants vs. 378 regular group employees 

  * Data collection period: January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023 

 

3．Average training hours per employee 

  25.1 hours/year 

  * Total of 6,156 hours of training participation for 245 participants 

 

4．Human resources development expenses 

  105,615,000 yen (fiscal 2023) 

 

5．Human resources development measures other than training 

  ・e-learning 

  ・Mentor system 

  ・Promotion exams (Nikkei exam, essay, certification tests, e-learning) 

 

2023: Diagram of training organization 
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[Telephone reception training]  

The Group has conducted telephone reception training for its executives since 2022.  

In this training, managers and supervisors, including directors who do not routinely engage in direct interaction with 

customers, listen to the unfiltered voices of customers to remind them that customers are always at the core of the Group’s 

daily operations. The executives share the insights gained from training with their staff, and strive to further enhance the 

services of the Group through improvements and adjustments in daily operations, with the ultimate goal of further 

increasing customer satisfaction. 

 

[Investment in human resources] 

 

(State at consolidated companies)  

 Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2023 

Investment in human resources 86,910 thousand yen 105,615 thousand yen 

 

[Participation of young talent in management] 

The Group actively appoints young managers to executive positions to reflect a wide range of values in its management. 

 

(Status at consolidated companies) 

 Fiscal 2021 Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2023 
Fiscal 2024 

(target) 

Fiscal 2025 

(target) 

Number of executives in 

their 20s to 30s (including 

executive officers at group 

companies at time of 

appointment) 

4 4 6 6 6 

 

[ELAN Credo] 

The Group has defined the ELAN Credo as a set of core principles that underpin all its activities, and distributes a booklet 

that contains the Credo to new employees during their onboarding process. It believes a clear presentation of the values 

and actions cherished by the Group encourages all employees to take initiative, engage in all activities, and thus help 

achieve the Group’s Mission and Vision. 

 

(4)  Initiatives related to climate change  

Climate change is recognized by the international community as an important social issue that requires a rapid resolution, and 

efforts toward decarbonization are being pursued worldwide. Japan has experienced tangible effects of climate change in the 

form of an increase in extremely hot days and frequent damage from heavy rainfall. This has led to discussions on the 

acceleration of ESG investments and a full-scale implementation of carbon taxes. As a result, climate change and its 

countermeasures are expected to have a growing impact on corporate management. 

Given this management environment, the Group naturally complies with environmental regulations and related laws, and 

regards steps to address environmental issues such as climate change as an important matter. It therefore promotes initiatives 

in line with the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD), and strives to actively 

disclose related information. 

 

[1] Governance 

The Group has established a Climate Change (TCFD) Subcommittee under the Sustainability Committee chaired by the 

President and COO. 

In 2023, its inaugural year, the TCFD Subcommittee reported on its progress to the Sustainability Committee once a month, 

and the President and COO relayed such information to the Board of Directors and Management Meeting for deliberation 

and decision-making. 

 

[2] Strategy 

The Group recognizes that maintaining its entire supply chain, from procurement and logistics to service delivery, is an 

important management challenge. It has therefore positioned “providing stable services and reducing environmental burdens” 

as a material issue. In each process of its supply chain, the Group categorizes the impact of climate change into transition 
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risks and physical risks, and assesses the significance of each risk and opportunity, as well as their financial impact. 

Based on the Shared Socioeconomic Pathways (SSP) scenarios of the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental 

Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), for each risk and opportunity determined to be of high importance, the Group has 

considered and examined the impacts in 2030 based on the following two climate-related scenarios, incorporating scientific 

evidence from the International Energy Agency (IEA) and other organizations. 

・ 4ºC Scenario (SSP5-8.5): Maximum emissions scenario without climate measures based on continued fossil fuel 

dependency.   

・Under 2ºC Scenario (SSP1-2.6): Sustainable development efforts leading to a scenario in which temperature increases are 

limited to under 2°C 

The results of the scenario analysis, shown below, indicate that physical risks will not manifest significantly in 2023. 

However, factors such as carbon prices, carbon emission targets and policies of each country, and the adoption of low-carbon 

technologies will affect suppliers such as linen companies and disposable diaper manufacturers, which in turn will impact the 

purchasing costs of the Group to a certain degree. 

While the Group has completed the assessment of the financial impact, it has yet to formulate an action plan. It will disclose 

its action plan as deemed appropriate based on future progress. 

 

Category 
Business impact Financial impact 

Risks Opportunities 4ºC 2ºC 

T
ransition risk 

Carbon 

pricing 

The adoption of carbon pricing will 

increase the cost of purchasing 

products included in CS Sets (such as 

clothing, towels, disposable diapers, and 

daily necessities), as well as the cost of 

fuel used for deliveries. 

Purchasing from suppliers who prioritize 

investments in improved environmental 

performance, and investing in improved 

ELAN environmental performance will 

lower costs. 

- Medium 

Carbon 

emission 

targets and 

policies in 

various 

countries 

Regulations on products and packaging 

made with plastic and other 

materials will be introduced in many 

countries, generating costs 

associated with the handling of items 

such as plastic products and 

disposable diapers (30% of disposable 

diapers are plastic) included in 

CS Sets, leading to higher expenses. 

The use of low-carbon, non-plastic 

products will enable medical facilities, 

nursing care facilities, and other healthcare 

-related facilities to offer ethical products, 

which may contribute to increased 

corporate value and earnings. 

Small Medium 

Government and logging taxes and other 

factors related to forest sink measures 

will increase lumber procurement costs, 

and the cost of procuring disposable 

diapers and other wood-based products 

included in CS Sets will increase. 

Not applicable Small Medium 

Stricter greenhouse gas reduction 

(GHG) requirements will increase costs 

associated with improving the 

environmental performance of partner 

linen supply factories and delivery 

vehicles, delivery subcontractors, and 

ELAN distribution facilities and 

delivery vehicles. 

If suppliers that achieve significant 

reductions in carbon emission are able to 

sell emission credits when emissions 

trading and other mechanisms are 

introduced, purchasing costs may 

decrease. 

 

Small Medium 

Paperless processing in line with the 

impact of decarbonization will lead to 

costs to handle the elimination of paper 

applications, invoices, and other 

Further promoting the digitalization of 

applications and billing will lower costs 

associated with printing paper documents, 

as well as labor expenses related to 

- Small 
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Category 
Business impact Financial impact 

Risks Opportunities 4ºC 2ºC 

documents related to CS Set operations, 

resulting in higher expenses. 

individual billing operations, resulting in 

lower costs. 

Energy prices 

Soaring fossil fuel and electricity prices 

will increase costs for partner linen 

supply factories and delivery vehicles, 

outsourced delivery companies, and 

ELAN logistics facilities and delivery 

vehicles. 

Not applicable Small - 

Spread of 

low-carbon 

technologies 

Costs will increase if low-carbon 

technologies, machinery, and 

environmentally friendly vehicles are 

incorporated into partner linen supply 

factories and delivery vehicles, 

outsourced delivery companies, and 

ELAN logistics facilities and delivery 

vehicles. 

Energy costs will decrease in line with the 

introduction of energy-saving equipment 

and improved logistics efficiency. In 

addition, fuel costs for deliveries will 

decrease due to the improved fuel 

efficiency of environmentally friendly 

vehicles.  

Small Medium 

Changes in 

reputation 

among 

customers 

In the event the Company fails to 

respond appropriately to the growing 

public awareness of climate change, 

reputational risks will increase. 

Adequate responses to the growing public 

awareness of climate change will result in 

a positive reputation and an increase in the 

number of facilities and customers using 

ELAN services. 

- - 

Changes in 

reputation 

among 

investors 

In the event the Company is perceived 

by investors as being reluctant to 

implement environmental measures, it 

will be difficult to raise capital, and 

associated costs will increase. 

In the event the Company transitions to 

low-carbon and environmentally friendly 

businesses, communicates these efforts to 

the full extent, and investors perceive it as 

proactive in environmental measures, ESG 

investments and other capital procurement 

will become easier, lowering 

costs associated with raising capital. 

- - 

P
hysical risks 

Rising sea 

levels, 

increasing 

severity 

of extreme 

climate 

events 

The increasing risk of flooding due to 

high tides, turbulent seas, and heavy 

rains, may result in lost sales 

opportunities due to supply disruptions 

caused by the suspension of operations 

at partner linen supply factories, and the 

suspension of services provided to 

medical institutions, nursing care 

facilities, and other healthcare-related 

facilities due to flooding.  

Not applicable Small Small 

Increase 

in average 

temperatures, 

changes in 

precipitation 

and 

weather 

Forest damage, outbreaks of tree pests 

and diseases, changes in vegetation, 

changes in lumber procurement areas, 

and other factors will increase lumber 

procurement costs, as well as 

procurement costs associated with 

wood-based products, including the 

Not applicable Small Small 
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Category 
Business impact Financial impact 

Risks Opportunities 4ºC 2ºC 

patterns disposable diapers included in CS Sets. 

Increase in  

average 

temperatures 

 

Energy costs required for cooling will 

increase for partner linen supply 

factories and delivery vehicles, delivery 

subcontractors, and ELAN distribution 

facilities and delivery vehicles.   

Not applicable Small Small 

The spread of zoonotic infectious 

diseases will reduce utilization rates at 

suppliers and create procurement risks. 

Increased hospitalizations driven by the 

spread of zoonotic infectious diseases will 

lead to higher utilization rates and sales. 

Small Small 

Changes in 

precipitation 

and 

weather 

patterns, 

increasing 

severity 

of extreme 

climate 

events 

Increased delivery delays, accidents, and 

other adverse conditions due to heavy 

rains, flooding, strong winds, and other 

weather will result in higher costs 

associated with deliveries, human 

resources, compensation, and insurance 

premiums. 

Not applicable Small Small 

Changes in 

precipitation 

and weather 

patterns 

Sales opportunities will be lost due to 

supply disruptions accompanying 

partner linen supply factory shutdowns 

caused by drought conditions. 

Not applicable Small Small 

Increasing 

severity 

of extreme 

climate 

events 

Increase in capital investment costs 

incurred to build resilience against the 

effects of extreme climate events. 

Able to maintain supply chains by 

responding to the impact of extreme 

climate events affecting distribution and 

logistics centers. 

Small Small 

Disruptions in subcontractor individual 

billing data entry and invoicing 

functions. 

Introduction of online payments and other 

advances will lower costs associated with 

issuing and mailing invoices. 

Small Small 

 Impact on operating profit: Small = less than 1.0 billion yen, Medium: 1.0–3.0 billion yen, Large: more than 3.0 billion yen. 

 

[3] Risk management 

The Group recognizes climate-related issues as a risk that has a significant impact on its operations, and manages such risk 

accordingly. 

Research Identification and evaluation Management 

・Aggregate the damage from heavy 

rainfall each fiscal year (mainly 

losses in sales opportunities due to 

disruptions at contracted facilities, 

linen factories, and logistics) 

・Conduct research on other factors 

and social trends, etc. 

・Identify risks and opportunities 

based on the 6th Medium-Term 

Management Vision and measures 

to achieve the long-term vision 

・Assess risk severity at the TCFD 

Subcommittee 

・Report the evaluation of risk severity 

by the TCFD Subcommittee to the 

Sustainability Committee chaired by 

the President and COO, and integrate 

comprehensive risk management 

across the organization 
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[4] Indicators and targets 

(Unit: t-CO2) 

 
Results 

Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2023 

Scope1 609 651 

Scope2 314 346 

Scope3 90,039 105,645 

In accordance with the Greenhouse Gas Protocol, the Company defines its greenhouse gas emissions as the sum of the direct 

emissions of greenhouse gases produced by the Company (Scope 1) and the indirect emissions resulting from energy 

consumption such as electricity supplied by other companies (Scope 2). The Group aims to achieve net-zero emissions for Scope 

1 and Scope 2 by 2050.  

The Company is undertaking activities to reduce greenhouse gas emissions across its organization, including introducing 

environmentally friendly infrastructure facilities and renewable energy. 

In addition, it will strive to reduce Scope 3 emissions, which account for approximately 99% of its greenhouse gas emissions, by 

continuously working with its suppliers. 

Furthermore, the Company has entered into a share transfer agreement with GREEN LAUNDRY JOINT STOCK COMPANY  

in Vietnam with the aim of converting it into a subsidiary, and it will disclose the greenhouse gas emissions for GREEN 

LAUNDRY as appropriate once it has completed the necessary calculations. 

GREEN LAUNDRY is a major provider of laundry services to large hospitals in the Ho Chi Minh City area, which has the 

largest population in Vietnam.  
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3. [Business and Other Risks] 
Of the matters presented in the business overview and financial information of this annual securities report, the following are major 

risks the Company’s management recognizes as having the potential to materially affect the consolidated financial position, 

operating results, and/or cash flows. 

Matters discussed here that are not historical fact reflect the judgment of the Group as of the date of this document’s filing. 

Please note that the following does not constitute an exhaustive list of all risks that may influence investment decisions. 

 

(1) Competition with other companies 

The Group recognizes that, in its nursing- and medical care-related business, the market is becoming more active. This is 

because the Group’s services have gained greater recognition with its public stock listing and business expansion, driving 

higher needs for hospital and care facility residence sets. Furthermore, this is because other businesses with the main business 

of hospital and care facility residence sets, like the Group, and other businesses related to hospitals and care facilities are 

offering services similar to the Group’s. 

The Group will continue to strive to improve quality for users of CS Set services and to maintain and improve good 

relationships with linen suppliers and other suppliers, as well as daily necessities vendors, etc. However, in the event of 

intensified competition with other companies, such as new entrants with superior capital capabilities, name recognition, and/or 

customer bases compared with the Group, the Group may lose existing customers or experience a decline in profitability, 

which may affect its financial position and operating results. 

 

(2) Product safety 

The Group rents pajamas, towels, and other goods, and sells diapers and personal items to CS Set users. The Group pays ample 

attention to linen suppliers’ safety by checking whether or not they have obtained a healthcare-related service mark (Note) and 

by verifying hygiene in the laundering process. However, if for some reason a serious problem were to occur with the 

aforementioned goods and items provided, claims for damages against the Group or loss of trust could occur, which may affect 

its financial position and operating results. 

(Note) Refers to those certified as high-quality healthcare services by the Japan Health Enterprise Foundation. 

 

(3) Transactions with specific business partners 

For laundry items such as towels and clothing, as well as other supplies provided as consumables in CS Set services, the 

Company receives laundry services and provision of merchandise from linen suppliers and other suppliers. The Group’s CS 

Set services are founded in partnerships with existing linen suppliers and other suppliers that already provide leasing of bedding 

and other items, as well as laundry services, to hospitals, nursing facilities for the elderly and other such facilities. Therefore, 

transactions with linen suppliers and other suppliers with a high market share tend to occupy a large proportion of all 

transactions. While the Group has mutually cooperative relationships with these linen suppliers and other suppliers and strives 

to maintain good relations, changes in these suppliers’ business policies or in their relationship with the Group may affect the 

Group’s financial position and operating results. 

In addition, the Group outsources part of its logistics operations, such as transportation, delivery work, and inventory 

management of consumables (daily necessities) provided in the CS Set service, to specific contractors using the Group's 

operational expertise. However, changes in the business policies of the outsourced contractor or in its relationship with the 

Group may affect the Group’s financial position and operating results. 

 

(4) Risks associated with service introductions to new client facilities not proceeding as planned 

Since it began offering its CS Set services in May 2003, the Group has been providing these services to hospitals, nursing 

facilities for the elderly and other such facilities. In developing sales areas, the Group has established new sales offices, 

centering its sales pitch and introduction work to new facilities on these locations. 

The Group will continue its efforts to acquire new contracted facilities through its own sales activities as well as through 

cooperation with partner linen suppliers and other suppliers. However, in the event of personnel, logistics, or other problems 

or changes in relationships with the Group’s business partners, or if the Group is forced to refrain from sales activities to 

hospitals, nursing facilities for the elderly and other such facilities due to events such as a prolonged outbreak of infectious 

diseases, the introduction of the aforementioned services to new facilities may not proceed as planned, which may affect the 

Group’s financial position and operating results. 
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(5) Risks related to bad debts of trade receivables 

The users of Group-provided CS Sets are individuals who are inpatients at hospitals and residents of nursing facilities for the 

elderly and other such facilities. As a general rule, CS Set usage fees are paid after use of the service. However, not all of these 

fees are necessarily collectible, and a portion may become overdue and bad debts may occur. Applications for the CS Set 

service are made via contact points at hospitals, nursing facilities for the elderly and other such facilities. However, as it is 

impractical to assess the creditworthiness of individual users at the time of application or to refuse applications from 

individuals with limited financial resources, these practices are not in place. In addition, the user’s financial condition may 

deteriorate or the user may die during use of the service or after discharge/departure from the facility in question. 

The Group strives to build a debt collection system that can withstand future increases in the number of claims and to improve 

its collection ability, and has set aside an allowance for doubtful accounts to cover losses from bad debts. However, changes 

in economic conditions among users, delays in the establishment of the Group's debt collection system, and other events could 

result in a large amount of bad debts, which may affect the Group’s financial position and operating results. 

 

(6) Laws and regulations 

The Group provides CS Sets to hospital inpatients and residents of nursing facilities for the elderly and other such facilities as 

a unique service that is not covered by medical insurance or long-term care insurance systems. There are no permits, licenses, 

registrations, administrative guidance, or other regulatory requirements to conduct this business. However, hospitals, nursing 

facilities for the elderly and other such facilities, which is where the Group’s services are provided, are operated under the 

provisions of the Medical Care Act, Health Insurance Act, Long-Term Care Insurance Act, and other laws, as well as the 

guidance and regulations of administrative and competent authorities such as the Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare. 

Therefore, the Group pays special attention to various laws and regulations. 

However, if the Group is forced to take any action due to revision of laws and regulations such as the Medical Care Act, Health 

Insurance Act, or Long-Term Care Insurance Act, or a review of administrative guidance enforcement, or if the Group is unable 

to address these changes, it may affect the Group’s financial position and operating results. 

 

(7) Management of personal information 

The Group obtains personal information of users in its nursing- and medical care-related business and faces duties as a personal 

information handling business operator as stipulated by the Act on the Protection of Personal Information. The Group takes 

the utmost care in handling and managing personal information and has established internal rules and clear, thoroughly 

enforced procedures. In March 2009, the Company was granted PrivacyMark certification issued by the Japan Information 

Processing and Development Center (now JIPDEC). This certification was renewed in March 2023. 

However, it is difficult to completely eliminate all risks associated with the management of personal information, and there is 

undeniable possibility of issues such as leakage of personal information. In the event of such a situation, the Group could face 

claims for damages, loss of credibility, or other problems, which may affect the Group’s financial position and operating 

results. 

 

(8) Future business development 

In order to expand its business base, stabilize earnings, and accelerate growth, the Group plans to aggressively expand into 

related and adjacent businesses where it can leverage the expertise it has accumulated in the nursing- and medical care-related 

business. However, while new business development will be undertaken with great care in consideration, if these businesses 

do not produce the results initially planned due to changes in the business environment or other factors, it may affect the 

Group's financial position and operating results. 

 

(9) Securing and developing human resources 

In order for the Group to further expand its business and sustain growth going forward, securing excellent human resources is 

an important issue. Failure to secure these human resources as planned, or failure to develop human resources as planned 

resulting in attrition of key personnel, could harm competitiveness and restrict business expansion, which may affect the 

Group’s financial position and operating results. 
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(10) Risks related to climate change 

The international community recognizes climate change as an important social issue that requires urgent solutions, and efforts 

are underway around the world toward decarbonization. Japan is also experiencing specific impact from climate change, 

such as an increase in extremely hot days and frequent torrential rains. The impact of climate change and measures against 

the phenomenon on corporate management is expected to increase further, with accelerated ESG investment, discussions of 

full-scale introduction of a carbon tax, and more. 

In light of this business environment, the Group considers compliance with environmental regulations and related laws and 

regulations to be a matter of course, as well as addressing environmental issues such as climate change as an important issue. 

With this, the Group launched initiatives to mitigate risks, such as information disclosure efforts in line with the Task Force 

on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) recommendations and activities to protect the environment and reduce its 

environmental load. However, climate change is becoming more severe year by year, and future unforeseen events primarily 

caused by climate change or events making it extremely difficult to adapt to environmental regulations may affect the 

Group’s financial position and operating results. 

 

(11) Risks from natural disasters 

To prepare for major disasters such as earthquakes and wind and flooding damage, the Group undertakes initiatives such as 

strengthening logistics functions, stockpiling inventory, enhancing information systems, decentralizing back-office 

operations, and building early recovery systems. Among specific efforts to establish early recovery systems, it has formulated 

guidelines for first response in the event of a disaster, action procedures, decision-making and chain of command regulations, 

and put in place means of communication that are essential during actual response situations by introducing a safety 

confirmation system. 

However, in the event of a large-scale disaster such as a major earthquake directly beneath the capital or a Nankai Trough 

earthquake, the provision of CS Set services may be disrupted for an extended period of time and over a wide area due to 

factors such as impact suffered by facilities that have adopted CS Set services or partner linen supply companies, as well as 

disruption of social infrastructure in affected areas. This in turn may have a significant impact on the financial condition and 

operating performance of the Group. 
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4. [Analysis of Financial Position, Operating Results, and Cash Flows by Management] 
(1) Overview of operating results, etc. 

The following is an overview of the financial position, operating results, and cash flows (hereinafter referred to as “operating 

results, etc.”) of the Group (the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries) for the fiscal year under review. 

 

i. Financial position and operating results 

a. Operating results 

In the fiscal year under review, the Japanese economy showed signs of a gradual recovery as restrictions imposed on activities 

during the COVID-19 pandemic were lifted, and economic and social activity continued to improve and move toward 

normalization. However, the economic outlook remained uncertain in part due to the prolonged crisis in Ukraine and unstable 

conditions in other parts of the world, and the rising prices of goods caused by soaring resource and energy prices amid yen 

depreciation. 

In the medical care and nursing care industry in which the Group operates, with steady progress in aging of the population as 

evidenced by such factors as the population aged 65 years and over of 36.20 million accounting for 29.2% of the total 

population as of January 1, 2024 (January 2024 Monthly Report of Population Estimates by the Statistics Bureau of the 

Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications), the market size for services that concern the Group is likely to increasingly 

expand. 

Under such circumstances, the Group engaged in sales to facilities (hospitals, nursing facilities for the elderly and other such 

facilities) from its 28 branches and sales offices (including the head office) across Japan, including the Kushiro Sales office 

(Kushiro City, Hokkaido Prefecture) that commenced operations in fiscal 2023, to increasingly spread and expand the “CS 

(Care Support) Set,” which are the core services in the nursing- and medical care-related business of the Group. 

As a result, the Group had 340 facilities with which agreements were newly entered and 80 facilities with which agreements 

ended in fiscal 2023, increasing the combined total of the number of facilities that have introduced the CS Set by 260 facilities 

from the end of fiscal 2022 to 2,320 facilities at the end of fiscal 2023. 

The above resulted in net sales for fiscal 2023 of 41,425,501 thousand yen (up 14.2% year-on-year), operating profit of 

3,665,409 thousand yen (up 8.1% year-on-year), ordinary profit of 3,681,575 thousand yen (up 7.9% year-on-year) and profit 

attributable to owners of parent of 2,518,738 thousand yen (up 20.9% year-on-year). 

b. Financial position 

(Assets) 

Total assets at the end of fiscal 2023 increased by 2,921,087 thousand yen compared with the end of fiscal 2022 to 18,993,237 

thousand yen. 

Of this, current assets increased by 1,431,100 thousand yen compared with the end of fiscal 2022 to 15,506,819 thousand yen. 

This was mainly attributable to accounts receivable - trade and contract assets increasing by 701,166 thousand yen, accounts 

receivable -other increasing by 815,814 thousand yen and merchandise increasing by 137,048 thousand yen, and supplies 

increasing by 430,731 thousand yen despite cash and deposits decreasing by 547,460 thousand yen. 

Meanwhile, non-current assets increased by 1,489,986 thousand yen compared with the end of fiscal 2022 to 3,486,418 

thousand yen. This was mainly attributable to investments securities increasing by 1,434,529 thousand yen. 

(Liabilities) 

Total liabilities at the end of fiscal 2023 increased by 1,096,433 thousand yen compared with the end of fiscal 2022 to 8,178,874 

thousand yen.  

Of this, current liabilities increased by 1,076,772 thousand yen compared with the end of fiscal 2022 to 8,088,663 thousand 

yen. This was mainly attributable to accounts payable - trade increasing by 859,458 thousand yen and income taxes payable 

increasing by 129,588 thousand yen. 

Non-current liabilities increased by 19,660 thousand yen compared with the end of fiscal 2022 to 90,211 thousand yen. 

(Net assets) 

Total net assets at the end of fiscal 2023 increased by 1,824,654 thousand yen compared with the end of fiscal 2022 to 

10,814,362 thousand yen. Equity ratio was 56.9%, up 1.0% compared with the end of fiscal 2022. 

The increase in total net assets was mainly due to an increase in retained earnings of 1,852,149 thousand yen, itself mainly 

attributable to posting of profit attributable to owners of parent of 2,518,738 thousand yen, despite payment of dividends to 

shareholders of 666,589 thousand yen. 

 

ii. Cash flows 

Cash and cash equivalents (“net cash”) at the end of fiscal 2023 decreased by 547,461 thousand yen compared with the end of 

fiscal 2022 to 5,464,270 thousand yen. 
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The following outlines the status and underlying factors of each classification of cash flows for fiscal 2023. 

(Cash flows from operating activities) 

Cash flows from operating activities for fiscal 2023 amounted to net cash of 1,780,782 thousand yen (inflow increase of 

199,339 thousand yen year-on-year). While there was decrease in net cash due to payment of income taxes of 1,098,465 

thousand yen, there was increase in net cash from operating activities throughout the year of 2,879,179 thousand yen. 

(Cash flows from investing activities) 

Cash flows from investing activities for fiscal 2023 amounted to net cash of 1,661,156 thousand yen (outflow increase of 

1,036,643 thousand yen year-on-year). This was mainly attributable to purchase of investment securities of 1,474,870 thousand 

yen, purchase of property, plant and equipment of 143,240 thousand yen. 

(Cash flows from financing activities) 

Cash flows from financing activities for fiscal 2023 amounted to net cash of 667,086 thousand yen (outflow increase of 114,128 

thousand yen year-on-year). This was mainly attributable to payment of dividends to shareholders of 665,755 thousand yen. 

 

iii. Production, orders, and sales results 

Segment information is omitted, because the Group has a single business segment—the nursing- and medical care-related 

business. 

 

(1) Production results 

Not applicable, as the Group is not engaged in production activities. 

 

(2) Order results 

Information is omitted due to the short period of time between the receipt of orders and the start of service provision. 

 

(3) Sales results 

Sales results for fiscal 2023 are as follows. 

Name of business segment 

Fiscal 2023 
(From Jan. 1, 2023 to Dec. 31, 2023) 

Sales (thousands of yen) Year-on-year change (%) 

Nursing- and medical care-related 
business 

41,425,501 114.2 

Total 41,425,501 114.2 
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(2) Analysis and discussion on operating results, etc. from the management’s perspective 

The following is a summary of the Group’s awareness, analysis, and discussion on its operating results, etc. from the 

management's perspective. 

Forward-looking statements in this document reflect the judgment of the Group as of the date of fiscal 2023. 

 

i. Awareness, analysis, and discussion on financial position and operating results 

The financial position and operating results of the Group for fiscal 2023 are as follows. 

a. Financial position 

(Assets and liabilities) 

The following table shows year-on-year changes in cash and deposits, accounts receivable - trade, accounts receivable - other, 

allowance for doubtful accounts, and accounts payable - trade, which account for the majority of the Company's assets and 

liabilities. 

(Thousands of yen) 

Business term 26th 27th 28th 29th 30th 

Year end December 2019 December 2020 December 2021 December 2022 December 2023 

Accounts receivable 
– trade 

2,779,071 3,279,413 3,891,204 4,246,702 4,947,868 

Accounts receivable 
– other 

1,697,463 1,765,497 1,957,416 2,858,068 3,673,883 

Allowance for 
doubtful accounts 

(431,490) (441,059) (486,903) (478,803) (593,924) 

Subtotal 4,045,043 4,603,851 5,361,717 6,625,957 8,027,827 

Accounts payable  
– trade 

3,340,056 4,157,946 4,868,493 5,567,979 6,427,437 

Net 704,987 445,904 493,223 1,057,978 1,600,390 

Cash and deposits 3,472,071 4,497,677 5,632,051 6,036,023 5,488,563 

Total 4,177,058 4,943,582 6,125,275 7,094,002 7,088,953 

The steady increase in the number of facilities introducing CS Set, the Company's mainstay service, as well as the increase in 

the number of users, has led to an upward trend in period-end balances of accounts receivable - trade, accounts receivable - other, 

and accounts payable - other. 

In the fiscal year under review, the Company acquired investment securities. Although cash and deposits declined, the Company 

continued to improve billing and collection operations, resulting in an uptrend in operating cash flow. The Group therefore 

believes its ability to obtain cash flows is improving year by year. 

(Net assets) 

Total net assets at the end of fiscal 2023 increased by 1,824,654 thousand yen compared with the end of fiscal 2022 to 10,814,362 

thousand yen. Equity ratio was 56.9 %, up 1.0 % compared with the end of fiscal 2022. 

Return on equity was 25.4%, up 0.1% compared with fiscal 2022. 

 

b. Operating results 

(Net sales) 

Net sales in fiscal 2023 increased by 14.2% compared with fiscal 2022 to 41,425,501 thousand yen. This was attributable to a 

steady increase in the number of facilities (hospitals, nursing facilities for the elderly and other such facilities) introducing the 

CS Set service from 2,060 facilities to 2,320 facilities as a result of sales activities to spread and expand the use of the Group 

mainstay CS Set service. These sales activities were conducted across Japan from the Group’s 28 branches (including the head 

office) nationwide, including the Kushiro Sales Office (Kushiro City, Hokkaido Prefecture) that commenced operations in fiscal 

2023. 

 

(Cost of sales, gross profit) 

Cost of sales in fiscal 2023 increased by 16.3% compared with fiscal 2022 to 31,674,226 thousand yen. This was mainly 

attributable to increases in purchased goods as a result of expanding net sales. 

Gross profit margin for the fiscal year under review decreased by 1.4% compared with fiscal 2022 to 23.5% due to higher 

purchase prices.  

As a result, gross profit in fiscal 2023 increased by 8.0% compared with fiscal 2022 to 9,751,274 thousand yen. 
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(Selling, general and administrative expenses, operating profit) 

Selling, general and administrative expenses in fiscal 2023 increased by 8.0 % compared with fiscal 2022 to 6,085,865 thousand 

yen. The SG&A ratio decreased by 0.8 % compared with fiscal 2022 to 14.7%. This was attributable to internal cost-cutting 

efforts, despite factors such as increases in payroll and allowances and legal welfare expenses due to an increase in the number 

of employees, as well as an increase in communications expenses, and outsourcing expenses due to an increase in the number of 

claims, etc. 

As a result, operating profit margin in fiscal 2023 decreased by 0.6% compared with fiscal 2022 to 8.8%, and operating profit 

similarly increased by 8.1% to 3,665,409 thousand yen. 

 

(Non-operating income and expenses, ordinary profit) 

Non-operating income and expenses for fiscal 2023 were non-operating income of 32,635 thousand yen and non-operating 

expenses of 16,469 thousand yen. 

As a result, ordinary profit in fiscal 2023 increased by 7.9% compared with fiscal 2022 to 3,681,575 thousand yen. 

 

(Extraordinary income and loss, profit attributable to owners of parent) 

No extraordinary income or expenses occurred in fiscal 2023. 

Total income taxes in fiscal 2023 were 1,162,837 thousand yen. 

As a result, profit attributable to owners of parent in fiscal 2023 increased by 20.9% compared with fiscal 2022 to 2,518,738 

thousand yen. 

 

c. Management strategy status and outlook 

The fiscal year under review marked the first year of the sixth medium-term management plan period ending in fiscal 2025. 

In the domestic business, the Group continued to promote various initiatives initiated during the previous medium-term 

management plan period, worked to enhance the added value of its CS Set business and strengthened its competitiveness, and 

sought to achieve further growth in business scale. 

In the overseas business, the Group aimed to further strengthen relationships with investee companies, and actively explored 

growth investments. One of the outcomes of these efforts was that the Company resolved at its Board of Directors meeting 

held on January 5, 2024 to enter into a share transfer agreement with GREEN LAUNDRY JOINT STOCK COMPANY, a 

company headquartered in Vietnam, with the aim of acquiring it as a subsidiary. It entered into the share transfer agreement on 

January 22, 2024. 

Going forward, the Group will continue to advance various initiatives to further expand its business, and explore new earnings 

sources as it strives to achieve the targets in its 6th medium-term management plan. 

 
ii. Analysis and discussion on cash flows and information on capital resources and liquidity of funds 

a. Analysis of cash flows 

Cash flows for fiscal 2023 are as presented in “ii. Cash flows” under “(1) Overview of operating results, etc.” 

 

b. Information on capital resources and liquidity of funds 

The Group's main capital needs include investment in human resources, systems, and new businesses. 

Regarding investment in human resources, the Group plans to continue hiring employees in anticipation of greater numbers of 

contracted facilities going forward, and expects an increase in personnel expenses as a result. Regarding investment in systems, 

the Group will work to promote systemization so as to adopt more efficient business operations as the scale of its business 

expands. For investment in new businesses, the Company will also actively explore new businesses as a tool for building new 

earnings pillars. 

For the time being, the Group’s position is for cash on hand from operating cash flows to be the financial resource used for 

each of the above capital needs. 

 

iii. Significant accounting estimates and assumptions used therein 

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in 

Japan. The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are described 

in the “V. Financial Information, 1. Consolidated Financial Statements, Etc., (1) Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

(Significant matters serving as basis for preparation of the consolidated financial statements). Please refer to these as 

necessary. 
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The preparation of the Group's consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates that affect the 

selection and application of accounting policies and the reporting and disclosure of assets, liabilities, income, and expenses. 

These estimates are made in consideration of various factors that are considered reasonable based on past performance and 

information available at the time. However, actual results may differ from these estimates due to inherent uncertainties. 

 

5. [Material Business Agreements, Etc.] 
At a meeting of the Board of Directors held on January 5, 2024, the Company resolved to enter into a share transfer agreement 

with the aim of converting GREEN LAUNDRY JOINT STOCK COMPANY, a company headquartered in Vietnam, into a 

subsidiary. It entered into the share transfer agreement on January 22, 2024.  

For more details, please refer to “V. Financial Information, 1. Consolidated Financial Statements, Etc., (1) Notes to the 

consolidated financial statements (Significant subsequent events).” 

 

6. [Research and Development Activities] 
Not applicable. 
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III. [Equipment and Facilities] 
1. [Capital Expenditures] 

The total amount of capital investment made by the Group during fiscal 2023 was 83,476 thousand yen. 

The main investments included system development costs of 41,776 thousand yen, vehicle purchasing costs of 9,021 thousand 

yen, software implementation costs of 8,013 thousand yen, interior construction and other costs related to the relocation of the 

Morioka branch of 6,776 thousand yen, interior construction and other costs related to the relocation of the Niigata branch of 

6,341 thousand yen, interior construction and other costs related to the opening of the Kushiro sales office of 3,959 thousand yen, 

air conditioning and electrical work for the Matsumoto branch of 1,970 thousand yen, computer costs of 2,816 thousand yen, and 

expenses for television and camera equipment required for the launch of the HOTLINE TV service of 1,200 thousand yen.. 

There were no disposal or sale of significant facilities in the fiscal year under review. 

2. [Principal Facilities] 
The following is a breakdown of the Group's facilities and employee assignments by business location. 

The Group does business from its 28 locations in Japan (including its head office). 

Note that no segment information is provided, because the Group has a single reporting segment—the nursing- and medical care-

related business. 
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(1) Non-consolidated (Reporting Company) 

As of December 31, 2023
 

Business location 
name 

(Location) 

Facility 
type 

Book value (thousands of yen) 
Number of 
employees 
(persons) 

Buildings 
and 
structures 

Vehicles 
Tools, 
furniture 
and fixtures 

Leased 
assets 

Land 
(area, m2) 

Other Total 

Head Office 
(Matsumoto City, 
Nagano) 

Head 
Office 

70,491 9,310 5,023 394 
269,200 

(4,657.68) 
101,053 455,473 52(11) 

Matsumoto Murai 
Office 
(Matsumoto City, 
Nagano) 

Office 8,500 - 2,299 - - - 10,800 -(-) 

Sagamihara 
Branch 
(Chuo Ward, 
Sagamihara City, 
Kanagawa) 

Sales office 2,403 0 1,625 - - - 4,029 9(-) 

Kanazawa Branch 
(Kanazawa City, 
Ishikawa) 

Sales office 297 0 191 - - - 489 12(11) 

Nagoya Branch 
(Naka Ward, 
Nagoya City, 
Aichi) 

Sales office 2,829 0 486 - - - 3,315 21(1) 

Hiroshima Branch 
(Naka Ward, 
Hiroshima City, 
Hiroshima) 

Sales office 737 - 407 - - - 1,144 10(1) 

Osaka Branch 
(Suita City, 
Osaka) 

Sales office 556 - 260 - - - 817 18(2) 

Takamatsu Branch 
(Takamatsu City, 
Kagawa) 

Sales office 3,860 - 269 - - - 4,129 5(1) 

Fukuoka Branch 
(Hakata Ward, 
Fukuoka City, 
Fukuoka) 

Sales office 5,411 - 1,845 - - - 7,256 10(1) 

Sapporo Branch 
(Shiroishi Ward, 
Sapporo City, 
Hokkaido) 

Sales office 322 844 179 - - - 1,346 7(1) 

Saitama Branch 
(Omiya Ward, 
Saitama City, 
Saitama) 

Sales office 406 91 186 - - - 685 11(-) 

Tokyo Office, 
Tokyo Branch 
(Minato Ward, 
Tokyo) 

Office 
Sales office 

8,719 - 5,676 - - - 14,395 20(1) 

Niigata Branch 
(Chuo Ward, 
Niigata City, 
Niigata) 

Sales office 5,465 - 635 - - - 6,101 6(1) 

Okayama Branch 
(Kita Ward, 
Okayama City, 
Okayama) 

Sales office 2,686 - 314 - - - 3,001 8(1) 

Minamikyushu 
Branch 
(Chuo Ward, 
Kumamoto City, 
Kumamoto) 

Sales office 1,101 - 123 - - - 1,224 6(1) 

Shizuoka Branch 
(Aoi Ward, 
Shizuoka City, 
Shizuoka) 

Sales office 2,993 - 975 - - - 3,968 6(1) 
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Business location 
name 

(Location) 

Facility 
type 

Book value (thousands of yen) 
Number of 
employees 
(persons) 

Buildings 
and 
structures 

Vehicles 
Tools, 
furniture 
and fixtures 

Leased 
assets 

Land 
(area, m2) 

Other Total 

Morioka Branch 
(Morioka City, 
Iwate) 

Sales office 6,906 627 7,990 - - - 15,525 7(1) 

Aomori Branch 
(Aomori City, 
Aomori) 

Sales office 2,060 - 355 - - - 2,415 6(1) 

Akita Branch 
(Akita City, 
Akita) 

Sales office 4,602 - 741 - - - 5,343 5(17) 

Sendai Branch 
(Aoba Ward, 
Sendai City, 
Miyagi) 

Sales office 3,231 - 1,136 - - - 4,367 8(13) 

Hakodate Sales 
Office 
(Hakodate City, 
Hokkaido) 

Sales office 3,764 - 269 - - - 4,034 4(2) 

Kanagawa 
Distribution 
Center 
(Midori Ward, 
Sagamihara City, 
Kanagawa) 

Distribution 
center 

3,323 8,837 - - - - 12,161 7(10) 

Okinawa Branch 
(Naha City, 
Okinawa) 

Sales office 3,741 743 433 - - - 4,917 -(-) 

Chiba Branch 
(Chuo Ward, 
Chiba City, 
Chiba) 

Sales office 5,939 - 1,264 - - - 7,203 9(-) 

Matsuyama 
Branch 
(Matsuyama City, 
Ehime) 

Sales office 5,240 - 787 - - - 6,027 5(1) 

Matsumoto 
Branch 
(Matsumoto City, 
Nagano) 

Sales office 
Distribution 
center 

34,170 - 12,309 - - - 46,479 37(16) 

Kushiro Sales 
Office 
(Kushiro City, 
Hokkaido) 

Sales office 2,666 - 1,219 - - - 3,885 2(1) 

 
(Note 1) There are no principal facilities currently inactive. 

(Note 2) “Other” under “Book value” represents intangible assets such as software. 

(Note 3) “Number of employees” represents full-time employees only. An additional figure for the average number of temporary 

employees (including part-time employees and those dispatched from personnel dispatch companies) employed during 

the fiscal year is provided in parentheses. 

(Note 4) In addition to the book values listed above, the Company rents buildings for its sales offices, offices, and distribution 

centers, excluding its head office. The annual rent for these is 224,458 thousand yen. 
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(2) Domestic subsidiaries 
As of December 31, 2023

 

Subsidiary 
name 

Business location 
name 

(Location) 

Facility  
type 

Book value (thousands of yen) 
Number of 
employees 
(persons) 

Buildings 
and 
structures 

Vehicles 
Tools, 

furniture 
and fixtures 

Land 
(area, m2) 

Other Total 

ELAN 
Service 
Corporation 

Head Office 
(Matsumoto City, 
Nagano) 

Head 
Office 

- - - - - - 31(75) 

Sagamihara 
Branch (Chuo 
Ward, Sagamihara 
City, Kanagawa) 

Office - - - - - - 17(42) 

Hiroshima Branch 
(Naka Ward, 
Hiroshima City, 
Hiroshima) 

Office 7,846 - 1,191 - - 9,037 7(12) 

Morioka Branch 
(Morioka City, 
Iwate) 

Office - - - - - - 13(27) 

(Note 1) There are no principal facilities currently inactive. 

(Note 2) “Number of employees” represents full-time employees only. An additional figure for the average number of temporary 

employees (including part-time employees and contract employees) employed during the fiscal year is provided in 

parentheses. 

(Note 3) In addition to the book values listed above, the subsidiary rents buildings for its head office and offices. The annual rent 

for these is 11,905 thousand yen. 
 

As of December 31, 2023
 

Subsidiary 
name 

Business location 
name 

(Location) 

Facility  
type 

Book value (thousands of yen) 
Number of 
employees 
(persons) 

Buildings 
and 
structures 

Vehicles 
Tools, 

furniture 
and fixtures 

Land 
(area, m2) 

Other Total 

Ryukyu 
ELAN 
Corporation 

Head Office 
(Naha City, 
Okinawa) 

Head 
Office 

- - - - - - 9(10) 

(Note) “Number of employees” represents full-time employees only. An additional figure for the average number of temporary 

employees (including part-time employees and contract employees) employed during the fiscal year is provided in 

parentheses. 
 

As of December 31, 2023
 

Subsidiary 
name 

Business location 
name 

(Location) 

Facility  
type 

Book value (thousands of yen) 
Number of 
employees 
(persons) 

Buildings 
and 
structures 

Vehicles 
Tools, 

furniture 
and fixtures 

Land 
(area, m2) 

Other Total 

ELAN 
COULEUR 
Corporation 

Head Office 
(Matsumoto City, 
Nagano) 

Head 
Office 

- - - - - - - 

Nagoya Branch 
(Naka Ward, 
Nagoya City, 
Aichi) 

Office - 1,446 - - - 1,446 10(57) 

(Note 1) There are no principal facilities currently inactive. 

(Note 2) “Number of employees” represents full-time employees only. An additional figure for the average number of temporary 

employees (including part-time employees and contract employees) employed during the fiscal year is provided in 

parentheses. 
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As of December 31, 2023

 

Subsidiary 
name 

Business location 
name 

(Location) 

Facility  
type 

Book value (thousands of yen) 
Number of 
employees 
(persons) 

Buildings 
and 
structures 

Vehicles 
Tools, 

furniture 
and fixtures 

Land 
(area, m2) 

Other Total 

ELAN 
LOGISTIC
S 
Corporation 

Head Office 
(Midori Ward, 
Sagamihara City, 
Kanagawa) 

Head 
Office 

- - - - - - - 

(Note) “Number of employees” represents full-time employees only. An additional figure for the average number of temporary 

employees (including part-time employees and contract employees) employed during the fiscal year is provided in 

parentheses. 
 

3. [Plans for Additions and Disposals of Facilities] 
Additions of major facilities as of the end of fiscal 2023 are listed below. 

(1) Additions of major new facilities 

Business location 
name 

(Location) 
Facility type 

Planned investment 
amount 

Funding 
method 

Month/year 
of 

construction 
start 

Month/year 
of planned 

construction 
end 

Additional 
capacity 

after 
completion 

Total 
amount 

(thousands 
of yen) 

Already 
paid 

amount 
(thousands 

of yen) 

Head Office 
(Matsumoto City, 
Nagano) 

Core systems 
(Procurement 

management/logistics 
management) 

8,094 5,294 
Cash on 

hand 
Aug 2022 Apr 2024 － 

(Note) Additional capacity after completion is unreasonably difficult to estimate and is omitted. 
 
(2) Disposals of major new facilities 

Not applicable. 
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IV. [Information on the Company] 
1. [Information on the Company’s Shares] 

(1) [Total number of shares, etc.] 

i. [Total number of shares] 

Class Total number of shares authorized to be issued 

Common shares 192,000,000 

Total 192,000,000 

 

ii. [Number of shares issued] 

Class 
Number of shares issued  
as of end of fiscal year 
(December 31, 2023) 

Number of shares issued  
as of filing date 

(March 25, 2024) 

Stock exchange on 
which the Company is 
listed or financial 
instruments association 
where the Company is 
licensed 

Description 

Common 
shares 

60,600,000 60,600,000 
Tokyo Stock Exchange 
Prime Market 

Standard Company 
shares with full 
voting rights and no 
restricted rights; 
100 shares 
constitute one unit. 

Total 60,600,000 60,600,000 － － 

 

(2) [Information on share acquisition rights, etc.] 

i. [Details of stock option program] 

Not applicable. 

ii. [Details of rights plan] 

Not applicable. 

iii. [Information on other share acquisition rights, etc.] 

Not applicable. 

(3) [Information on exercise of moving strike convertible bonds with stock acquisition rights, etc.] 

Not applicable. 

(4) [Changes in the total number of issued shares, share capital, etc.] 

Date 

Increase/decrease 
in total number 
of issued shares 

(shares) 

Total number 
of 

outstanding 
shares 

(shares) 

Increase/decrease 
in share capital 
(thousands of 

yen) 

Balance of share 
capital 

(thousands of 
yen) 

Increase/decrease 
in legal capital 

surplus 
(thousands of 

yen) 

Balance of 
legal capital 

surplus 
(thousands of 

yen) 

January 1, 2019 
(Note) 

15,150,000 30,300,000 － 573,496 － 543,496 

January 1, 2021 
(Note) 

30,300,000 60,600,000 － 573,496 － 543,496 

(Note) Due to a two-for-one stock split. 
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(5) [Composition of issued shares by type of shareholders] 
As of December 31, 2023

Category 

Status of shares (one unit of stock: 100 shares) Number 
of shares 
less than 
one unit 
(shares) 

Governments 
and 
municipalities 

Financial 
institutions 

Financial 
instruments 
business 
operators 

Other 
corporations 

Foreign corporations, 
etc. Individuals 

and others 
Total 

Non-
individuals 

Individuals 

Number of 
shareholders 
(persons) 

－ 16 23 51 136 10 7,502 7,738 － 

Shares held 
(units) 

－ 119,345 3,225 90,887 87,958 31 304,297 605,743 25,700 

Ownership as a 
percentage of 
total shares (%) 

－ 19.70 0.53 15.00 14.52 0.01 50.24 100.00 － 

(Note 1) 995 shares of treasury stock are included in the 9 units in “Individuals and others” and 95 shares in “Number of shares 

less than one unit.” 

(Note 2) The 1,378 units of the Company's shares held by Custody Bank of Japan, Ltd. (Trust Account E) as trust assets for the 

“Board Benefit Trust (BBT)” and the “Employee Stock Ownership Plan (J-ESOP)” are included in “Financial 

institutions.” 

(6) [Major shareholders] 
As of December 31, 2023

Name Address 
Shares held 

(shares) 

Ownership as a 
percentage of total 
issued shares 
(excluding treasury 
shares) (%) 

Hideharu Sakurai 
Yamagata-mura, Higashichikuma-gun, 
Nagano 

12,000,000 19.80 

Nobuhiro Nakajima Matsumoto-shi, Nagano 9,240,000 15.25 

Custody Bank of Japan, Ltd.  
(Trust Account) 

1-8-12 Harumi, Chuo-ku, Tokyo 5,578,000 9.20 

The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd. 
(Trust Account) 

2-11-3 Hamamatsu-cho, Minato-ku, Tokyo 4,896,900 8.08 

SAKURA Corporation 
2558-3 Yamagata-mura, Higashichikuma-
gun, Nagano 

3,760,000 6.20 

N-Style Co., Ltd. 1-5-6 Kudanminami, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 3,160,000 5.21 

ES Co., Ltd. 
2605 Yamagata-mura, Higashichikuma-gun, 
Nagano 
PLAISIRB103 

1,960,000 3.23 

NORTHERN TRUST CO.（AVFC） 
RE FIDELITY FUNDS 
(Standing proxy: The Hongkong and 
Shanghai Banking Corporation 
Limited, Tokyo Branch) 

50 BANK STREET CANARY WHARF 
LONDON E14 5NT,UK 
(3-11-1 Nihonbashi, Chuo-ku, Tokyo) 

1,672,900 2.76 

NORTHERN TRUST CO.（AVFC） 
RE THE HIGHCLERE 
INTERNATIONAL INVESTORS 
SMALLER COMPANIES FUND 
(Standing proxy: The Hongkong and 
Shanghai Banking Corporation 
Limited, Tokyo Branch) 

50 BANK STREET CANARY WHARF 
LONDON E14 5NT,UK 
(3-11-1 Nihonbashi, Chuo-ku, Tokyo) 

857,500 1.42 

RE FUND 107-CLIENT AC 
(Standing proxy: Citibank, N.A.,Tokyo 
Branch) 

MINISTRIES COMPLEX ALMURQAB 
AREA  KUWAIT KW 13001 
(6-27-30, Shinjuku, Shinjuku-ku, Tokyo) 

774,400 1.28 

Total － 43,899,700 72.44 

(Note) Of the above number of shares held by Custody Bank of Japan, Ltd. (Trust Account) and The Master Trust Bank of Japan, 

Ltd. (Trust Account), the amount of shares pertaining to trust services are 5,578,000 shares and 4,896,900 shares, respectively. 
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(7) [Information on voting rights] 

i. [Issued shares] 

 As of December 31, 2023

Category Number of shares (shares) Number of voting rights Description 

Shares without voting rights  － － － 

Shares with restricted voting rights 
(treasury shares, etc.) 

 － － － 

Shares with restricted voting rights 
(others) 

 － － － 

Shares with full voting rights  
(treasury shares, etc.) 

Common shares 900 － － 

Shares with full voting rights  
(others) 

Common shares 60,573,400 605,734 － 

Shares less than one unit Common shares 25,700 － － 

Total number of issued shares  60,600,000 － － 

Total number of voting rights held by all 
shareholders 

 － 605,734 － 

(Note 1) “Shares with full voting rights (treasury stock, etc.)” are all treasury shares held by the Company. 

(Note 2) The 137,800 shares (1,378 voting rights) of the Company's shares held by Custody Bank of Japan, Ltd. (Trust Account E) as 

trust assets for the “Board Benefit Trust (BBT)” and the “Employee Stock Ownership Plan (J-ESOP)” are included in the 

common shares in “Shares with full voting rights (others).” 

 

ii. [Treasury shares, etc.] 
As of December 31, 2023

Shareholder Shareholder address 

Number of 
shares held under 
own name 
(shares) 

Number of 
shares held under 
another name 
(shares) 

Total number of 
shares held 
(shares) 

Ownership as a 
percentage of 
total issued 
shares (%) 

ELAN Corporation 
15-12 Idegawa-machi, 
Matsumoto-shi, Nagano 
390-0826 Japan 

900 － 900 0.00 

Total － 900 － 900 0.00 

(Note 1) The 137,800 shares of the Company's shares held by Custody Bank of Japan, Ltd. (Trust Account E) as trust assets for the 

“Board Benefit Trust (BBT)” and the “Employee Stock Ownership Plan (J-ESOP)” are not included in the above. 

(Note 2) The Company holds 95 shares of treasury stock less than one unit. 
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(8) [Details of stock ownership plan for officers and employees] 

i. Performance-linked share-based remuneration plan for directors 

At a meeting of the Board of Directors held on February 19, 2021, the Company resolved to introduce a new performance-

linked share-based remuneration plan for the Company’s directors (excluding directors who serve as Audit & Supervisory 

Committee members, and those directors who are outside directors) and executive officers (hereinafter, “Directors, etc.”) 

called “Board Benefit Trust (BBT)” (hereinafter, the “Plan”). The Plan is for the purpose of further clarifying the linkage 

between remuneration for Directors, etc. and the Company’s business performance and stock value as well as having 

Directors, etc. share not only the benefits of rises in stock prices but also the risks of falls in stock prices with shareholders, 

and thereby motivating Directors, etc. to contribute to enhancing business performance and boosting corporate value in the 

medium to long term. The proposal regarding this Plan was resolved at the 27th Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 

held on March 23, 2021. 

(1) Summary of the plan 

The Plan is a performance-linked share-based remuneration plan for the Company shares to be acquired through a trust by 

using monies contributed by the Company as the source of funds, and for the Company’s shares and monies equivalent to 

the amount of the Company’s shares converted into market value (hereinafter, “Company Shares, etc.”) to be awarded 

through the trust to Directors, etc. in accordance with the Rules on Share Awards for Directors and Other Officers provided 

by the Company. The timing that Company Shares, etc. are awarded to Directors, etc. shall be upon their retirement from 

office as Directors, etc. as a rule. 

 

(2) Total number of shares expected to be acquired by officers 

As of the end of fiscal 2023, 100,000 shares of the Company's stock are held by Custody Bank of Japan, Ltd. (Trust 

Account E) as trust assets under the Plan. 

 

(3) Scope of individuals entitled to beneficiary rights, etc. under the subject officer stock ownership plan 

Retired Directors, etc. who satisfy the requirements for beneficiaries as stipulated in the Rules on Share Awards for 

Directors and Other Officers. 

 

ii. Stock benefit trust plan for employees 

At a meeting of the Board of Directors held on February 19, 2021, the Company resolved to introduce an “Employee Stock 

Ownership Plan (J-ESOP)” (hereinafter, the “Plan”), an incentive plan for employees of the Group (hereinafter, the 

“Employees”). The Plan is for the purpose of enhancing the benefit programs for Employees and to improve their sense of 

participation in management. 

(1) Summary of the plan 

Under the Plan, shares of the Company's stock are provided to Employees when they acquire the right to receive these 

shares in accordance with the Company's pre-established Rules on Share Awards. 

The Company grants points to Employees in accordance with their years of service and other individual contribution levels 

and grants shares of the Company's stock equivalent to the points granted to those Employees who satisfy the requirements 

to receive benefits. The shares to be provided to Employees, including those to be provided in the future, will be acquired 

by the trust bank using money placed in trust by the Company in advance, and will be managed separately as trust assets. 

 

(2) Total number of shares expected to be acquired by employees 

As of the end of fiscal 2023, 37,800 shares of the Company's stock are held by Custody Bank of Japan, Ltd. (Trust Account 

E) as trust assets under the Plan. 

 

(3) Scope of individuals entitled to beneficiary rights, etc. under the subject employee stock ownership plan 

Employees who satisfy the requirements for beneficiaries as stipulated in the Rules on Share Awards. 
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2. [Information on Acquisition of Treasury Shares, Etc.] 
[Class of shares] Acquisition of common stock under Article 155, Item 7 of the Companies Act 

(1) [Acquisition by resolution of General Meeting of Shareholders] 

Not applicable. 

(2) [Acquisition by resolution of Board of Directors] 

Not applicable. 

(3) [Acquisition not based on resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders or of the Board of Directors] 

Category Number of shares (shares) Total amount (yen) 

Treasury shares acquired during the fiscal year 
under review 

26 28,562 

Treasury shares acquired during the current period － － 

(Note) Treasury stock acquired during the current period does not include shares less than one unit purchased from March 1, 

2024, to the filing date of this Annual Securities Report. 

(4) [Status of the disposition and holding of acquired treasury shares] 

Category 

Fiscal 2023 Current period 

Number of shares 
(shares) 

Total amount 
disposed 

(yen) 

Number of shares 
(shares) 

Total amount 
disposed 

(yen) 

Acquired treasury shares for which 
subscribers were solicited 

－ － － － 

Acquired treasury shares that were 
canceled 

－ － － － 

Acquired treasury shares transferred due 
to merger, share exchange, share delivery, 
or demerger 

－ － － － 

Other － － － － 

Total number of treasury shares held 995 － 995 － 

(Note 1) Treasury shares held during fiscal 2023 and the current period do not include the 137,800 shares of the Company's 

shares held by Custody Bank of Japan, Ltd. (Trust Account E) as trust assets for the “Board Benefit Trust (BBT)” and 

the “Employee Stock Ownership Plan (J-ESOP).” 

(Note 2) Treasury stock disposed of during the current period does not include shares less than one unit sold from March 1, 

2024, to the filing date of this Annual Securities Report. 

(Note 3) Treasury stock held during the current period does not include shares less than one unit purchased or sold from March 

1, 2024, to the filing date of this Annual Securities Report. 
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3. [Dividend Policy] 
Recognizing appropriate return of profit to shareholders as an important management task, ELAN’s policy is to keep distributing 

profit to shareholders by taking the status of internal reserves, the profit level of each fiscal year, the earnings and fund demand 

outlook for the next fiscal year onward and other factors into consideration in a comprehensive manner. 

The Company's basic policy is to pay dividends from surplus once a year as a year-end dividend. 

Furthermore, internal reserves will be allocated as funds for capital investment to expand the Company’s network of sales offices, 

investment in the creation of systems for billing, purchasing, and logistics operations, and investment in new business development 

in an effort to stabilize business foundations and enhance corporate value. 

The Company's Articles of Incorporation stipulate that “the Company may pay dividends from surplus, etc. by a resolution of the 

Board of Directors pursuant to Article 459, paragraph 1 of the Companies Act.”  

Based on the above policy, the Company decided to pay a year-end dividend of 13 yen per share for fiscal 2023, comprehensively 

taking into account its business performance, financial position, and other factors. 

Dividends from surplus for fiscal 2023 are as follows. 

Date of resolution Total dividend amount (thousands of yen) Total dividends per share (yen) 

March 22, 2024 
787,787 13 

Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 
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4. [Corporate Governance, Etc.] 
(1) [Overview of corporate governance] 

i. Basic stance on corporate governance 

The Company’s management philosophy is, “We will pursue the best products and services that satisfy our customers and 

contribute to the realization of an enriching living environment through our passionate actions.” With this in mind, the 

Company respects the interests of all our stakeholders, including CS Set users, and is aware that establishing corporate 

governance is an important management issue for the long-term, ongoing improvement of its corporate value. 

Based on this awareness, the Company’s directors, executive officers, and employees understand their roles and continuously 

work to improve their awareness of laws and regulations, social norms, and ethics, while also developing and operating an 

appropriate management structure. In addition, the Company will effect revisions as necessary to reflect changes in its growth 

stage and other factors going forward. 

 

ii. Overview and reason for adoption of corporate governance structure 

a. Overview of corporate governance structure 

Many of the important decisions regarding business execution at the Company are made through the Board of Directors and 

the Management Meeting. 

The Company’s Board of Directors makes decisions on the Company’s management policies, management strategies, 

business plans, acquisition and disposal of important assets, and important organizations and personnel. The Board of 

Directors is made up of five directors (including one outside director) who do not serve on the Audit & Supervisory 

Committee and three directors (including two outside directors) who also serve on the Audit & Supervisory Committee. In 

addition to regular monthly meetings, the Board of Directors holds extraordinary meetings whenever important matters 

arise. 

The Board of Directors decides the duties of executive directors and appoints and decides the duties of executive officers. 

If necessary, the Board of Directors notifies management decisions to executive officers at the meetings of the Board of 

Directors and has executive directors and executive officers execute their duties promptly.   

The Management Meeting is an advisory body to the President, consisting of executive directors and executive officers, 

other persons appointed by the President, and the full-time Audit & Supervisory Committee member, and its meetings are 

convened twice a month. The purpose of the Management Meeting is to deliberate on important matters related to business 

execution and matters requiring prior discussion among those that will be discussed at meetings of the Board of Directors. 

The meeting is also a forum for reports on operations related to the duties of each executive director and executive officer. 

The Company’s President makes decisions, following deliberation by the Management Meeting, on important business 

execution matters delegated to the President by a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

The Audit & Supervisory Committee is made up of three directors who also serve as Audit & Supervisory Committee 

members (one full-time Audit & Supervisory Committee member and two outside Audit & Supervisory Committee 

members) and its meetings are convened once a month. The Audit & Supervisory Committee strives to ascertain directors’ 

compliance with laws and regulations and the Company’s Articles of Incorporation and to ensure the effective 

implementation of operating audits and accounting audits. 

In addition to the Board of Directors, the Company has established the Nomination & Compensation Committee as an 

arbitrary advisory body to the Board of Directors, whose members are mostly independent outside directors, with the aim 

of further strengthening the Company’s corporate governance structure by enhancing the independence, objectivity, 

transparency and accountability of the functions of the Board of Directors. The Nomination & Compensation Committee 

deliberates on matters relating to the nomination of candidates for director and executive officer positions, and 

compensation, etc. for directors and executive officers, and reports the outcome of deliberations to the Board of Directors. 

The Nomination & Compensation Committee is made up of members selected by a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

The majority of members are selected from among independent outside directors. 
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The Company’s Board of Directors, the Management Meeting, the Audit & Supervisory Committee, and the Nomination 

& Compensation Committee consist of the following members (◎ denotes the chairperson of the organization). 

Category Title Name 
Board of 
Directors 
(Note 3) 

Management 
Meeting 
(Note 2) 

Audit & 
Supervisory 
Committee 

Nomination & 
Compensation 

Committee 

E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 O

ff
ic

er
 

Representative Director, 
Chairman and CEO 

Hideharu 
Sakurai 

○ － – ○ 

Representative Director, 
President and COO 

Tomohiro 
Minezaki 

◎ ◎ – ○ 

Director, CFO, 
General Manager of 
Administration Department 

Daiki 
Akiyama 

○ ○ – － 

Director, CSO, 
General Manager of 
Corporate Strategy 
Department 

Akira 
Ishizuka ○ ○ – – 

General Manager of 
Subsidiaries and Affiliates 
Support Office 

Takao Sakurai － ○ – – 

General Manager of IR 
Office, General Manager of 
Operational Management 
Department 

Hideo Hara – ○ – – 

General Manager of Global 
Business Development 
Department 

Masamichi 
Handa 

– ○ – – 

General Manager of 
Operations Department 

Ryuji Suzuki – ○ – – 

General Manager of Business 
Development Department 

Yusuke Kano – ○ – – 

General Manager of 
Information Systems 
Department 

Jun Kanno – ○ – – 

CMO, 
General Manager of Sales 
Department  

Ryo Wakizaka – ○ – – 

General Manager of 
Distribution Department 

Takanori 
Shimizu 

– ○ – – 

Assistant General Manager of 
Sales Department 

Yu Iizuka – ○ – – 

Assistant General Manager of 
Corporate Strategy 
Department 

Hirotoshi 
Suzuki 

– ○ – – 

Assistant General Manager of 
Administration Department 

Yoichi 
Kamijo 

– ○ – – 

N
on

-E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 O

ff
ic

er
 Director (Note 1) Naomi Emori ○ – – ○ 

Director, Full-time Audit & 
Supervisory Committee 
member 

Hiroshi 
Eyama 

○ ○ ○ – 

Director, Audit & 
Supervisory Committee 
member (Note 1) 

Nobuyuki 
Takagi 

○ – ○ ◎ 

Director, Audit & 
Supervisory Committee 
member (Note 1) 

Naohide 
Aikawa 

○ – ◎ ○ 

(Note 1) Indicates outside directors. 

(Note 2) In addition to the members listed in the table above, the Management Meeting includes employees (division heads) 

appointed by the President. 

(Note 3) The Articles of Incorporation stipulate, “Meetings of the Board of Directors shall be convened and chaired by one of 

the Representative Directors, unless otherwise stipulated by law.” Therefore, meetings of the Board of Directors 

operate based on resolutions of the Board of Directors that determine the order of chairpersonship.  
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(Activity of the Board of Directors in the fiscal year under review) 

The Board of Directors in principle holds meetings once a month, and the attendance record for each director was as 

follows.  

Title Name Attendance 

Representative Director and Chairman 

Chairman, Executive Officer and 

CEO 

Hideharu Sakurai 

Attended all eighteen (18) 
meetings of the Board of 

Directors  
(100%) 

Representative Director and President 

President, Executive Officer and COO 
Tomohiro Minezaki 

Attended all eighteen (18) 
meetings of the Board of 

Directors  
(100%) 

Director 

Executive Officer and CFO 

General Manager of Administration 

Department  

Daiki Akiyama 

Attended all eighteen (18) 
meetings of the Board of 

Directors  
(100%) 

Director 

Executive Officer and CMO 

General Manager of Sales Department 

(Note 2) 

Takao Sakurai 

Attended all eighteen (18) 
meetings of the Board of 

Directors  
(100%) 

Director 

Executive Officer and CSO 

General Manager of Management 

Strategy Department  

Akira Ishizuka 

Attended all eighteen (18) 
meetings of the Board of 

Directors  
(100%) 

Director (Note 1) Naomi Emori 

Attended seventeen (17) of 
the eighteen (18) meetings of 

the Audit & Supervisory  
(94%) 

Director and Full-time Audit & 

Supervisory Committee Member  
Hiroshi Eyama 

Attended all eighteen (18) 
meetings of the Board of 

Directors  
(100%) 

Director and Audit & Supervisory 

Committee Member (Note 1) 
Nobuyuki Takagi 

Attended all eighteen (18) 
meetings of the Board of 

Directors  
(100%) 

Director and Audit & Supervisory 

Committee Member (Note 1) 
Naohide Aikawa 

Attended all eighteen (18) 
meetings of the Board of 

Directors  
(100%) 

  

(Note 1) Outside Director. 

(Note 2) Scheduled to step down as a director upon the expiration of his term at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 

to be held on March 22, 2024.  

 

The specific topics discussed at the Board of Directors meetings held in the fiscal year under review were as follows. 

・Matters related to financial statements (monthly, quarterly, and yearly) 

・Matters related to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders (scheduling, proposed agenda items) 

・Matters related to disclosure documents (securities reports, corporate governance reports, quarterly reports, etc.) 

・Matters related to the establishment and revision of regulations 

・Matters related to the formulation of budgets and business plans 

・Matters related to significant personnel and organizational changes 

・Matters related to new investment projects 
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The Company’s corporate governance framework is shown in the chart below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

b. Reason for adoption of corporate governance structure 

The Company has adopted a corporate system with Audit & Supervisory Committee. This is intended to further strengthen 

corporate governance by granting voting rights at Board of Directors meetings to directors who are members of the Audit 

& Supervisory Committee and by enhancing the supervisory function of the Board of Directors through the Audit & 

Supervisory Committee, the majority of whose members are outside directors. In addition, this action was taken with the 

aim of further enhancing corporate value by enabling the Board of Directors to broadly delegate business execution decisions 

to directors, thereby speeding up management decision-making related to business execution and allowing the Board of 

Directors to engage in more broad-based and strategic discussions. 

The Management Meeting has been established as an advisory body to the President, who has been delegated decision-

making on important business execution matters by the Board of Directors. This meeting’s purpose is to share information 

and for its members to deliberate on matters related to important business execution matters, and to ensure appropriate and 

prompt decision-making by the President. 

In addition to a Board of Directors, the Company has established the Nomination & Compensation Committee, whose 

members are mostly independent outside directors, as an arbitrary advisory body to the Board of Directors with the aim of 

strengthening the independence, objectivity, and accountability of the functions of the Board of Directors. 

By adopting these systems, the Company believes that it can strengthen corporate governance and enhance corporate value 

by strengthening supervisory functions for business execution and accelerating management decision-making related to 

business execution, as well as by having strategic discussions at the Board of Directors meetings. 
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iii.  Other matters related to corporate governance 

a. Internal control system and status 

As for the Company's internal control system, the Board of Directors has established the Basic Policy Regarding 

Establishment of Internal Control Systems. Based on this policy, the Company ensures that its businesses are carried out 

efficiently in compliance with laws and regulations and the Articles of Incorporation via the Board of Directors and other 

important meetings. Audit & Supervisory Committee members and the Internal Audit Office monitor other execution of 

duties by officers and employees, and perform necessary audit procedures as needed. 

In addition, as a compliance system for directors, executive officers, and employees, the Company has established the 

Compliance Manual to ensure that corporate activities are managed in compliance with laws and regulations while 

contributing to the benefit of society. 
 

b. Status of risk management system 

The Company's Administration Department serves as the lead department as information is shared between departments and 

the Company strives to detect risks early and prevent their occurrence. In addition, the Rules on Group Internal Reporting 

stipulate that when an officer or employee becomes aware of a violation of laws and regulations, an act in violation of 

internal regulations, or misconduct by another officer or employee, he or she should report it to specified contact points 

comprised of persons designated by the President, full-time Audit & Supervisory Committee members, or attorneys-at-law 

who have no conflicts of interest with the Company. With this, the Company has established a system to prevent fraudulent 

behavior and other misconduct, as well as to detect these early, by stipulating a system for proper handling. 

In addition, the Company has established the Rules on Crisis Management, which stipulate how to respond when the 

Company is faced with a business crisis. 

In addition, the directors and executive officers in charge of the Sales Department, Operational Management Department, 

Operations Department, Corporate Strategy Department, Business Development Department, Global Business Development 

Department, Information Systems Department and Administration Department share information on the progress of day-to-

day sales, operations, etc. with the heads, assistants heads and managers of respective departments (by sales area, unit, and 

section) as needed. This information is promptly reported via the directors and executive officers to the Chairman and 

President. Information is shared horizontally across the organization and appropriate actions are taken for risk management, 

including reporting to the Management Meeting and the Board of Directors as necessary. 

 

c. Status of systems for ensuring appropriate operations at subsidiaries 

In order to ensure the appropriateness of operations of the Company's subsidiaries, the Company ensures the management 

function of important operations at subsidiaries in accordance with its Rules on Management of Subsidiaries and Affiliates, 

and appoints members of the Company as officers at subsidiaries who lead the management and guidance of the subsidiaries’ 

operations while respecting their autonomy. In addition, regular meetings of subsidiaries’ boards of directors are held once 

a month, and the status of subsidiaries is reported in a timely manner at the meetings of the Company's Management Meeting 

and Board of Directors to ensure proper operations of the subsidiaries. 

 

iv. Overview of content of limited liability contracts 

Based on Article 427, Paragraph 1 of the Companies Act, the Company has concluded contracts with its directors (excluding 

those who are executive directors, etc.) to limit the compensation for damages by the directors stipulated in Article 423 

Paragraph 1 of said act.  The amount of limit of the liability for damages based on the contracts is the amount provided by 

laws and regulations. These contracts cover only instances where the directors in question (excluding those who are executive 

directors, etc.) have performed their duties in good faith and without gross negligence. 
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v. Overview of the liability insurance contract of directors and officers 

The Company has concluded a directors and officers liability insurance contract provided for in Article 430-3, Paragraph 1 of 

the Companies Act with an insurance company. The insurance policy covers damages, legal fees, etc. the insured may incur 

from performance of their duties in the capacity of their office. The policy covers all of the directors (including directors who 

also serve as Audit & Supervisory Committee members), corporate auditors and executive officers of the Company and its 

subsidiaries. Insurance premiums are fully borne by the Company. However, for the purpose of guaranteeing the 

appropriateness of the directors’ and officers’ execution of duties, it is stipulated that insurance shall not covered the insured’s 

damages incurred from the breach of the duty of loyalty, criminal acts, fraudulent acts or willful violation of laws and 

regulations, etc. 

 

vi. Number of directors 

As stipulated in the Company’s Articles of Incorporation, the number of Directors (excluding directors who also serve as 

Audit & Supervisory Committee members) shall not exceed 8, and the number of directors who also serve as Audit & 

Supervisory Committee members shall not exceed 4. 

 

vii. Requirements for resolution of director appointment 

The Company's Articles of Incorporation stipulate that resolutions for the appointment of directors shall be approved by a 

majority of the voting rights of shareholders present at the meeting with attendance of shareholders holding at least one-third 

of eligible voting rights, and that cumulative voting shall not be used. 

 

viii. Requirements for special resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders 

The Company's Articles of Incorporation stipulate that special resolutions of the General Meeting of Shareholders as provided 

for in Article 309, Paragraph 2 of the Companies Act shall be approved by a majority of two-thirds present at the meeting 

with attendance of shareholders holding at least one-third of eligible voting rights. This is intended to facilitate the smooth 

operation of the General Meeting of Shareholders by relaxing the quorum for special resolutions of the General Meeting of 

Shareholders. 

 

ix. Matters for resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders that may be resolved by the Board of Directors 

a. Dividends of surplus, etc. 

In order to enable the flexible return of profits to shareholders, the Company's Articles of Incorporation stipulate that matters 

provided in each item of Article 459, Paragraph 1 of the Companies Act, such as dividends of surplus, may be determined 

by a resolution of the Board of Directors unless otherwise provided for by law. 

b. Acquisition of treasury shares 

The Company's Articles of Incorporation stipulate that the Company may acquire its own shares by a resolution of the Board 

of Directors pursuant to Article 165, Paragraph 2 of the Companies Act. The purpose of this acquisition is to acquire treasury 

shares through market transactions and other means in order to facilitate the Company’s implementation of a flexible capital 

policy in adaptation to changes in the business environment. 

c. Exemption of directors from liability 

The Company’s Articles of Incorporation stipulate that the Company may exempt the directors (including former directors) 

of liability for acts stipulated in Article 423, Paragraph 1 of the Companies Act to the extent permitted by laws and 

regulations by a resolution of the Board of Directors, pursuant to Article 426, Paragraph 1 of the same act. This is intended 

to create an environment in which directors can fully demonstrate their abilities and fulfill their expected roles in performing 

their duties. 
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(2) [Directors] 

i. List of directors 

Male: 7, Female: 1  

(Percentage of female directors: 12.5%) 

Title Name Date of birth Career summary 
Term of 
office 

Shares held 
(shares) 

Representative Director,  
Chairman and CEO 

Hideharu 
Sakurai 

March 28, 
1970 

Apr. 1988 Joined K.K. Honda Clio Sagamihara (now, K.K. 
Honda Cars Kanagawanishi) 

Jan. 1990 Joined Nippon Columbia DCS Hanbai K.K. 
Feb. 1991 Joined Y.K. Yoshitoyo (now, K.K. People) 
Feb. 1995 Established ELAN Corporation, Representative 

Director, ELAN Corporation 
Nov. 2008 Representative Director, LTASK Corporation 
Oct. 2016 Representative Director & President and General 

Manager of Sales Department, ELAN Corporation 
Feb. 2017 Representative Director & Chairperson, LTASK 

Corporation 
Jan. 2018 Representative Director & President, ELAN 

Corporation 
Mar. 2020 Representative Executive Officer, ELAN 

Corporation 
Apr. 2021 Representative Director & President, Ryukyu 

ELAN Corporation (current position) 
Mar. 2022 Representative Director, Chairman & CEO, ELAN 

Corporation (current position) 

(Note 2) 12,000,000 

Representative Director, 
President and COO 

Tomohiro 
Minezaki 

September 7, 
1972 

Apr. 1997 Joined Nakajima Yuzo Zeirishi Jimusho 
Dec. 1999 Joined Y.K. ISO 
Aug. 2003 Joined ELAN Corporation 
Jan. 2009 Head of Sales Division, ELAN Corporation 
July 2011 Director, Head of Sales Division, ELAN 

Corporation 
Oct. 2012 Director and Head of East Japan Area Sales 

Division, ELAN Corporation 
Mar. 2014 Director (in charge of sales), ELAN Corporation 
Feb. 2016 Director and Head of Sales Division, ELAN 

Corporation 
Oct. 2016 Director and Assistant General Manager of Sales 

Department, ELAN Corporation 
Feb. 2017 Director, LTASK Corporation 
Jan. 2018 Director and General Manager of Operations 

Department, ELAN Corporation 
Sep. 2018 Director, ELAN Service Corporation 
Jan. 2019 Director and Assistant General Manager of Sales 

Department, ELAN Corporation 
Jan. 2020 Director and General Manager of Sales 

Department, ELAN Corporation 
Mar. 2020 Executive Officer, ELAN Corporation 
Jan. 2021 Director in Charge of Sales, ELAN Corporation 
Mar. 2021 Managing Director, General Manager of 

Operational Management Department, and 
Managing Executive Officer, ELAN Corporation 

Mar. 2022 Representative Director, President & COO, 
General Manager of Operational Management 
Department, ELAN Corporation 

Apr  2022        Representative Director and President, Executive 
Officer & COO, ELAN Corporation (current 
position) 

(Note 2) 400,000 

Director, CFO & General 
Manager of Administration 

Department 

Daiki  
Akiyama 

September 17, 
1978 

Nov. 2003 Joined Grant Thornton Yamada & Partners 
Mar. 2012 Joined ELAN Corporation 
Feb. 2017 Director, LTASK Corporation 
Apr. 2017 Head of Corporate Management Division, 

Administration Department, ELAN Corporation 
Jan. 2019 General Manager of Administration Department 

and Head of Corporate Management Division, 
ELAN Corporation 
Auditor, LTASK Corporation 

Mar. 2019 Director, General Manager of Administration 
Department and Head of Corporate Management 
Division, ELAN Corporation 
 

Jan. 2020 Director and General Manager of Administration 
Department, ELAN Corporation 

Mar. 2020 Executive Officer, ELAN Corporation 
Mar. 2020 Director, ELAN Service Corporation 
Mar. 2022 Director, CFO & General Manager of 

Administration Department, ELAN Corporation 
(current position) 

(Note 2) 40,000 
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Title Name Date of birth Career summary 
Term of 
office 

Shares held 
(shares) 

Director, CSO & General 
Manager of Corporate Strategy 

Department 

Akira  
Ishizuka 

August 8, 
1970 

Aug. 2005 Director, Medical Care Service Co., Inc. 
Mar. 2010 Managing Director, Medical Care Service Co., Inc. 
Mar. 2016 Managing Director, Sanko Soflan Co., Ltd. 
Oct. 2016 Executive Officer, REALWORLD, Inc.(now, 

DIGITAL PLUS, Inc.) 
Apr. 2017 Executive Officer and CFO, REALWORLD, Inc. 
Dec. 2017 Director and CFO, REALWORLD, Inc. 
Apr. 2019 Joined ELAN Corporation 
July 2019 General Manager of General Affairs & Human 

Resources Department and Head of Human 
Resources Division, ELAN Corporation 

Jan. 2020 General Manager of Corporate Strategy 
Department and Head of Corporate Planning 
Division, ELAN Corporation 

Mar. 2020 Executive Officer, ELAN Corporation 
Dec. 2021 Outside Director, Classico Inc. (current position) 
Mar. 2022 Director, Executive Officer, CSO, and General 

Manager of Corporate Strategy Department 
(current position) 

Jan  2023         Representative Director, President, ELAN 
COULEUR Corporation (current position) 

(Note 2) 1,873 

Director 
Naomi  
Emori 

February 21, 
1959 

Apr. 1980 Joined Japanese Red Cross Kyoto Daiichi Hospital 
Apr. 1983 Joined Fukui Medical School Hospital 

Seconded to Toyama Medical and Pharmaceutical 
University Hospital 

Apr. 1989 Deputy Nursing Officer, Fukui Medical School 
Hospital 

Apr. 1991 Chief Nursing Officer, Fukui Medical School 
Hospital 

Apr. 2013 Deputy Director of Nursing Department, 
University of Fukui Hospital 

Apr. 2015 Director of Nursing Department and Deputy 
Hospital Director, University of Fukui Hospital 

June 2019 Regional Director, Japanese Nursing Association 
(current position) 
President, Fukui Nursing Association (current 
position) 

Mar. 2020 Outside Director, ELAN Corporation (current 
position) 

(Note 2) - 

Director, Full-time Audit & 
Supervisory Committee member 

Hiroshi  
Eyama 

February 2, 
1970 

Nov. 2007 Joined ELAN Corporation 
Apr. 2012 Joined K.K. Sogo Kaikei 
Nov. 2014 Joined Tax Accountancy Corporation Sogo Kaikei 
Oct. 2016 Joined ELAN Corporation 
Jan. 2018 Head of Internal Audit Office, ELAN Corporation 
Jan. 2019 Assistant Head to Senior Managing Director, 

ELAN Corporation 
Mar. 2019 Auditor, LTASK Corporation 

Auditor, ELAN Service Corporation (current 
position) 

Mar. 2019 Full-Time Auditor, ELAN Corporation 
Mar. 2020 Director (Full-time Audit & Supervisory 

Committee member), ELAN Corporation (current 
position) 

Apr. 2021 Auditor, Ryukyu ELAN Corporation (current 
position) 

Jan   2023        Auditor, ELAN COULEUR Corporation (current 
position) 

Oct. 2023        Auditor, ELAN LOGISTICS Corporation (current 
position) 

(Note 3) 2,000 

Director, Audit & Supervisory 
Committee member 

Nobuyuki 
Takagi 

February 25, 
1953 

Apr. 1977 Joined Nomura Securities Co., Ltd. 
June 1997 General Manager of Corporate Research 

Department, Financial Research Center, Nomura 
Securities Co., Ltd. 

Dec. 1998 General Manager of Underwriting Credit 
Evaluation Department, Nomura Securities Co., 
Ltd. 

July 2004 General Manager of Corporate Research 
Department, Financial & Economic Research 
Center, Nomura Securities Co., Ltd. 

July 2007 Director of Financial & Economic Research 
Center and General Manager of Investment 
Research Department, Nomura Securities Co., Ltd. 

Feb. 2009 Research Managing Director, Global Research 
Division, Nomura Securities Co., Ltd. 

Mar. 2009 Visiting Professor, Center for Risk Research, 
Faculty of Economics, Shiga University 

Apr. 2009 Part-Time Lecturer, Graduate School of 
Engineering Management, Shibaura Institute of 
Technology 

Mar. 2013 Outside Auditor, ELAN Corporation 
June 2013 Outside Auditor, Meito Transportation Co., Ltd 

(Note 3) - 
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Title Name Date of birth Career summary 
Term of 
office 

Shares held 
(shares) 

Oct. 2015 Outside Auditor, Chilled & Frozen Logistics 
Holdings Co., Ltd. 

Feb. 2016 Outside Director, Lacto Japan Co., Ltd. 
May 2017 Part-Time Adviser, LOTTE CO., LTD. 
Mar. 2019 Outside Director, Nakano Refrigerators Co., Ltd. 

(current position) 
June 2019 Outside Director (Audit & Supervisory Committee 

member), Chilled & Frozen Logistics Holdings 
Co., Ltd. (current position) 

Mar. 2020 Outside Director (Audit & Supervisory Committee 
member), ELAN Corporation (current position) 

Director, Audit & Supervisory 
Committee member 

Naohide 
Aikawa 

September 17, 
1977 

Oct. 2004 Joined Miura Law Office 
Sep. 2007 Opened Aikawa Law Office 

Director, Aikawa Law Office (current position) 
Oct. 2007 Part-Time Lecturer, Faculty of Education, Shinshu 

University 
Apr. 2011 Specially Appointed Associate Professor, School 

of Law, Shinshu University 
Mar. 2014 Outside Auditor, ELAN Corporation 
Mar. 2020 Outside Director (Audit & Supervisory Committee 

member), ELAN Corporation (current position) 

(Note 3) - 

Total 12,443,873 

(Note 1) Director Naomi Emori and directors who also serve as Audit & Supervisory Committee members Nobuyuki Takagi, and 

Naohide Aikawa are outside directors. 

(Note 2) “Term of office” for directors (excluding those who also serve as Audit & Supervisory Committee members) refers to 

their terms during the period from the conclusion of the General Meeting of Shareholders held on March 22, 2024, to the 

conclusion of the General Meeting of Shareholders related to the year ending December 31, 2024. 

(Note 3) Term of office for directors who also serve as Audit & Supervisory Committee members shall be from the conclusion of 

the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders held on March 22, 2024 to the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting 

of Shareholders related to the year ending December 31, 2025. 

(Note 4) The Company has introduced an executive officer system for the following purposes. 

i. To realize speedy management decision-making and flexible business execution by separating the management 

supervisory function from business execution. 

ii. To strengthen the Company's governance structure by reducing the number of directors in charge of business execution 

and increasing the ratio of outside directors on the Board of Directors, thereby enhancing the supervisory function of 

the Board of Directors. 

iii. To expand opportunities for human resource promotion and develop the next generation of management. 

There are eleven executive officers who are not executive directors, consisting of Takao Sakurai, General Manager of 

Subsidiaries and Affiliates Support Office, Hideo Hara, General Manager of IR Office, Masamichi Handa, General 

Manager of the Global Business Development Department, Ryuji Suzuki, General Manager of Operations Department, 

and Yusuke Kano, General Manager of Business Development Department, and Jun Kanno, General Manager of 

Information Systems Department, Ryo Wakizaka, CMO, General Manager of Sales Department, Takanori Shimizu, 

General Manager of Distribution Department, Yu Iizuka, Assistant General Manager of Sales Department, Hirotoshi 

Suzuki, Assistant General Manager of Corporate Strategy Department, Yoichi Kamijo, Assistant General Manager of 

Administration Department . 

(Note 5) The Company has appointed one substitute director who serves as an Audit & Supervisory Committee member in case 

the number of directors who serve as Audit & Supervisory Committee members is insufficient as stipulated by laws and 

regulations. The following is a brief biography of the substitute Audit & Supervisory Committee member. 

Name Date of birth Career summary 
Shares held 

(shares) 

Akira Miyata June 23, 1972 

Oct. 2006 Joined Arimura Sogo Law Office 
Oct. 2007 Representative, Miyata Akira Law 

Office (current position) 
Apr. 2014 Associate Professor, Shinshu 

University School of Law 

－ 

 

ii. Outside directors 

The Company has three (3) outside directors. There are no personal, capital, business or other relationships of interest between 

any of the outside directors and the Company, and since it has been deemed that there is no risk of conflicts of interest with 

general shareholders, the Company has notified Tokyo Stock Exchange, Inc. of their status as independent officers. 
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Naomi Emori, an outside director, has no direct experience in corporate management. However, she has long been engaged 

in nursing operations at a large acute care hospital and has been active in a wide range of fields, including nursing practice, 

nursing management, nursing education, research activities, and academic and social activities, and has broad insight and 

experience in nursing and healthcare. She provides advice and guidance from the perspective of nursing and healthcare, 

utilizing this background and experience. 

Nobuyuki Takagi, an outside director who also serves as an Audit & Supervisory Committee member, has broad knowledge 

of capital markets. He provides appropriate guidance and auditing, utilizing his background and experience, and is 

appropriately performing his duties supervising the Company's business execution from an outside perspective. 

Naohide Aikawa, an outside director who also serves as an Audit & Supervisory Committee member, has a wealth of 

experience and expertise as an attorney-at-law. He provides appropriate guidance and auditing utilizing his background and 

experience, and is appropriately performing his duties supervising the Company's business execution from an outside 

perspective. 

In principle, outside directors attend regular monthly meetings of the Board of Directors, participate in decision-making, and 

provide advice and recommendations to ensure the appropriateness and legality of the process. Outside directors who also 

serve as Audit & Supervisory Committee members attend monthly meetings of the Audit & Supervisory Committee as well 

as meetings of the Board of Directors to audit and supervise the Company's management situation and business decisions. 

Although the Company has no clearly defined criteria or policy regarding independence for appointing outside directors, the 

Company appoints individuals who are considered suitable for the management of the Company, taking into consideration 

their experience, knowledge, and abilities. 

 

iii. Cooperation between supervision or audits by outside directors and audits by Internal Audit, Audit & Supervisory 

Committee and Financial Auditor, and relationship between outside directors and internal control units 

Outside directors attend meetings of the Board of Directors, while outside directors who also serve as Audit & Supervisory 

Committee members attend meetings of the Audit & Supervisory Committee in addition to meetings of the Board of Directors. 

At the meetings, these officers receive reports from the internal control units on the status of the maintenance and operation 

of the Company's internal control system, reports on the internal audit plan and its implementation status, and reports on the 

results of internal control assessments related to financial statements and financial reports. 

Through these deliberations, the outside directors appropriately fulfill their supervisory and auditing functions by making 

suggestions based on their respective insights. 

In addition, outside directors regularly exchange opinions with the financial auditor and receive reports on the status of the 

execution of its duties. 
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(3) [Status of Audits] 

i. Status of Audit & Supervisory Committee audits 

The Company transitioned from being a company with an audit and supervisory board to being a company with an audit & 

supervisory committee based on a resolution of the 26th Annual General Meeting of Shareholders held on March 25, 2020. 

The Company's Audit & Supervisory Committee meets once a month to ascertain the status of compliance by the directors 

(excluding those who also serve as Audit & Supervisory Committee members) with laws, regulations, and the Articles of 

Incorporation, striving to ensure that operational audits and financial audits are conducted effectively. 

The Company’s Audit & Supervisory Committee consists of three directors who also serve as Audit & Supervisory Committee 

members, including two outside directors. The Audit & Supervisory Committee appoints one full-time Audit & Supervisory 

Committee member who actively attends meetings of the Board of Directors and the Management Meeting, as well as other 

important meetings to enhance auditing and sufficiently monitor the execution of business by directors. 

Hiroshi Eyama, the full-time Audit & Supervisory Committee member, has experience accumulated by devoting himself to 

building the infrastructure of the Accounting Department before the Company’s listing. In addition, he has gained knowledge 

in the business activities, management system, and other areas of the Company through internal audit work. Furthermore, he 

has considerable knowledge of taxation and accounting as a result of his experience and expertise in handling professional 

tax and accounting-related work at a certified public tax accounting firm. 

The Company holds monthly Audit & Supervisory Committee meetings to gauge the compliance of directors (excluding those 

who also serve on the Audit & Supervisory Committee) with laws and the Company’s Articles of Incorporation, and it strives 

to ensure the effective implementation of operational and financial audits. 

The Audit & Supervisory Committee held twelve (12) meetings during fiscal 2023, and the attendance of individual Audit & 

Supervisory Committee members was as follows. 

Category Name Attendance status 

Director, full-time Audit & 

Supervisory Committee member 
Hiroshi Eyama 

Attended all twelve (12) meetings 

of the Audit & Supervisory 

Committee (100%)  

Outside director, Audit & 

Supervisory Committee member 
Nobuyuki Takagi 

Attended all twelve (12) meetings 

of the Audit & Supervisory 

Committee (100%) 

Outside director, Audit & 

Supervisory Committee member 
Naohide Aikawa 

Attended all twelve (12) meetings 

of the Audit & Supervisory 

Committee (100%) 

Specific matters considered at the Audit & Supervisory Committee include formulating audit plans, preparing audit reports, 

assessing the reappointment of the financial auditor, approving the remuneration and other details for the financial auditor, 

evaluating and reviewing internal control systems, as well as confirming the Group's operating results and financial position, 

and exchanging opinions with the financial auditor. 

In addition, the full-time Audit & Supervisory Committee member mainly attends meetings of the Board of Directors, the 

Management Meeting, and other important meetings, reviews important internal documents, performs on-site audits mainly 

at branches and subsidiaries, and conducts other activities such as gathering information on the status of business execution 

at the Group. 

 

ii. Status of internal audits 

The Company’s internal audits are conducted by the Internal Audit Office, which directly reports to the President and consists 

of two (2) members. The Internal Audit Office conducts internal audits based on an internal audit plan approved by the 

President, with the aim of ensuring the effectiveness and efficiency of each department. The audit results are reported in 

writing to the President, and also directly reported to the Audit & Supervisory Committee and its members. The office also 

instructs audited departments to make improvements and reports the results of these improvements, maintaining and 

improving internal controls. 

The Internal Audit Office, the Audit & Supervisory Committee, and the financial auditor hold regular discussions and 

exchange necessary information to ensure mutual cooperation between each party. 

 

iii.  Status of financial audits 

The Company has entered into an audit contract with Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu LLC to audit financial statements and internal 

controls on financial reporting. In this audit process, internal control units provide necessary information to the financial 
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auditor. 

a. Name of auditing firm 

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu LLC 

 

b. Continuous audit period 

twelve (12) years 

 

c. Certified public accountants performing audit work 

Masahiko Mutsuda, Designated Limited Liability Partner, Engagement Partner 

Kazuhide Kobori, Designated Limited Liability Partner, Engagement Partner 

There are no special interests between the Company and Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu LLC or the Engagement Partners 

engaged in the audit of the Company. 

 

d. Composition of assistants involved in audit work 

There are six(6) certified public accountants and fifteen(15) others serving as assistants involved in financial audit work 

for the Company. 

 

e. Financial auditor selection policy and reason 

Financial auditor is selected with consideration to the status and results of the audit, the audit implementation system and 

capabilities, audit fees, independence, etc. In addition, the Audit & Supervisory Committee determines the content of 

proposals for dismissal or non-reappointment of the financial auditor to be submitted to the General Meeting of Shareholders 

when it is necessary to do so, such as when the financial auditor is impeded from performing its duties, or when the auditing 

firm is found to fall under any of the items of Article 340, Paragraph 1 of the Companies Act. 

The current financial auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu LLC, was selected based on a comprehensive review of factors 

such as past audit performance, audit quality control, independence, and communication with management. 

 

f. Evaluation of the auditing firm by the Audit & Supervisory Committee and its members 

 The Audit & Supervisory Committee monitored and verified whether the financial auditor had maintained an independent 

position and conducted adequate audits, received from the financial auditor reports on the state of performance of its duties, 

and requested explanations as necessary. 

 

iv. Details of audit fees, etc. 

a. Fees to auditing certified public accountants, etc. 

Category 

Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2023 

Fees for audit 
certification  
(thousands of yen) 

Fees for non-audit 
services  
(thousands of yen) 

Fees for audit 
certification  
(thousands of yen) 

Fees for non-audit 
services  
(thousands of yen) 

Filing company 20,000 － 23,000 1,500 

Consolidated 
subsidiaries － － － － 

Total 20,000 － 23,000 1,500 

The Company’s non-audit services in fiscal 2023 comprise advisory services related to the disclosure of sustainability 

information. 

There are no fees paid by consolidated subsidiaries to the auditing certified public accountants, etc. 
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b. Fees paid to member firms in the same network as the auditing certified public accountants, etc.  

(Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited) (excluding fees from a.) 

Category 

Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2023 

Fees for audit certification  
(thousands of yen) 

Fees for non-audit services  
(thousands of yen) 

Fees for audit certification  
(thousands of yen) 

Fees for non-audit services  
(thousands of yen) 

Filing company － 1,830 － 1,856 

Consolidated 
subsidiaries 

－ 1,065 － 2,034 

Total － 2,895 － 3,890 

Non-audit services in fiscal 2022 and fiscal 2023 consisted of tax return review service, etc. for Deloitte Tohmatsu Tax 

Corporation. 

 

c. Details of fees for other significant audit certification services 

Not applicable. 

 

d. Policy for determining audit fees 

Audit fees paid by the Company to auditing certified public accountants, etc. are determined by the Board of Directors with 

the consent of the Audit & Supervisory Committee, based on quotations provided by the auditing certified public 

accountants, etc., and after discussion by relevant Company departments. This determination takes into consideration the 

number of personnel and the number of audit days required for audit certification services. 

 

e. Reasons for the Audit & Supervisory Committee’s consent to fees, etc. for the financial auditor 

The reason for the consent of the Audit & Supervisory Committee of the Company to the fees, etc. for the financial auditor 

proposed by the Board of Directors as stipulated in Article 399, Paragraph 1 of the Companies Act is that the Audit & 

Supervisory Committee conducted the necessary verification as to the appropriateness of the content of the financial 

auditor’s audit plan, the performance of financial audit duties, and the basis for calculating fee estimates, etc. As a result, 

the Audit & Supervisory Committee determined that the proposed fees, etc. are appropriate. 

 

(4) [Directors’ remuneration] 

i. Regarding policies for amount and calculation of the directors’ remuneration  

The maximum total amount of remuneration for directors (excluding those who also serve as Audit & Supervisory Committee 

members) is limited to 460 million yen per year (not including employee salaries of directors who also serve as employees 

and remuneration for outside directors shall be no more than 20 million yen) per resolution at the 26th Annual General Meeting 

of Shareholders held on March 25, 2020. As of the filing date of this document, five (5) directors (excluding directors who 

also serve as Audit & Supervisory Committee members) are eligible for this remuneration. The maximum amount of 

remuneration for directors (Audit & Supervisory Committee members) is limited to 40 million yen per year per resolution at 

the 26th Annual General Meeting of Shareholders held on March 25, 2020. As of the filing date of this document, three (3) 

directors who also serve as Audit & Supervisory Committee members are eligible for this remuneration. 

The share-based remuneration portion of performance-linked remuneration (director bonuses) was resolved at the 27th Annual 

General Meeting of Shareholders held on March 23, 2021. The maximum number of points per fiscal year to be granted to 

directors under the “Board Benefit Trust (BBT)”, a performance-linked share-based remuneration plan for directors (excluding 

outside directors and directors who also serve as Audit & Supervisory Committee members) and executive officers, is 

appropriately determined within the limit of 120,000 points per fiscal year. As of the filing date of this document, four (4) 

directors (excluding outside directors and directors who also serve as Audit & Supervisory Committee members) are eligible 

for this remuneration. 

 

Policy for directors’ remuneration 

The Company's Board of Directors has resolved a policy for individual director remuneration. The Board of Directors has 

confirmed that the calculation method and amount of remuneration of each director for fiscal 2023 are consistent with said 

policy and that the recommendation of the Nomination & Compensation Committee has been respected in the calculation, and 

judged that the remuneration of each director for fiscal 2023 was in line with said policy  

The details of the policy for directors’ remuneration are as follows. 

 



- 60 - 
 

a. Types of directors’ remuneration and philosophy 

Remuneration for executive directors of the Company (directors other than outside directors and those who also serve as 

Audit & Supervisory Committee members) is paid in the form of fixed remuneration (monthly remuneration) set according 

to title and performance-linked remuneration (director bonuses) that adjusts in accordance with business performance. In 

addition, performance-linked remuneration (director bonuses) is paid in the form of monetary remuneration and share-based 

remuneration. On the other hand, outside directors and directors who also serve as Audit & Supervisory Committee 

members, who are responsible for supervisory functions, receive only fixed remuneration (monthly remuneration) in 

consideration of their roles and independence. 

 

b. Policy on the amount of fixed remuneration (monthly remuneration) for individual director (including the policy regarding 

the timing and conditions of the remuneration) 

The Company stipulates a table for each position, serving as the basis for determining fixed remuneration (monthly 

remuneration) for directors. Monetary amounts are determined with reference to survey data from an external third-party 

organization and other sources, as well as by taking into consideration the opinions of the outside director members of the 

Nomination & Compensation Committee, an arbitrary advisory body to the Board of Directors and whose main members 

are independent outside directors. 

 

c. Policy on the amount of performance-linked remuneration (director bonuses) for individual directors (including the policy 

regarding the timing and conditions of the remuneration) 

The total amount of performance-linked remuneration (director bonuses) paid to individual executive directors is determined 

based on the achievement rate of consolidated operating profit and each individual’s role and contributions to the Company. 

Consolidated operating profit was chosen as an indicator because it more accurately reflects contributions to enhancing 

corporate value for the Company, which is in a growth stage, and because it is an objective and transparent indicator which 

the Company has determined will enhance the objectivity and transparency of performance-linked remuneration. 

Performance-linked remuneration (director bonuses) consists of monetary remuneration and share-based remuneration. For 

share-based remuneration, each director is granted a certain number of points in consideration of his or her position, 

contribution, and achievement of business performance in each fiscal year. The amount of share-based remuneration is in 

correspondence to the number of points granted. On the other hand, monetary remuneration is paid as the amount remaining 

after deducting the relevant share-based remuneration amount from the total amount of performance-linked remuneration 

(director bonuses) paid to each individual. The points awarded in relation to share-based remuneration will be determined 

by adjusting with the degree of achievement of the Medium-Term Management Vision. In principle, eligible officers will 

receive share awards after retirement in proportion to the points they have earned. 

 

d. Policy on share of performance-linked remuneration (director bonuses) for individual directors 

The ratio of fixed remuneration (monthly remuneration) to performance-linked remuneration (director bonuses) will be 

determined by the Chairman as delegated by the Board of Directors, based on the report of the Nomination & Compensation 

Committee to ensure that the ratio is appropriate. 

 

e. Policy determination of individual director remuneration. 

Remuneration for executive directors is determined by the Chairman as delegated by the Board of Directors based on the 

report of the Nomination & Compensation Committee, taking into consideration each individual’s role and contributions to 

the Company. In determining remuneration amounts per individual executive director, the Chairman will respect the 

recommendation of the Nomination & Compensation Committee. 

 

f. Activities of the Nomination & Compensation Committee 

The Nomination & Compensation Committee is an advisory body under the Board of Directors. A majority of the 

committee’s members are independent outside directors, and the committee’s role is to deliberate on matters related to the 

nomination, remuneration, etc. of directors and executive officers and report the results of these deliberations to the Board 

of Directors. 
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ii. Total remuneration by director category, remuneration amount by type, and number of eligible officers 

Director category 
Amount of 

remuneration, etc. 
(thousands of yen) 

Total remuneration, etc. amount by type (thousands of yen) 
Number of eligible 

officers 
(persons) 

Basic remuneration 
(fixed remuneration) 

Performance-linked 
remuneration 

(monetary 
remuneration) 

Of left figure, non-
monetary 

remuneration, etc. 

Directors (excluding 
directors who also serve 
as Audit & Supervisory 
Committee members and 
outside directors) 

185,600 135,600 39,302 10,697 5 

Audit & Supervisory 
Committee members 
(excluding outside 
directors) 

14,100 14,100 － － 1 

Outside directors 18,000 18,000 － － 3 

(Note 1) The performance indicator for performance-linked remuneration (director bonuses) is consolidated operating profit, 

which amounted to 3,665,409 thousand yen. The reasons for the selection of this indicator are as described above. 

(Note 2) The breakdown of the total amount of non-monetary remuneration to directors (excluding directors who also serve as 

Audit & Supervisory Committee members and outside directors) is 10,697 thousand yen in performance-linked 

remuneration (share-based remuneration). This amount was recorded as an expense based on the performance-linked 

share-based remuneration plan. 

(Note 3) Remuneration for directors is determined by Hideharu Sakurai, Chairman of the Company as delegated by the meeting 

of the Board of Directors meeting held on March 24, 2023, and after deliberation by the Nomination & Compensation 

Committee, taking into consideration the role of each director and his or her contributions to the Company. The Board of 

Directors delegated this responsibility to the Chairman because it was deemed that the Chairman was the most appropriate 

person to evaluate the duties of each director, as the evaluator must be in control of the state of the Company as a whole 

and of the execution of each director's duties. 

 

iii. Total consolidated remuneration, etc. per director 

Omitted because there are no persons whose total amount of remuneration, etc. exceeds 100 million yen. 

 

iv. Significant employee salaries of officers who also serve as employees 

Not applicable. 

 

(5) [Information on shareholdings] 
 

1) Criteria for shareholding classification and rationale 

The Company classifies and manages its shareholdings into shares held for purely investment purposes and shares held for 

purposes other than pure investment, as follows. 

a. Shares held for purely investment purposes 

The purpose of holding these shares is to benefit from changes in the value of the shares or from dividends on the shares. 

b. Shares held for purposes other than pure investment 

The purpose of holding these shares is to enhance the Group's corporate value by strengthening business and other 

relationships with the companies in which the Group invests. 

 

2) Investment shares held for purposes other than pure investment 

a. Methods for verifying consistency of holdings and holding policies, and details of verifications by the Board of Directors, 

etc. regarding the appropriateness of holding individual issues 

The Company's policy is to engage in strategic shareholdings, etc. when it is deemed contributory to enhancing the Group's 

medium- to long-term corporate value, taking into consideration the overall importance of the shares from a business 

strategy perspective. In addition, the director in charge will conduct an annual review to determine whether the holding 

purpose is appropriate. At that time, the Company’s policy is to dispose of any shares that are determined to have no 

recognizable effect after consulting with the Board of Directors and taking into consideration the impact on business 

aspects. 
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b. Number of issues and carrying values on the balance sheet 

 
Number of 

issues 
(Issues) 

Total carrying value on the 
balance sheet  

(thousands of yen) 

Unlisted stocks 3 878,816 

Stocks other than unlisted 
stocks 

－ － 

 
(Stocks whose number of shares increased in fiscal 2023) 

 

 
Number of 

issues 
(Issues) 

Total acquisition cost related 
to increase in number of 
shares (thousands of yen) 

Reason for increase in the number of shares 

Unlisted stocks 2 752,477 
To create business synergies and promote 
initiatives that pave the way for new 
business creation. 

Stocks other than unlisted 
stocks － － － 

 
(Stocks whose number of shares decreased in fiscal 2023) 

 

 
Number of 

issues 
(Issues) 

Total amount of sale price 
related to decrease in 

number of shares  
(thousands of yen) 

Unlisted stocks － － 

Stocks other than unlisted 
stocks 

－ － 

 
c. Information on number of shares, carrying value on the balance, etc. of specified investment shares and deemed shares by 

issue 

Not applicable. 

 

iii. Investment shares held for purely investment purposes 

Not applicable. 
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V. [Financial Information] 
1. Basis of presentation for consolidated and non-consolidated financial statements 

(1) The Company’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with the Regulation on Terminology, Forms, 

and Preparation Methods of Consolidated Financial Statements (Ministry of Finance Order No. 28 of 1976). 

 

(2) The Company’s financial statements are prepared in conformity with the Regulation on Terminology, Forms, and Preparation 

Methods of Financial Statements (Ministry of Finance Regulation No. 59 of 1963, hereinafter the “Regulations on 

Nonconsolidated Financial Statements”). As a company designated for the submission of non-consolidated financial 

statements prepared in accordance with special provision, the Company prepares its non-consolidated financial statements 

pursuant to Article 127 of the Regulations on Nonconsolidated Financial Statements. 

 

2. Audit certification 

Pursuant to the provisions of Article 193-2, Paragraph 1, of the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act, the Company arranged 

for the auditing firm Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu LLC to audit the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the fiscal 

year under review (January 1, 2023, to December 31, 2023), and non-consolidated financial statements of the Company for the 

fiscal year under review (January 1, 2023, to December 31, 2023). 

 

3. Particular efforts to secure the appropriateness of the consolidated financial statements, etc. 
The Company makes special efforts to ensure the appropriateness of its consolidated financial statements, etc. Specifically, in order 

to accurately ascertain the content of the latest accounting standards and prepare appropriate consolidated financial statements, etc. 

in response to changes in these standards, the Company maintains membership in the Financial Accounting Standards Foundation, 

obtaining information from the foundation, and participates in training programs, seminars, and other programs held by audit firms 

and various organizations with specialized information, striving to ensure appropriateness of its consolidated financial statements. 
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1. [Consolidated Financial Statements, Etc.] 
(1) [Consolidated Financial Statements] 

i. [Consolidated Balance Sheet] 
 (Unit: thousand yen)

 
Fiscal 2022 

(December 31, 2022) 
Fiscal 2023 

(December 31, 2023) 

Assets   
Current assets   

Cash and deposits 6,036,023 5,488,563 
Accounts receivable - trade and contract assets 4,246,702 4,947,868 
Merchandise 1,242,037 1,379,085 
Supplies 89,609 520,341 
Accounts receivable – other 2,858,068 3,673,883 
Other 82,090 91,002 
Allowance for doubtful accounts (478,813) (593,924) 
Total current assets 14,075,718 15,506,819 

Non-current assets   
Property, plant and equipment   

Buildings and structures 315,435 323,442 
Accumulated depreciation (110,528) (123,164) 
Buildings and structures, net 204,907 200,278 

Machinery, equipment and vehicles 61,747 67,933 
Accumulated depreciation (36,916) (46,031) 
Machinery, equipment and vehicles, net 24,831 21,901 

Land 269,200 269,200 
Other 155,505 161,081 

Accumulated depreciation (92,968) (112,487) 
Other, net 62,536 48,594 

Total property, plant and equipment 561,475 539,974 
Intangible assets   

Software 44,436 101,053 
Other 48,035 7,825 

Total intangible assets 92,472 108,878 

Investments and other assets   
Investment securities * 736,797 * 2,171,326 
Deferred tax assets 463,704 520,077 
Other 195,590 186,693 
Allowance for doubtful accounts (53,608) (40,533) 

Total investments and other assets 1,342,483 2,837,565 

Total non-current assets 1,996,431 3,486,418 

Total assets 16,072,150 18,993,237 
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 (Unit: thousand yen)

 
Fiscal 2022 

(December 31, 2022) 
Fiscal 2023 

(December 31, 2023) 

Liabilities   
Current liabilities   

Accounts payable – trade 5,567,979 6,427,437 
Accounts payable - other 559,194 629,153 
Accrued expenses 63,122 70,835 
Income taxes payable 594,575 724,163 
Accrued consumption taxes 135,192 134,424 
Other 91,826 102,648 

Total current liabilities 7,011,890 8,088,663 

Non-current liabilities   
Provision for share awards 20,358 27,587 
Provision for share awards for directors (and other 
officers) 

49,757 62,623 

Other 434 － 

Total non-current liabilities 70,551 90,211 

Total liabilities 7,082,441 8,178,874 

Net assets   
Shareholders’ equity   

Share capital 573,496 573,496 
Capital surplus 543,496 543,496 
Retained earnings 8,111,868 9,964,017 
Treasury shares (194,096) (194,125) 

Total shareholders' equity 9,034,764 10,886,884 

Accumulated other comprehensive income   
Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities (45,055) (72,521) 

Total accumulated other comprehensive income (45,055) (72,521) 

Total net assets 8,989,708 10,814,362 

Total liabilities and net assets 16,072,150 18,993,237 
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ii. [Consolidated Statements of Income and Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income] 

[Consolidated Statements of Income] 
 (Unit: thousand yen)

 
 Fiscal 2022 

(From January 1, 2022  
to December 31, 2022) 

 Fiscal 2023 
(From January 1, 2023  
to December 31, 2023) 

Net sales *1 36,264,883 *1 41,425,501 
Cost of sales 27,237,759 31,674,226 

Gross profit 9,027,124 9,751,274 

Selling, general and administrative expenses *2 5,635,885 *2 6,085,865 

Operating profit 3,391,238 3,665,409 

Non-operating income   
Gain on sales of non-current assets 1,027 199 
Subsidy income 1,000 6,205 
Late charges income 13,539 11,388 
Business advisory fee income 4,200 4,200 
Other 8,059 10,641 

Total non-operating income 27,826 32,635 

Non-operating expenses   
Loss on retirement of non-current assets 2,330 3,581 
Loss on investments in investment partnerships 4,837 4,524 
Loss on valuation of investment securities － 8,362 

Total non-operating expenses 7,168 16,469 

Ordinary profit 3,411,896 3,681,575 

Extraordinary loss   
Loss on valuation of investment securities 376,637 － 

Total extraordinary loss 376,637 － 

Profit before income taxes 3,035,259 3,681,575 

Income taxes – current 1,066,076 1,219,211 
Income taxes – deferred (113,515) (56,373) 

Total income taxes 952,560 1,162,837 

Profit 2,082,698 2,518,738 

Profit attributable to non-controlling interests － － 

Profit attributable to owners of parent 2,082,698 2,518,738 
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[Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income] 
 (Unit: thousand yen)

 
 Fiscal 2022 

(From January 1, 2022  
to December 31, 2022) 

 Fiscal 2023 
(From January 1, 2023  
to December 31, 2023) 

Profit 2,082,698 2,518,738 
Other comprehensive income   

Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities (34,414) (27,466) 

Total other comprehensive income * (34,414) *  (27,466) 

Comprehensive income 2,048,283 2,491,272 

Comprehensive income attributable to   
Comprehensive income attributable to owners of 
parent 

2,048,283 2,491,272 

Comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling 
interests － － 
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iii. [Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity] 

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 

 

 
 (Unit: thousand yen)

 
Accumulated other comprehensive 

income 

Total net assets 
 

Valuation difference 
on available-for-sale 

securities 

Total accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income 

Balance at beginning of 
period 

(10,640) (10,640) 7,483,722 

Changes in items during 
period 

   

Dividends of surplus   (545,391) 

Profit attributable to 
owners of parent 

  2,082,698 

Disposal of treasury 
shares 

  3,093 

Net changes in items 
other than shareholders’ 
equity 

(34,414) (34,414) (34,414) 

Total changes in items 
during period 

(34,414) (34,414) 1,505,985 

Balance at end of period (45,055) (45,055) 8,989,708 

  

      

 Shareholders’ equity 

 Share capital Capital surplus Retained earnings Treasury shares 
Total shareholders' 

equity 

Balance at beginning of 
period 

573,496 543,496 6,574,561 (197,189) 7,494,363 

Changes in items during 
period 

     

Dividends of surplus   (545,391)  (545,391) 

Profit attributable to 
owners of parent 

  2,082,698  2,082,698 

Disposal of treasury 
shares 

   3,093 3,093  

Net changes in items 
other than shareholders’ 
equity 

     

Total changes in items 
during period － － 1,537,307 3,093 1,540,400 

Balance at end of period 573,496 543,496 8,111,868 (194,096) 9,034,764 
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Fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 
      

 Shareholders’ equity 

 Share capital Capital surplus Retained earnings Treasury shares 
Total shareholders' 

equity 

Balance at beginning of 
period 

573,496 543,496 8,111,868 (194,096) 9,034,764 

Changes in items during 
period 

     

Dividends of surplus   (666,589)  (666,589) 

Profit attributable to 
owners of parent 

  2,518,738  2,518,738 

Purchase of treasury 
shares 

   (28) (28) 

Net changes in items 
other than shareholders’ 
equity 

     

Total changes in items 
during period － － 1,852,149 (28) 1,852,120 

Balance at end of period 573,496 543,496 9,964,017 (194,125) 10,886,884 

 
 (Unit: thousand yen)

 
Accumulated other comprehensive 

income 

Total net assets 
 

Valuation difference 
on available-for-sale 

securities 

Total accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income 

Balance at beginning of 
period 

(45,055) (45,055) 8,989,708 

Changes in items during 
period 

   

Dividends of surplus   (666,589) 

Profit attributable to 
owners of parent 

  2,518,738 

Purchase of treasury 
shares 

  (28) 

Net changes in items 
other than shareholders’ 
equity 

(27,466) (27,466) (27,466) 

Total changes in items 
during period 

(27,466) (27,466)  1,824,654 

Balance at end of period (72,521) (72,521) 10,814,362 
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iv. [Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows] 
 (Unit: thousand yen)

 
 Fiscal 2022 

(From January 1, 2022  
to December 31, 2022) 

 Fiscal 2023 
(From January 1, 2023  
to December 31, 2023) 

Cash flows from operating activities   
Profit before income taxes 3,035,259 3,681,575 
Depreciation 133,579 187,645 
Amortization of goodwill 9,771 － 
Increase (decrease) in allowance for doubtful accounts (43,800) 102,036 
Increase (decrease) in provision for share awards 6,500 7,229 
Increase (decrease) in provision for share awards for 
directors (and other officers) 

18,340 12,865 

Interest and dividend income (61) (68) 
Loss (gain) on investments in investment partnerships 4,837 4,524 
Loss on valuation of investment securities 376,637  8,362 
Loss (gain) on sale of non-current assets (1,027) (199) 
Loss on retirement of non-current assets 2,330  3,581 
Decrease (increase) in trade receivables (1,176,493) (1,360,545) 
Decrease (increase) in inventories (251,359) (567,779) 
Decrease (increase) in other current assets (68,229) (151,583) 
Increase (decrease) in trade payable  699,485 859,458 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable – other 10,700 (65,527) 
Increase (decrease) in other current liabilities (91,771) 158,721 
Other (1,339) (1,116) 

Subtotal 2,663,358 2,879,179 

Interest and dividends received 61 68 
Income taxes paid (1,081,977) (1,098,465) 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 1,581,443 1,780,782 

Cash flows from investing activities   
Payments into time deposits (24,291) (24,292) 
Proceeds from withdrawal of time deposits 24,291 24,291 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (318,395) (143,240)  
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1,463 219 
Purchase of investment securities (210,766) (1,474,870) 
Purchase of intangible assets (28,907) (52,278) 
Payments of leasehold deposits (70,236) (12,654) 
Proceeds from refund of leasehold deposits 2,677 21,714 
Other (347) (47) 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (624,513) (1,661,156) 

Cash flows from financing activities   
Decrease(increase) in treasury stock 3,093 (28) 
Dividends paid (554,748) (665,755) 
Repayments of lease obligations (1,302) (1,302) 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (552,958) (667,086) 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 403,971 (547,461) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 5,607,760 6,011,732 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period * 6,011,732 * 5,464,270 
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[Notes] 

(Significant Matters Serving as Basis for Preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements) 

1. Matters concerning scope of consolidation 

Number of consolidated subsidiaries: 4 companies 

Name of consolidated subsidiaries 

ELAN Service Corporation 

Ryukyu ELAN Corporation 

ELAN COULEUR Corporation  

ELAN LOGISTICS Corporation 

ELAN COULEUR Corporation and ELAN LOGISTICS Corporation were included in the scope of consolidation from 

fiscal 2023. 

This was due to the new establishment of ELAN COULEUR Corporation and ELAN LOGISTICS Corporation in 

fiscal 2023.  

 

2. Matters concerning the application of the equity method 

(1) Non-consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates accounted for by the equity method 

Not applicable. 

 

(2) Non-consolidated subsidiaries for which the equity method is not applied (QUICK SMART WASH PRIVATE 

LIMITED), when considering indicators such as net profit or loss (commensurate with equity holdings) and retained 

earnings (commensurate with equity holdings), would have minimal impact on consolidated financial statements if 

excluded from application of the equity method and, further, are not important overall. Therefore, they have been 

excluded from the scope of application of the equity method. 

 

3. Matters concerning fiscal year, etc. of consolidated subsidiaries 

The account closing date of consolidated subsidiaries is the same as the consolidated account closing date. 

 

4. Matters concerning accounting policies 

(1) Valuation standards and valuation methods for significant assets 

i. Securities 

Available-for-sale securities 

Other than stocks and other securities with no market price 

Market value method is adopted (valuation differences are directly charged or credited to net assets, and 

cost of sales is determined by the moving-average method). 

Stocks, etc. with no market price 

Cost accounting method using the moving-average method is adopted. 

 

ii. Inventories 

Merchandise 

Stated at cost determined by the weighted average method (the balance sheet amount is by the method of 

writing down book value based on decline in profitability). 

Supplies 

Mainly, stated at cost determined by the weighted average method (the balance sheet amount is by the method 

of writing down book value based on decline in profitability). 

 

(2) Method of depreciation and amortization of significant depreciable assets 

i. Property, plant and equipment (excluding leased assets) 

The declining-balance method is adopted. However, the straight-line method is adopted for buildings (excluding 

facilities attached to buildings) acquired on or after April 1, 1998, and facilities attached to buildings and 

structures acquired on or after April 1, 2016. 

The estimated useful lives are mainly as follows: 

Buildings 8-38 years 

Structures 10-45 years 

Vehicles 2-6 years 
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Tools, furniture and fixtures 2-15 years 

 

ii. Intangible assets (excluding leased assets) 

The straight-line method is adopted. 

Software for internal use is amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated internal useful life (5 

years). 

 

iii. Leased assets 

Leased assets for lease transaction other than lease transaction of transfer of ownership rights 

The straight-line method with useful life set as the leasing term and the remaining value set at zero. 

 

(3) Standards for recognition of significant allowances and provisions 

i. Allowance for doubtful accounts 

The estimated irrecoverable amount based on historical default rates for general receivables and individual 

assessments of recoverability for doubtful and other specific receivables is posted to provide for losses on default 

of receivables. 

 

ii. Provision for share awards 

To provide for the award of Company shares to employees of the Company and its subsidiaries in accordance 

with the Company's Rules on Share Awards, the Company records an amount based on the estimated share award 

obligation as of the end of fiscal 2023. 

 

iii. Provision for share awards for directors (and other officers) 

To provide for the award of Company shares to directors (excluding directors who also serve as Audit & 

Supervisory Committee members and other directors who are outside directors) and executive officers in 

accordance with the Rules on Share Awards for Directors and Other Officers, the Company records an amount 

based on the estimated share award obligation as of the end of fiscal 2023. 

 

(4) Basis for Recognition of Significant Revenues and Expenses. 

The Group has a single segment, the nursing- and medical care-related business, offering the CS Set. 

As for the CS Set, the main performance obligation is to provide a combination of rental service with laundry service 

for clothes, towels, etc. and provision of daily necessities to those who are hospitalized or admitted to long-term 

care health facilities for the elderly. 

The Group recognizes revenue at the time the goods or services are provided based on the judgment that control 

over the goods or services has been transferred to the customer and the performance obligation has been fulfilled. 

The consideration for the transaction is due within a short period of time after the performance obligation is 

fulfilled, and the contract does not contain a significant financial element. 

 

 (5) Scope of cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated statement of cash flows 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and short-term investments with a maturity 

of 3 months or less from the date of acquisition that are readily convertible to cash and that are subject to an 

insignificant risk of changes in value. 

 

 (Significant accounting estimates) 

(Impairment losses on non-current assets) 

(1) Amounts recorded in the consolidated financial statements 

 Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2023 

Property, plant and equipment 561,475 thousand yen 539,974 thousand yen 

Intangible assets 92,472 thousand yen 108,878 thousand yen 

 
(2) Details regarding significant accounting estimates for the identified item 

i. Calculation method 

The Group groups its assets according to the smallest internally managed unit that generates cash flows that are 

generally independent of the cash flows of other assets or asset groups for which income and expenditures are monitored 
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on an ongoing basis. For an asset group for which there are signs of impairment, if the total amount of undiscounted 

future cash flows to be derived from the group is less than its book value, the book value of the fixed asset is reduced 

to its recoverable amount and the amount of the reduction is recognized as an impairment loss. 
 

ii. Major underlying assumptions 

Major underlying assumptions used in the calculation of undiscounted future cash flows include historical data, 

statistics and future market data, and operating income forecasts that incorporate industry trends. 
 

iii. Impact on the consolidated financial statements for fiscal 2024 

The above estimates and assumptions are subject to uncertainties, and changes in business plans or market conditions 

could have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements in the fiscal 2024 or later in the event of 

changes in the conditions or assumptions on which the estimates are based. 

 

(Changes in accounting policies) 

(Application of the Implementation Guidance on Accounting Standard for Fair Value Measurement) 

The Company has adopted the “Implementation Guidance on Accounting Standard for Fair Value Measurement” 

(ASBJ Guidance No. 31, June 17, 2021; hereinafter the “Fair Value Measurement Standard Implementation 

Guidance”) from the beginning of the fiscal year under review,and will prospectively apply the new accounting 

policies prescribed in the Fair Value Measurement Standard Implementation Guidance in accordance with the 

transitional treatment prescribed in Paragraph 27-2 of the Fair Value Measurement Standard Implementation 

Guidance. These changes have no impact on the consolidated financial statements. 

 

(Additional information) 

(About the Board Benefit Trust (BBT)) 

(1) Outline of transactions 

The Company introduced a performance-linked share-based remuneration plan for the Company’s directors (excluding 

directors who serve as Audit & Supervisory Committee members and those directors who are outside directors) and 

executive officers (hereinafter, “Directors, etc.”) called the “Board Benefit Trust (BBT)” (hereinafter, the “BBT”). The 

BBT is for the purpose of further clarifying the linkage between remuneration for Directors, etc. and the Company’s 

business performance and stock value as well as having Directors, etc. share not only the benefits of rises in stock prices 

but also the risks of falls in stock prices with shareholders, and thereby motivating Directors, etc. to contribute to 

enhancing business performance and boosting corporate value in the medium to long term. 

The BBT is a performance-linked share-based remuneration plan for the Company shares to be acquired through a trust 

by using monies contributed by the Company as the source of funds, and for the Company’s shares and monies 

equivalent to the amount of the Company’s shares converted into market value (hereinafter, “Company Shares, etc.”) 

to be awarded through the trust to Directors, etc. in accordance with the Rules on Share Awards for Directors and Other 

Officers provided by the Company. The timing that Company Shares, etc. are awarded to Directors, etc. shall be upon 

their retirement from office as Directors, etc. as a rule. 

 

(2) Shares of the Company remaining in trust 

Company shares remaining in trust are recorded as treasury shares under net assets at the carrying value in trust 

(excluding the amount of incidental expenses). The book value and number of these treasury shares amounted to 

140,590 thousand yen and 100,000 shares at the end of fiscal 2022 and fiscal 2023. 

 

(3) Method for accounting treatment 

The gross method is applied in accordance with the Practical Solution on Transactions of Delivering the Company’s 

Own Stock to Employees, Etc. Through Trusts (Practical Issues Task Force No. 30, March 26, 2015). Expenses and 

corresponding provisions are recorded based on the number of points granted to directors and other officers in 

accordance with the regulations. 

 

(About the Employee Stock Ownership Plan (J-ESOP)) 
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(1) Outline of transactions 

The Company introduced the “Employee Stock Ownership Plan (J-ESOP)” (hereinafter, the “J-ESOP”), an incentive 

plan for employees of the Company and its subsidiaries (hereinafter, the “Employees”). The J-ESOP is for the purpose 

of enhancing the benefit programs for Employees and to improve their sense of participation in management. 

Under the J-ESOP, shares of the Company's stock are provided to Employees when they acquire the right to receive 

these shares in accordance with the Company's pre-established Rules on Share Awards. 

The Company grants points to Employees in accordance with their years of service and other individual contribution 

levels and grants shares of the Company's stock equivalent to the points granted to those Employees who satisfy the 

requirements to receive benefits. The shares to be provided to Employees, including those to be provided in the future, 

will be acquired by the trust bank using money placed in trust by the Company in advance, and will be managed 

separately as trust assets. 

 

(2) Shares of the Company remaining in trust 

Company shares remaining in trust are recorded as treasury shares under net assets at the carrying value in trust 

(excluding the amount of incidental expenses). The book value and number of these treasury shares amounted to 53,146 

thousand yen and 37,800 shares at the end of fiscal 2022 and fiscal 2023. 

 

(3) Method for accounting treatment 

The gross method is applied based on the Practical Solution on Transactions of Delivering the Company’s Own Stock 

to Employees, Etc. Through Trusts (Practical Issues Task Force No. 30, March 26, 2015). Expenses and corresponding 

provisions are recorded based on the number of points granted to employees in accordance with the regulations. 

 

(On the consolidated balance sheet) 

* Items pertaining to affiliates are as follows. 

 
Fiscal 2022 

(December 31, 2022) 
Fiscal 2023 

(December 31, 2023) 

Investment securities (shares) 343,095 thousand yen 754,974 thousand yen 

(On the consolidated statements of income) 

*1 Revenue from contracts with customers 

All sales represent the number of revenues from contracts with customers and do not include revenues other than those 

from contracts with customers. 

 

*2 Significant items and amounts of selling, general and administrative expenses are as follows. 

 
Fiscal 2022 

(From January 1, 2022  
to December 31, 2022) 

Fiscal 2023 
(From January 1, 2023  
to December 31, 2023) 

Payroll and allowances 2,164,473 thousand yen 2,298,326 thousand yen 

Provision of allowance for doubtful accounts 220,279 thousand yen 323,607 thousand yen 

Provision for share awards 9,593 thousand yen 7,229 thousand yen 
Provision for share awards for directors  
(and other officers) 

18,340 thousand yen 12,865 thousand yen 

(On the consolidated statements of comprehensive income) 

* Reclassification adjustments for other comprehensive income 

 
Fiscal 2022 

(From January 1, 2022  
to December 31, 2022) 

Fiscal 2023 
(From January 1, 2023  
to December 31, 2023) 

Valuation difference on available-for-sale 
securities: 

  

Incurred during fiscal 2022 or 2023 (34,414) thousand yen (27,466) thousand yen 

Reclassification adjustments  －  － 

Valuation difference on available-for-sale 
securities 

(34,414) thousand yen (27,466) thousand yen 

Total other comprehensive income (34,414) thousand yen (27,466) thousand yen 
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(On the consolidated statements of changes in equity) 

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 

1. Type and number of shares issued and treasury shares 

 
Number of shares at 
the beginning of fiscal 
2022 (shares) 

Increase in shares 
during fiscal 2022 
(shares) 

Decrease in shares 
during fiscal 2022 
(shares) 

Number of shares at 
the end of fiscal 2022 
(shares) 

Issued shares     

Common shares  60,600,000 － － 60,600,000 

Total 60,600,000 － － 60,600,000 

Treasury shares     

Common shares  
(Note 1) (Note 2) 

140,969 － 2,200 138,769 

Total 140,969 － 2,200 138,769 

(Note 1) The decrease in treasury shares was due to the transfer of 2,200 shares through a stock benefit trust (J-ESOP).  

(Note 2) The number of treasury shares at the end of fiscal 2022 includes 137,800 shares of treasury stock held by the 

BBT and J-ESOP. 

 

2. Matters concerning dividends 

(1) Dividends paid 

 
(Resolution) 

Class of shares 
Total dividend 

amount 
(thousand yen) 

Total dividends per 
share 
(yen) 

Record date Effective date 

March 23, 2022 
Annual General 
Meeting of 
Shareholders 

Common shares 545,391 9 December 31, 2021 March 24, 2022 

(Note) The total dividend amount includes dividends of 1,260 thousand yen for the Company's shares held by the BBT and J-

ESOP. 

(2) Dividends with a record date during fiscal 2022, but an effective date subsequent to fiscal 2023 

 
(Resolution) 

Class of 
shares 

Total dividend 
amount 

(thousand yen) 

Dividend 
funds 

Total dividends 
per share 

(yen) 
Record date Effective date 

March 24, 2023 
Annual General 
Meeting of 
Shareholders 

Common 
shares 

666,589 
Retained 
earnings 

11 December 31, 2022 March 27, 2023 

(Note) The total dividend amount includes dividends of 1,515 thousand yen for the Company's shares held by the BBT and J-

ESOP. 

  



- 76 - 
 

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 

1. Type and number of shares issued and treasury shares 

 
Number of shares at 
the beginning of fiscal 
2023 (shares) 

Increase in shares 
during fiscal 2023 
(shares) 

Decrease in shares 
during fiscal 2023 
(shares) 

Number of shares at 
the end of fiscal 2023 
(shares) 

Issued shares     

Common shares  60,600,000 － － 60,600,000 

Total 60,600,000 － － 60,600,000 

Treasury shares     

Common shares  
(Note 1) (Note 2)  

138,769 26 － 138,795 

Total 138,769 26 － 138,795 

(Note 1) The increase of 26 shares due to purchase of shares less than one unit. 

(Note 2) The number of treasury shares at the end of fiscal 2023 includes 137,800 shares of treasury stock held by the 

BBT and J-ESOP. 

2. Matters concerning dividends 

(1) Dividends paid 

 
(Resolution) 

Class of shares 
Total dividend 

amount 
(thousand yen) 

Total dividends per 
share 
(yen) 

Record date Effective date 

March 24, 2023 
Annual General 
Meeting of 
Shareholders 

Common shares 666,589 11 December 31, 2022 March 27, 2023 

(Note) The total dividend amount includes dividends of 1,515 thousand yen for the Company's shares held by the BBT and J-

ESOP. 

(2) Dividends with a record date during fiscal 2023, but an effective date subsequent to fiscal 2024 

 
(Resolution) 

Class of 
shares 

Total dividend 
amount 

(thousand yen) 
Dividend funds 

Total 
dividends per 
share (yen) 

Record date Effective date 

March 22, 2024 
Annual General 
Meeting of 
Shareholders 

Common 
shares 

787,787 
Retained 
earnings 

13 December 31, 2023 March 25, 2024 

(Note) The total dividend amount includes dividends of 1,791 thousand yen for the Company's shares held by the BBT and J-

ESOP.

(On the consolidated statements of cash flows) 

* Relationship between cash and cash equivalents at end of period and the amount of cash and deposits shown on the 

consolidated balance sheets 

 
Fiscal 2022 

(From January 1, 2022  
to December 31, 2022) 

Fiscal 2023 
(From January 1, 2023  
to December 31, 2023) 

Cash and deposits account 6,036,023 thousand yen 5,488,563 thousand yen 
Time deposits with maturities longer than three 
months 

(24,291 thousand yen) (24,292 thousand yen) 

Cash and cash equivalents 6,011,732 thousand yen 5,464,270 thousand yen 
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(Lease transactions) 

(Lessee side) 

Operating lease transactions 

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases 

 (Unit: thousand yen) 

 
Fiscal 2022 

(From January 1, 2022  
to December 31, 2022) 

Fiscal 2023 
(From January 1, 2023  
to December 31, 2023) 

Within 1 year 48,243 48,243 

More than 1 year 84,426 36,182 

Total 132,670 84,426 

 

(Financial instruments) 

1. Status of financial instruments 

(1) Policy for handling financial instruments 

The Group's policy is to invest temporary surplus funds only in short-term deposits and not to engage in speculative 

transactions. 
 

(2) Details and risks of financial instruments 

Accounts receivable – other and accounts receivable – trade, which are trade receivables, are exposed to credit risk 

from customers. 

Accounts payable – other and accounts payable – trade, which are trade payables, are almost entirely due within one 

(1) year. 
 

(3) Risk management system for financial instruments 

i. Management of credit risk (risks related to non-performance by counterparties) 

With respect to trade receivables, the Company's Corporate Management Division regularly monitors the balance 

of receivables for each customer (CS Set user) and manages due dates and balances for each customer in order 

to rapidly identify and mitigate concerns about collection due to deterioration of financial conditions and other 

factors. Consolidated subsidiaries also manage this at the same level. 

ii. Management of liquidity risk (risk of being unable to make payments on due dates) related to funds 

procurement 

The Company manages liquidity risk by the Corporate Management Division regularly preparing and updating 

cash management plans based on reports from each department. Consolidated subsidiaries also manage this at the 

same level. 
 

(4) Supplementary explanation of matters relating to fair value of financial instruments, etc. 

Fair values of financial instruments may fluctuate when different assumptions are adopted because variable factors 

are taken into account in determining the values. 
 

2. Fair value of financial instruments, etc. 

The amounts recorded on the consolidated balance sheets, fair values, and the differences between them are shown below. 
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As of December 31, 2022 

 

Amount on the 
consolidated balance 

sheets 
(thousand yen) 

Fair value  
(thousand yen) 

Difference  
(thousand yen) 

Investment securities(*2) 134,841 134,841 － 

As of December 31, 2023 

 

Amount on the 
consolidated balance 

sheets 
(thousand yen) 

Fair value  
(thousand yen) 

Difference  
(thousand yen) 

Investment securities(*2) 109,841 109,841 － 

 (*1) “Cash and deposits”, “Accounts receivable-trade and contract assets” , “Accounts receivable-other”, “Accounts 

payable-trade”, “Account payable-other”, “Accrued expenses”, “Income taxes payable” and “Accrued 

consumption taxes” are omitted as their fair values approximate their book values. This is due to their nature as 

cash and as accounts settled over the short term. 

(*2) Stocks and other securities without market quotations are not included in “Investment securities” above. 

Amount of such financial instruments on the consolidated balance sheet is as follows. Investments in 

partnerships in which the net amount of equity interest is recorded on the balance sheet are not subject to fair 

value disclosure in accordance with the treatment prescribed in Paragraph 24-16 of the Implementation 

Guidance on Accounting Standard for Fair Value Measurement (ASBJ Guidance No. 31, June 17, 2021). 

(Unit: thousand yen) 

Category 
Fiscal 2022 

(December 31, 2022) 
Fiscal 2023 

(December 31, 2023) 

Unlisted stocks  480,445 1,663,790 

Investments in investment 
partnerships  

121,510 427,694 

 

3. Matters concerning the breakdown of the fair value of financial instruments by level, etc. 

The fair values of financial instruments are classified into the following three levels according to the observability and 

importance of inputs used in the calculation of fair values. 

Level 1 fair value: Fair value calculated using market prices, on an active market, of assets or liabilities 

whose fair value is calculated of the observable inputs related to the calculation of fair 

value 

Level 2 fair value: Fair value calculated using inputs other than the inputs used for Level 1 of the 

observable inputs related to the calculation of market value 

Level 3 fair value: Fair value calculated using inputs that are not observable related to the calculation of 

fair value 

If more than one input that has a significant effect on the calculation of fair value is used, the fair value is classified to 

the level of inputs whose priority is lowest in the calculation of fair value. 

 

Financial instruments recorded on the consolidated balance sheet at fair value 

As of December 31, 2022 

Category 
Fair value (thousand yen) 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Investment securities     

  Available-for-sale securities     

    Bonds-other － － 134,841 134,841 
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As of December 31, 2023 

Category 
Fair value (thousand yen) 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Investment securities     

  Available-for-sale securities     

    Bonds-other － － 109,841 109,841 

 (Note1)Explanation of valuation techniques used in the calculation of fair value and inputs related to the calculation of 

fair value. 

Investment securities 

Convertible bonds are classified as Level 3 fair value because the bonds generally have no observable market price, 

and are calculated by applying valuation techniques based on a binomial model using significant unobservable inputs, 

such as discount rates. 

 

(Note2)Information on Level3 fair values of financial instruments that are recorded at fair value on the consolidated 

balance sheets 

(1)Quantitative information on significant unobservable inputs 

As of December 31, 2022 

Category 
Valuation 
technique 

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
Range of inputs 

Weighted average 
of inputs 

Investment securities   
Available-for-sale securities   

Bonds-Other Binomial model 
Discount rate 
Volatility 

0.98％
23.49％

0.98％
23.49％

As of December 31, 2023 

Category 
Valuation 
technique 

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
Range of inputs 

Weighted average 
of inputs 

Investment securities   
Available-for-sale securities   

Bonds-Other Binomial model 
Discount rate 
Volatility 

0.92％
18.06％

0.92％
18.06％

 

(2)Reconciliation of opening and closing balance; valuation gains and losses recognized in profit or loss for the period 

As of December 31, 2022 

(Unit: thousand yen) 

 
Investment securities 

Available-for-sale securities 

Bonds-Other 

Balance at the beginning of the year 165,000

Profit or loss or other comprehensive income for the period 

Recognized in profit or loss －

Recognized in other comprehensive income(*) △30,158

Purchase, sale, issuance, and settlement －

Transfer to Level3 of fair value hierarchy －

Transfer from Level3 of fair value hierarchy －

Balance at the end of the year 134,841

Unrealized gains (losses) on financial assets and liabilities held at the end of 
the period recognized in profit or loss for the period 

－
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(*) Consists of “Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities” in “Other comprehensive income” under 
consolidated statements of comprehensive income  

 

As of December 31, 2023 

(Unit: thousand yen) 

 
Investment securities 

Available-for-sale securities 

Bonds-Other 

Balance at the beginning of the year 134,841

Profit or loss or other comprehensive income for the period 

Recognized in profit or loss －

Recognized in other comprehensive income(*) △24,299

Purchase, sale, issuance, and settlement －

Transfer to Level3 of fair value hierarchy －

Transfer from Level3 of fair value hierarchy －

Balance at the end of the year 109,841

Unrealized gains (losses) on financial assets and liabilities held at the end of 
the period recognized in profit or loss for the period 

－

 (*) Consists of “Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities” in “Other comprehensive income” under 
consolidated statements of comprehensive income  

 

 (3) Description of the fair value valuation process 

The Company’s Corporate Management Division has procedures for the calculation of fair values of financial instruments 

and calculates them accordingly. The appropriate approver has verified the valuation techniques used in the calculations, 

the appropriateness of the inputs, and the results of the calculations.  

In calculating fair value, the Company uses valuation techniques and inputs that most appropriately reflect the nature, 

characteristics, and risks of the underlying financial instruments. 

 

 (4) Description of the effect of changes in significant unobservable inputs on fair value 

The main significant unobservable input is discount rate and volatility. 

A significant increase (decrease) in discount rate would result in a significant decrease (increase) in fair value. 

Volatility is a numerical value that indicates the degree of price fluctuation. A significant increase (decrease) in volatility 

would result in a significant increase (decrease) in fair value. 
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(Securities) 

1. Available-for-sale securities 

As of December 31, 2022 

 Class 

Amount on the 
consolidated 

balance sheets 
(thousand yen) 

Acquisition cost 
(thousand yen) 

Difference 
(thousand yen) 

Securities whose carrying values on the 
consolidated balance sheets exceed 
acquisition cost 

(1) Shares 
(2) Bonds 

i. Government 
bonds, 
municipal 
bonds, etc. 

ii. Corporate 
bonds 

iii. Other 
(3) Other 

– 
 

– 
 
 
 

– 
 

– 
– 

– 
 

– 
 
 
 

– 
 

– 
– 

– 
 

– 
 
 
 

– 
 

– 
– 

Subtotal – – – 

Securities whose carrying values on the 
consolidated balance sheets do not 
exceed acquisition cost 

(1) Shares 
(2) Bonds 

i. Government 
bonds, 
municipal 
bonds, etc. 

ii. Corporate 
bonds 

iii. Other 
(3) Other 

137,350 
 

– 
 
 
 

– 
 

134,841 
121,510 

146,624 
 

– 
 
 
 

– 
 

165,000 
135,129 

(9,274) 
 

– 
 
 
 

– 
 

(30,158) 
(13,618) 

Subtotal 393,701 446,753 (53,052) 

Total 393,701 446,753 (53,052) 

 

As of December 31, 2023 

 Class 

Amount on the 
consolidated 

balance sheets 
(thousand yen) 

Acquisition cost 
(thousand yen) 

Difference 
(thousand yen) 

Securities whose carrying values on the 
consolidated balance sheets exceed 
acquisition cost 

(1) Shares 
(2) Bonds 

i. Government 
bonds, 
municipal 
bonds, etc. 

ii. Corporate 
bonds 

iii. Other 
(3) Other 

– 
 

– 
 
 
 

– 
 

– 
– 

– 
 

– 
 
 
 

– 
 

– 
– 

– 
 

– 
 
 
 

– 
 

– 
– 

Subtotal – – – 

Securities whose carrying values on the 
consolidated balance sheets do not 
exceed acquisition cost 

(1) Shares 
(2) Bonds 

i. Government 
bonds, 
municipal 
bonds, etc. 

ii. Corporate 
bonds 

iii. Other 
(3) Other 

878,816 
 

– 
 
 
 

– 
 

109,841 
427,694 

890,739 
 

– 
 
 
 

– 
 

165,000 
445,656 

(11,922) 
 

– 
 
 
 

– 
 

(55,158) 
(17,962) 

Subtotal 1,416,352 1,501,396 (85,043) 

Total 1,416,352 1,501,396 (85,043) 

2. Securities for which impairment losses were recognized 

In the previous year, impairment loss of 376,637 thousand yen for shares of other marketable securities was 

recognized. 



- 82 - 
 

In the fiscal year under review, impairment loss of 8,362 thousand yen for shares of other marketable securities was 

recognized. 

 

(Derivative transactions) 

Not applicable. 

 

(Retirement benefits) 

Not applicable, as the Group does not have a retirement benefits plan. 

 

(Tax effect accounting) 

1. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities by major classification 

 
Fiscal 2022 

(December 31, 2022) 
Fiscal 2023 

(December 31, 2023) 

Deferred tax assets   

Accrued enterprise tax 21,309 thousand yen 38,506 thousand yen 

Allowance for doubtful accounts 162,360 thousand yen 193,570 thousand yen 

Accrued bonuses, etc. 29,503 thousand yen 25,154 thousand yen 

Accrued director bonuses 11,445 thousand yen － 

Accounts payable - other 11,595 thousand yen 21,485 thousand yen 

Accounts receivable – trade 19,188 thousand yen 19,411 thousand yen 

Loss on valuation of merchandise 2,843 thousand yen 612 thousand yen 

Excess amortization of deferred assets 15,982 thousand yen 15,129 thousand yen 

Lump-sum depreciable assets 9,166 thousand yen 8,382 thousand yen 

Depreciation 26,683 thousand yen 28,189 thousand yen 

Provision for share awards 21,357 thousand yen 27,485 thousand yen 

Amount of loss carried forward 13,882 thousand yen 13,664 thousand yen 

Loss on valuation of investment securities 114,723 thousand yen 117,271 thousand yen 

Other 3,659 thousand yen 11,214 thousand yen 

Total deferred tax assets 463,704 thousand yen 520,077 thousand yen 

 

2. Major components of significant differences arising between the effective statutory tax rate and effective income tax rate 

after application of tax effect accounting 

In both fiscal 2022 and fiscal 2023, notes are omitted because the difference between the effective statutory tax rate and 

effective income tax rate after application of tax effect accounting is 5/100 or less of the effective statutory tax rate. 

 

(Corporate integration, etc.) 

Not applicable. 

 

(Revenue recognition) 

1. Information that disaggregates revenue arising from contracts with customers 

Since the Group has a single segment of nursing- and medical care-related business and generally has a single category 

of revenue arising from contracts with customers, information that breaks down revenue is not informative and has been 

omitted. 

 

2. Basic information to understand revenue recognition 

The basis for understanding revenues is described in “4. Matters Concerning Accounting Policies (4) Basis for 

Recognition of Significant Revenues and Expenses.” 

 

3. Information about the relationship between the fulfillment of performance obligations under contracts with customers 

and cash flows from such contracts, and the amount and timing of revenue expected to be recognized from contracts 

with customers that existed at the end of the fiscal year under review and are expected to be recognized in the following 

fiscal year or later. 
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（1）Receivables arising from contracts with customers 

 Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2023 

Receivables arising from contracts with customers 

(Balance at beginning of period) 
3,891,204 thousand yen 4,246,702 thousand yen 

Receivables arising from contracts with customers 

(Balance at end of period) 
4,246,702 thousand yen 4,947,868 thousand yen 

 

（2）Transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations 

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries enter into contracts with customers to provide services and charge 

compensation based on the services rendered. Because the Company has the right to receive from the customer the amount 

of consideration that directly corresponds to the value to the customer for the portion of performance completed to date, 

it recognizes revenue at the amount it has the right to claim in accordance with paragraph 19 of the “Guidance on 

Accounting Standard for Revenue Recognition” and therefore has not included it in the scope of notes. 

 

(Segment information, etc.) 
[Segment information] 

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 

The information is omitted because the Group has a single segment, the nursing- and medical care-related business. 

 

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 

The information is omitted because the Group has a single segment, the nursing- and medical care-related business. 

 

[Related information] 

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 

1. Information by product and service 

The information is omitted because net sales to external customers for a single group of products and services exceed 

90% of net sales on the statement of income. 

 

2. Information by geographic area 

(1) Net sales 

Not applicable because there is no net sales to external customers outside of Japan. 

 

(2) Property, plant and equipment 

Not applicable because there is no property, plant and equipment located outside of Japan. 

 

3. Information by major customer 

The information is omitted because out of net sales to external customers, no party accounts for 10% or more of net 

sales on the statements of income. 

 

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 

1. Information by product and service 

The information is omitted because net sales to external customers for a single group of products and services exceed 

90% of net sales on the statement of income. 

 

2. Information by geographic area 

(1) Net sales 

Not applicable because there is no net sales to external customers outside of Japan. 

 

(2) Property, plant and equipment 

Not applicable because there is no property, plant and equipment located outside of Japan. 

 

3. Information by major customer 

The information is omitted because out of net sales to external customers, no party accounts for 10% or more of net 

sales on the statements of income. 
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[Information about impairment loss on non-current assets by reportable segment] 

Not applicable. 

  

[Information about amortization and unamortized balance of goodwill by reportable segment] 

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 

(Unit: thousand yen) 

 
Nursing- and 
medical care-

related business 
Total 

Corporate or 
elimination 

Amount on consolidated 
financial statements 

Amortization for 
period 

9,771 9,771 － 9,771 

Balance at end of 
period 

－ － － － 

 

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 

Not applicable. 

 

[Information about gain on bargain purchase by reportable segment] 

Not applicable. 

 

[Information on related parties] 

 Transactions with related parties 

(1) Transactions between the filing company and related parties 

Not applicable. 

 

(2) Transactions between consolidated subsidiaries of the filing company and related parties 

Not applicable. 
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(Per share information) 

 
Fiscal 2022 

(From January 1, 2022  
to December 31, 2022) 

Fiscal 2023 
(From January 1, 2023  
to December 31, 2023) 

Net assets per share 148.69 yen 178.86 yen 

Earnings per share 34.45 yen 41.66 yen 

(Note 1) Diluted earnings per share is not shown in the above table, as there are no residual shares. 

(Note 2) Treasury shares deducted from the average number of shares during the period as well as shares in trust are used in the 

calculation of earnings per share.  

The number of the Company’s shares remaining in the trust, which are included in the number of treasury stock deducted 

from the calculation of net income per share, was 138,693 shares in the previous fiscal year and 137,800 shares in the fiscal 

year under review. 

In addition, treasury shares deducted from total shares issued and outstanding as well as shares in trust are used in the 

calculation of net assets per share. 

The number of the Company’s shares remaining in the trust, which are included in the number of treasury stock deducted 

from the calculation of net assets per share, was 137,800 shares in the previous fiscal year and the fiscal year under review. 

 (Note 3) The basis for calculation of net assets per share is as follows: 

 
Fiscal 2022 

(December 31, 2022) 
Fiscal 2023 

(December 31, 2023) 

Total net assets (thousand yen) 8,989,708 10,814,362 

Amount deducted from total net assets (thousand yen) － － 

Net assets at end of period attributable to common shares 
(thousand yen) 

8,989,708 10,814,362 

Number of common shares used in calculation of net assets per 
share (shares) 

60,461,231 60,461,205 

 

(Note 4) The basis for calculation of earnings per share is as follows: 

 
Fiscal 2022 

(From January 1, 2022  
to December 31, 2022) 

Fiscal 2023 
(From January 1, 2023  
to December 31, 2023) 

Earnings per share   

Profit attributable to owners of parent (thousand yen) 2,082,698 2,518,738 

Amount not attributable to common shareholders (thousand 
yen) － － 

Profit attributable to owners of parent concerning common 
shares (thousand yen) 

2,082,698 2,518,738 

Average number of common shares during period (shares) 60,460,338 60,461,230 

   

(Significant subsequent events) 

 (Business combination through acquisition of shares)  

At a meeting of the Board of Directors held on January 5, 2024, the Company resolved to enter into a share transfer 

agreement with the aim of converting GREEN LAUNDRY JOINT STOCK COMPANY, a company headquartered in 

Vietnam, into a subsidiary, and it entered into the share transfer agreement on January 22, 2024. 

 

1．Overview of business combination 

(1) Name of the acquired company and its business activities  

Name of the acquired company  GREEN LAUNDRY JOINT STOCK COMPANY 

Business activities   Laundry services for hospitals 

(2) Rationale for the business combination 

Under its management philosophy of “pursuing the best products and services that satisfy our customers and contributing 

to the realization of an enriching living environment through our passionate actions,” the Group operates businesses with 

the aim of turning problems in the healthcare field into smiles.  
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The Group mainly provides the CS (Care Support) Set service that provides rental services for clothing and towels 

combined with disposable diapers and daily necessities (such as toothbrushes, tissues, and oral care products) to inpatients 

at hospitals and residents of nursing care facilities or other healthcare-related facilities. 

The Group has positioned overseas expansion as one of the initiatives for further growth in its three-year New Medium-

Term Management Vision (2023–2025). The recent conversion of GREEN LAUNDRY into a subsidiary through a share 

acquisition marks the Group’s second investment overseas, following an earlier investment in India. This is a significant 

development that will pave the way for a full-scale global expansion.   

Vietnam has experienced population growth over the past few decades. Its total population approached 99.46 million in 

fiscal 2022, and is on track to exceed 100 million in the near future. The country’s real GDP growth stood at 8.0% in 

fiscal 2022, and although the initial growth target of 6.5% for fiscal 2023 appears to be difficult to achieve, real GDP 

growth came to 4.24% in the nine months from January to September 2023. Vietnam has enjoyed stable economic growth, 

and its population and economy are expected to remain on a growth trajectory. At the same time, increases in the average 

life expectancy and the average age will eventually result in aging of the population, which in turn should increase the 

number of medical institutions and hospital beds alongside growth in demand for healthcare-related services. 

GREEN LAUNDRY, the company to be converted into a subsidiary through a share acquisition, is a major provider of 

laundry services to large hospitals mainly in the Ho Chi Minh City area, which has the largest population in Vietnam. By 

making GREEN LAUNDRY a subsidiary, the Company will acquire a laundry service business for major hospitals in 

southern Vietnam. 

Through the business activities of GREEN LAUNDRY, the Company aims to further expand laundry services for major 

hospitals in Vietnam, and promote wider adoption of linen rental services and its flagship CS Set service in the 

Vietnamese market.  

(3) Date of business combination 

Early May 2024 (tentative) 

(4) Legal form of business combination 

Acquisition of shares for cash consideration. 

(5) Name of the company subsequent to the business combination  

No change. 

(6) Percentage of voting rights acquired  

100% 

(7) Primary basis for determining the acquirer  

The Company plans to acquire shares for cash consideration. 

 

2．Breakdown of acquisition cost for the acquired company and each type of payment 

Acquisition 

consideration 
Cash and deposits 

148.422 billion Vietnamese dong  

(approx.  890 million yen) 

Acquisition cost  
148.422 billion Vietnamese dong  

(approx.  890 million yen) 

In addition to the above, the payment timing has not been determined at this time. However, an agreement has been 

concluded to make a payment of 15.0 billion Vietnamese dong (approx. 90 million yen) after it has been confirmed that 

certain conditions have been fulfilled by the company to be acquired.  

Furthermore, the consideration for the acquisition does not include contingent consideration. Contingent consideration is 

an agreement under which additional consideration is paid based on performance of the acquired company over a certain 

period of time in the future. This has not been finalized at this time. 

If additional payments arise in connection with the acquisition consideration, they will be treated as if paid at the time of 

acquisition, and the acquisition cost will be adjusted accordingly, along with the amount of goodwill and the goodwill 

amortization amount. 

 

3．Content and amount of main acquisition-related expenses 

Advisory fees, administrative expenses, etc.: Approx. 65 million yen 

The amount above is tentative as some portions have yet to be determined.  

 

4．Amount of goodwill, reason for occurrence, and amortization method and period 

To be determined. 
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5．Amount of assets received and liabilities undertaken on the date of the business combination and major breakdown 

To be determined. 

 

v. [Consolidated Supplementary Financial Schedules] 

[Schedule of corporate bonds] 

Not applicable. 

[Schedule of borrowings, etc.] 

Not applicable. 

[Schedule of asset retirement obligations] 

The asset retirement obligation amounts at the beginning and end of fiscal 2023 are below 1% of the total liabilities and net 

assets at the beginning and end of fiscal 2023. The information is therefore omitted in accordance with the provisions in 

Article 92, Paragraph 2 of the Consolidated Financial Statement Regulations. 

 

 (2) [Other] 

Quarterly information for fiscal 2023 

(Cumulative period) First quarter Second quarter Third quarter Fiscal 2023 

Net sales  
(thousand yen) 

9,857,145 19,781,098 30,426,249 41,425,501 

Profit before income taxes 
(thousand yen) 

997,334 1,813,108 2,742,022 3,681,575 

Profit attributable to owners of 
parent (thousand yen) 

695,531 1,253,186 1,888,600 2,518,738 

Earnings per share  
(yen) 

11.50 20.73 31.24 41.66 

 

(Quarterly period) First quarter Second quarter Third quarter Fourth quarter 

Earnings per share 
(yen) 

11.50 9.22 10.51 10.42 
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2. [Non-consolidated Financial Statements, Etc.] 
(1) [Non-consolidated Financial Statements] 

i. [Non-consolidated Balance Sheet] 
 (Unit: thousand yen)

 
Fiscal 2022 

(December 31, 2022) 
Fiscal 2023 

(December 31, 2023) 

Assets   
Current assets   

Cash and deposits 5,567,224 4,731,318 
Accounts receivable – trade 4,246,702 4,947,793 
Merchandise 1,242,037 1,379,085 
Supplies 89,408 520,250 
Prepaid expenses 52,619 67,415 
Accounts receivable – other *  2,939,181 *  3,706,710 
Other *  28,630 *  57,283 
Allowance for doubtful accounts (473,706) (585,253) 

Total current assets 13,692,098 14,824,602 

Non-current assets   
Property, plant and equipment   

Buildings 303,584 311,592 
Accumulated depreciation (108,902) (120,706) 
Buildings, net 194,682 190,885 

Structures 2,507 2,507 
Accumulated depreciation (825) (960) 
Structures, net 1,681 1,546 

Vehicles 61,747 66,259 
Accumulated depreciation (36,916) (45,803) 
Vehicles, net 24,831 20,455 

Tools, furniture and fixtures 147,037 152,612 
Accumulated depreciation (87,770) (105,604) 
Tools, furniture and fixtures, net 59,266 47,008 

Land 269,200 269,200 
Leased assets 5,922 5,922 

Accumulated depreciation (4,342) (5,527) 
Leased assets, net 1,579 394 

Total property, plant and equipment 551,241 529,491 
Intangible assets   

Software 44,436 101,053 
Other 48,035 7,825 

Total intangible assets 92,472 108,878 

Investments and other assets   
Investment securities 393,701 1,416,352 
Shares of subsidiaries and associates 413,095 924,974 
Leasehold deposits 122,808 113,246 
Deferred tax assets 437,192 488,066 
Other *  67,338 *  112,758 
Allowance for doubtful accounts (53,608) (40,533) 

Total investments and other assets 1,380,528 3,014,865 

Total non-current assets 2,024,241 3,653,234 

Total assets 15,716,340 18,477,837 
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 (Unit: thousand yen)

 
Fiscal 2022 

(December 31, 2022) 
Fiscal 2023 

(December 31, 2023) 

Liabilities   
Current liabilities   

Accounts payable – trade *  5,503,458 *  6,420,617 
Lease obligations 1,302 434 
Accounts payable - other *  704,923 *  737,204 
Accrued expenses 62,513 66,320 
Income taxes payable 532,469 658,189 
Accrued consumption taxes 108,108 97,488 
Deposits received from employees 41,205 44,154 
Other 48,849 52,555 

Total current liabilities 7,002,830 8,076,965 

Non-current liabilities   
Lease obligations 434 － 
Provision for share awards 20,358 27,375 
Provision for share awards for directors (and other 
officers) 

49,757 62,623 

Total non-current liabilities 70,551 89,999 

Total liabilities 7,073,381 8,166,964 

Net assets   
Shareholders’ equity   

Share capital 573,496 573,496 
Capital surplus   

Legal capital surplus 543,496 543,496 

Total capital surplus 543,496 543,496 

Retained earnings   
Legal retained earnings 7,500 7,500 
Other retained earnings   

General reserve 12,500 12,500 
Retained earnings brought forward 7,745,117 9,440,527 

Total retained earnings 7,765,117 9,460,527 

Treasury shares (194,096) (194,125) 

Total shareholders' equity 8,688,013 10,383,394 

Valuation and translation adjustments   
Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities (45,055) (72,521) 

Total valuation and translation adjustments (45,055) (72,521) 

Total net assets 8,642,958 10,310,873 

Total liabilities and net assets 15,716,340 18,477,837 
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ii. [Non-consolidated Statements of Income] 
 (Unit: thousand yen)

 
Fiscal 2022 

(From January 1, 2022  
to December 31, 2022) 

Fiscal 2023 
(From January 1, 2023  
to December 31, 2023) 

Net sales 36,203,339 41,341,828 
Cost of sales   

Beginning merchandise inventory 1,068,647 1,242,037 
Cost of purchased goods *1  23,794,763 *1  27,952,038 

Total 24,863,410 29,194,075 

Ending merchandise inventory 1,242,037 1,379,085 

Cost of goods sold 23,621,373 27,814,990 

Outsourcing fee 3,574,074 3,833,513 

Total cost of sales 27,195,447 31,648,504 

Gross profit 9,007,891 9,693,323 

Selling, general and administrative expenses *1,*2  6,765,191 *1,*2  7,295,265 

Operating profit 2,242,699 2,398,058 

Non-operating income   
Interest income *1  56 *1  437 
Dividend income *1  111,001 *1  62,101 
Rental income from buildings 545 545 
Subsidy income 1,000 5,665 
Gain on sales of non-current assets 1,027 199 
Business advisory fee income *1  43,050 *1  43,050 
Temporary assignment fee income *1  637,052 *1  710,159 
Outsourcing service income *1  132,360 *1  140,370 
Other *1  68,219 *1  65,356 

Total non-operating income 994,313 1,027,885 

Non-operating expenses   
Loss on retirement of non-current assets 2,330 3,581 
Loss on investments in investment partnerships 4,837 4,524 
Loss on valuation of investment securities － 8,362 

Total non-operating expenses 7,168 16,469 

Ordinary profit 3,229,845 3,409,475 

Extraordinary loss   
Loss on valuation of investment securities 376,637 － 

Total extraordinary loss 376,637 － 

Profit before income taxes 2,853,207 3,409,475 

Income taxes – current 956,123 1,098,350 
Income taxes – deferred (104,267) (50,874) 

Total income taxes 851,855 1,047,476 

Profit 2,001,352 2,361,998 
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iii. [Non-consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity] 

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 
  (Unit: thousand yen) 

 Shareholders’ equity 

 

Share capital 

Capital surplus Retained earnings 

 

Legal capital 
surplus 

Total capital 
surplus 

Legal retained 
earnings 

Other retained earnings 

Total retained 
earnings 

 General reserve 

Retained 
earnings 
brought 
forward 

Balance at beginning of 
period 

573,496 543,496 543,496 7,500 12,500 6,289,156 6,309,156 

Changes in items during 
period 

       

Dividends of surplus      (545,391) (545,391) 

Profit      2,001,352 2,001,352 

Disposal of treasury 
shares 

       

Net changes in items 
other than shareholders’ 
equity 

       

Total changes in items 
during period － － － － － 1,455,961 1,455,961 

Balance at end of period 573,496 543,496 543,496 7,500 12,500 7,745,117 7,765,117 

 
   

 Shareholders’ equity 
Valuation and translation 

adjustments 

Total net assets 
 Treasury shares 

Total 
shareholders' 

equity 

Valuation 
difference on 
available-for-
sale securities 

Total valuation 
and translation 

adjustments 

Balance at beginning of 
period 

(197,189) 7,228,959 (10,640) (10,640) 7,218,318 

Changes in items during 
period 

     

Dividends of surplus  (545,391)   (545,391) 

Profit  2,001,352   2,001,352 

Disposal of treasury 
shares 

3,093 3,093   3,093 

Net changes in items 
other than shareholders’ 
equity 

  (34,414) (34,414) (34,414) 

Total changes in items 
during period 

3,093 1,459,054 (34,414) (34,414) 1,424,639 

Balance at end of period (194,096) 8,688,013 (45,055) (45,055) 8,642,958 
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Fiscal year ended December 31, 2023  
  (Unit: thousand yen) 

 Shareholders’ equity 

 

Share capital 

Capital surplus Retained earnings 

 

Legal capital 
surplus 

Total capital 
surplus 

Legal retained 
earnings 

Other retained earnings 

Total retained 
earnings 

 General reserve 

Retained 
earnings 
brought 
forward 

Balance at beginning of 
period 

573,496 543,496 543,496 7,500 12,500 7,745,117 7,765,117 

Changes in items during 
period 

       

Dividends of surplus      (666,589) (666,589) 

Profit      2,361,998 2,361,998 

Purchase of treasury 
shares 

       

Net changes in items 
other than shareholders’ 
equity 

       

Total changes in items 
during period － － － － － 1,695,409 1,695,409 

Balance at end of period 573,496 543,496 543,496 7,500 12,500 9,440,527 9,460,527 

 
   

 Shareholders’ equity 
Valuation and translation 

adjustments 

Total net assets 
 Treasury shares 

Total 
shareholders' 

equity 

Valuation 
difference on 
available-for-
sale securities 

Total valuation 
and translation 

adjustments 

Balance at beginning of 
period 

(194,096) 8,688,013 (45,055) (45,055) 8,642,958 

Changes in items during 
period 

     

Dividends of surplus  (666,589)   (666,589) 

Profit  2,361,998   2,361,998 

Purchase of treasury 
shares 

(28) (28)   (28) 

Net changes in items 
other than shareholders’ 
equity 

  (27,466) (27,466) (27,466) 

Total changes in items 
during period 

(28) 1,695,380 (27,466) (27,466) 1,667,914 

Balance at end of period (194,125) 10,383,394 (72,521) (72,521) 10,310,873 
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[Notes] 

(Significant accounting policies) 

1. Valuation standards and valuation methods for assets 

(1) Valuation standards and valuation methods for securities 

i. Shares of subsidiaries and associates 

Stated at cost determined by the moving average method. 

ii. Available-for-sale securities 

Other than stocks and other securities with no market price 

Market value method is adopted (valuation differences are directly charged or credited to net assets, and cost of 

sales is determined by the moving-average method). 

Stocks, etc. with no market price 

Cost accounting method using the moving-average method is adopted. 

 

(2) Valuation standards and valuation methods for inventories 

Merchandise  

Stated at cost determined by the weighted average method (the balance sheet amount is by the method of writing down 

book value based on decline in profitability). 

Supplies 

Mainly, Stated at cost determined by the weighted average method (the balance sheet amount is by the method of 

writing down book value based on decline in profitability).  

 

2. Depreciation method for non-current assets 

(1) Property, plant and equipment (excluding leased assets) 

The declining-balance method is adopted. However, the straight-line method is adopted for buildings (excluding 

facilities attached to buildings) acquired on or after April 1, 1998, and facilities attached to buildings and structures 

acquired on or after April 1, 2016. 

The estimated useful lives are mainly as follows: 

Buildings 8-38 years 

Structures 10-45 years 

Vehicles 4-6 years 

Tools, furniture and fixtures 2-15 years 

 

(2) Intangible assets (excluding leased assets) 

The straight-line method is adopted. 

Software for internal use is amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated internal useful life (5 years). 

 

(3) Leased assets 

Leased assets for lease transaction other than lease transaction of transfer of ownership rights 

The straight-line method with useful life set as the leasing term and the remaining value set at zero. 

 

3. Standards for recognition of allowances and provisions 

i. Allowance for doubtful accounts 

The estimated irrecoverable amount based on historical default rates for general receivables and individual 

assessments of recoverability for doubtful and other specific receivables is posted to provide for losses on default of 

receivables. 

 

ii. Provision for share awards 

To provide for the award of Company shares to employees of the Company and its subsidiaries in accordance with the 

Company's Rules on Share Awards, the Company records an amount based on the estimated share award obligation 

as of the end of fiscal 2023. 
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iii. Provision for share awards for directors (and other officers) 

To provide for the award of Company shares to directors (excluding directors who also serve as Audit & Supervisory 

Committee members and other directors who are outside directors) and executive officers in accordance with the Rules 

on Share Awards for Directors and Other Officers, the Company records an amount based on the estimated share award 

obligation as of the end of fiscal 2023. 

 

4. Standards for recognition of revenues and expenses 

The Company has a single segment, the nursing- and medical care-related business, offering the CS Set. 

As for the CS Set, the main performance obligation is to provide a combination of rental service with laundry service for 

clothes, towels, etc. and provision of daily necessities to those who are hospitalized or admitted to long-term care health 

facilities for the elderly. 

The Company recognizes revenue at the time the goods or services are provided based on the judgment that control over 

the goods or services has been transferred to the customer and the performance obligation has been fulfilled. 

The consideration for the transaction is due within a short period of time after the performance obligation is fulfilled, and 

the contract does not contain a significant financial element. 

 

(Significant accounting estimates) 

(Impairment losses on non-current assets) 

(1) Amounts recorded in the non-consolidated financial statements 

 Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2023 

Property, plant and equipment 551,241 thousand yen 529,491 thousand yen 

Intangible assets 92,472 thousand yen 108,878 thousand yen 

 

(2) Details regarding significant accounting estimates for the identified item 

Information is omitted because it is identical to “[Consolidated Financial Statements] Notes (Significant accounting 

estimates).” 

 

(Changes in accounting policies) 

(Application of the Implementation Guidance on Accounting Standard for Fair Value Measurement) 

The Company has adopted the “Implementation Guidance on Accounting Standard for Fair Value Measurement” (ASBJ 

Guidance No. 31, June 17, 2021; hereinafter the “Fair Value Measurement Standard Implementation Guidance”) from the 

beginning of the fiscal year under review, and will prospectively apply the new accounting policies prescribed in the Fair 

Value Measurement Standard Implementation Guidance in accordance with the transitional treatment prescribed in Paragraph 

27-2 of the Fair Value Measurement Standard Implementation Guidance. These changes have no impact on the financial 

statements  

 

(Changes in presentation) 

(Balance Sheet) 

“Supplies” included in “Other” under “Current assets” in the previous fiscal year is reported as an independent item from the 

fiscal year under review due to its increased monetary significance. The financial statements for the previous fiscal year 

have been restated to reflect this change in presentation.  

As a result, the 118,038 thousand yen recorded in “Other” under “Current assets” on the balance sheet in the previous fiscal 

year has been restated as 89,408 thousand yen for “Supplies” and 28,630 thousand yen for “Other.” 

 

(Additional information) 

(About the Board Benefit Trust (BBT) and Employee Stock Ownership Plan (J-ESOP)) 

Information is omitted because it is identical to “[Consolidated Financial Statements] Notes (Additional information).” 
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(On the non-consolidated balance sheet) 

* Monetary receivables and payables from and to subsidiaries and affiliates 

 
Fiscal 2022 

(December 31, 2022) 
Fiscal 2023 

(December 31, 2023) 

Short-term monetary receivables 177,882 thousand yen 211,201 thousand yen 

Long-term monetary receivables － 45,000 thousand yen 

Short-term monetary payables 317,608 thousand yen 448,488 thousand yen 

 

(On the non-consolidated statements of income) 

*1 The following items related to transactions with subsidiaries and affiliates are included. 

 
Fiscal 2022 

(From January 1, 2022  
to December 31, 2022) 

Fiscal 2023 
(From January 1, 2023  
to December 31, 2023) 

Transaction volume from business transactions   

Purchase of goods 235,984 thousand yen 574,945 thousand yen 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 
from transactions with subsidiaries and 
affiliates 

2,670,646 thousand yen 2,990,086 thousand yen 

Transaction volume from non-business 
transactions 

  

Business advisory fee income from 
transactions with subsidiaries and affiliates 

38,850 thousand yen 38,850 thousand yen 

Dividend income from transactions with 
subsidiaries and affiliates 

111,000 thousand yen 62,100 thousand yen 

Temporary assignment fee income from 
transactions with subsidiaries and affiliates 

637,052 thousand yen 710,159 thousand yen 

Rental income from transactions with 
subsidiaries and affiliates 

47,337 thousand yen 46,771 thousand yen 

Outsourcing service income from 
transactions with subsidiaries and affiliates 

132,360 thousand yen 140,370 thousand yen 

Interest income from transactions with 
subsidiaries and affiliates － 374 thousand yen 

 

*2 The approximate percentage of expenses attributable to selling expenses was 60.11% for fiscal 2022 and 61.17% for 

fiscal 2023, and the approximate percentage of expenses attributable to general and administrative expenses was 

39.89% for fiscal 2022 and 38.83% for fiscal 2023. 

Significant items and amounts of selling, general and administrative expenses are as follows. 

 
 Fiscal 2022 

(From January 1, 2022  
to December 31, 2022) 

 Fiscal 2023 
(From January 1, 2023  
to December 31, 2023) 

Remuneration for directors (and other officers) 200,477 thousand yen 207,002 thousand yen 

Payroll and allowances 2,018,229 thousand yen 2,296,495 thousand yen 

Legal welfare expenses 317,297 thousand yen 354,102 thousand yen 

Outsourcing expenses 2,352,910 thousand yen 2,715,958 thousand yen 

Depreciation 81,696 thousand yen 79,022 thousand yen 

Amortization of goodwill 9,771 thousand yen － 

Provision of allowance for doubtful accounts 215,837 thousand yen 317,601 thousand yen 

Outsourcing expenses 107,596 thousand yen 122,340 thousand yen 

Provision for share awards 9,593 thousand yen 7,016 thousand yen 
Provision for share awards for directors (and 
other officers) 

18,340 thousand yen 12,865 thousand yen 

 

(Securities) 

Shares of subsidiaries and affiliates 

Balance sheet amount of shares and other securities with no market price 

Category Fiscal 2022 (thousands of yen) Fiscal 2023 (thousands of yen) 

Share of subsidiaries 70,000 170,000 

Shares of affiliates 343,095 754,974 
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 (Tax effect accounting) 

1. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities by major classification 

 
Fiscal 2022 

(December 31, 2022) 
Fiscal 2023 

(December 31, 2023) 

Deferred tax assets   

Accrued enterprise tax 15,589 thousand yen 32,840 thousand yen 
Allowance for doubtful accounts 160,619 thousand yen 190,614 thousand yen 

Accrued bonuses, etc. 24,845 thousand yen 19,702 thousand yen 

Accrued director bonuses 11,445 thousand yen － 

Accounts payable – other 11,595 thousand yen 21,485 thousand yen 

Accounts receivable – trade 19,188 thousand yen 19,411 thousand yen 

Loss on valuation of merchandise 2,843 thousand yen 612 thousand yen 

Excess amortization of deferred assets 15,982 thousand yen 12,207 thousand yen 

Lump-sum depreciable assets 8,992 thousand yen 8,347 thousand yen 

Depreciation 26,347 thousand yen 26,945 thousand yen 

Provision for share awards 21,357 thousand yen 27,413 thousand yen 

Loss on valuation of investment securities 114,723 thousand yen 117,271 thousand yen 

Other 3,659 thousand yen 11,214 thousand yen 

Total deferred tax assets 437,192 thousand yen 488,066 thousand yen 

 

2. Major components of significant differences arising between the effective statutory tax rate and effective income tax 

rate after application of tax effect accounting 

In both fiscal 2022 and fiscal 2023, notes are omitted because the difference between the effective statutory tax rate 

and effective income tax rate after application of tax effect accounting is 5/100 or less of the effective statutory tax 

rate. 

 

(Revenue recognition) 

Notes have been omitted because the basis for understanding revenue from contracts with customers is identical in the 

“Notes (Revenue recognition)” section of the consolidated financial statements. 

 

 (Significant subsequent events) 

At a meeting of the Board of Directors held on January 5, 2024, the Company resolved to enter into a share transfer 

agreement with the aim of converting GREEN LAUNDRY JOINT STOCK COMPANY, a company headquartered in 

Vietnam, into a subsidiary. It entered into the share transfer agreement on January 22, 2024.  

For more details, please refer to “V. Financial Information, 1. Consolidated Financial Statements, Etc., (1) Notes to the 

consolidated financial statements (Significant subsequent events).” 
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iv. [Supplementary Schedule] 

[Schedule for property, plant and equipment] 

Asset type 

Balance at 
beginning of 

period 
(thousand yen) 

Increase  
during the 

period 
(thousand yen) 

Decrease 
during  

the period 
(thousand yen) 

Balance at end 
of period 

(thousand yen) 

Accumulated 
depreciation 

at end of 
period 

(thousand yen) 

Amortization 
for period 

(thousand yen) 

Adjusted 
balance at 

end of period 
(thousand yen) 

Property, plant and 
equipment 

       

Buildings 303,584 14,883 6,876 311,592 120,706 15,553 190,885 

Structures 2,507 － － 2,507 960 135 1,546 

Vehicles 61,747 7,347 2,835 66,259 45,803 11,723 20,455 

Tools, furniture and 
fixtures 

147,037 9,781 4,205 152,612 105,604 21,603 47,008 

Land 269,200 － － 269,200 － － 269,200 

Leased assets 5,922 － － 5,922 5,527 1,184 394 

Total property, plant 
and equipment 

789,999 32,012 13,917 808,093 278,602 50,199 529,491 

Intangible assets        

Software 242,239 86,133 435 327,936 226,883 29,204 101,053 

Other 48,150 38,110 78,263 7,996 171 57 7,825 

Total intangible 
assets 

290,389 124,243 78,699 335,933 227,055 29,261 108,878 

(Note 1) The balances at the beginning and end of the period are stated based on acquisition costs. 

(Note 2)  Major increases in “Property, plant and equipment” during the period are as follows. 

The increase for “Buildings” during the period mainly reflects increases for interior construction related to the opening of 

the Kushiro sales office, interior construction related to the relocation of the Morioka branch, interior construction related 

to the relocation of the Niigata branch, and air conditioning and electrical work at the Matsumoto branch. 

(Note 3) Major increases and decreases in “Intangible assets” during the period were as follows.  

The increase for “Software” during the period mainly reflects an increase for software related to system development. 

The increase for “Other” during the period reflects an increase for software in progress related to system development 

investments.  

The decrease for “Other” during the period reflects the transfer amount to software in progress related to system 

development investment.  

 

[Schedule for provisions] 

Category 

Balance at 
beginning of  

period 
(thousand yen) 

Increase during  
the period 

(thousand yen) 

Decrease during 
the period 

(Purpose of use) 
(thousand yen) 

Decrease during 
the period 

(Other) 
(thousand yen) 

Balance at end of 
period 

(thousand yen) 

Allowance for doubtful 
accounts 

527,314 317,601 219,129 － 625,786 

Provision for share awards 20,358 7,016 － － 27,375 

Provision for share awards for 
directors (and other officers) 

49,757 12,865 － － 62,623 

 

(2) [Major Assets and Liabilities] 

Notes are omitted as consolidated financial statements were prepared. 

 

(3) [Others] 

Not applicable. 
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VI. [Stock-related Administration for the Company] 

Fiscal Year From January 1 to December 31 

Annual General Meeting of 
Shareholders 

Within three (3) months of the close of each fiscal year 

Record date December 31 

Record date for dividends of surplus June 30, December 31 

Number of shares constituting one 
unit 

100 shares 

Purchase of shares less than one unit  

Handling office 
 
1-3-3 Marunouchi, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 
Stock Transfer Agency Department, Mizuho Trust & Banking Co., Ltd. 

Transfer agent 
 
1-3-3 Marunouchi, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 
Mizuho Trust & Banking Co., Ltd. 

Forward office － 

Purchase fee 
An amount separately determined as an amount equivalent to the commission fee for 
entrustment of the sale and purchase of shares 

Method of public notice 

Public notice of the Company is given by electronic means. However, in the event accidents 
or other unavoidable reasons prevent public notice by electronic means, the notice can be 
made by publication in The Nihon Keizai Shimbun. 
The Company’s URL for public notice is as follows. 
https://www.kkelan.com/ 

Special benefit for shareholders Not applicable. 

(Note) The Company’s Articles of Incorporation stipulate that shareholders of the Company may not exercise any rights other than 

the following rights with respect to shares less than one unit held. 

(1) Rights listed in each item of Article 189, Paragraph 2 of the Companies Act 

(2) Right to make requests pursuant to the provisions of Article 166, Paragraph 1 of the Companies Act 

(3) Right to receive allotment of offered shares and of offered stock acquisition rights in accordance to the number of 

shares held by the shareholder 
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VII. [Reference Information on the Company] 
1. [Information on the Parent Company, Etc. of the Filing Company] 

The Company has no parent company, etc. as defined in Article 24-7, Paragraph 1 of the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act. 

2. [Other Reference Information] 
The Company filed the following documents between the start of fiscal 2023 and the submittal of the Japanese version of this 

Annual Securities Report. 

(1) Annual Securities Report and documents attached thereto, and Confirmation Letter thereof 

For fiscal 2022 (29th fiscal year) (from January 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022) Submitted to Director, Kanto Local Finance 

Bureau on March 27, 2023 

(2) Internal Control Report and documents attached thereto 

Submitted to Director, Kanto Local Finance Bureau on March 27, 2023 

(3) Quarterly Securities Report and Confirmation Letter thereof 

For the first quarter of fiscal 2023 (30th fiscal year) (from January 1, 2023 to March 31, 2023) Submitted to Director, Kanto 

Local Finance Bureau on May 11, 2023 

For the second quarter of fiscal 2023 (30th fiscal year) (from April 1, 2023 to June 30, 2023) Submitted to Director, Kanto 

Local Finance Bureau on August 8, 2023 

For the third quarter of fiscal 2023 (30th fiscal year) (from July 1, 2023 to September 30, 2023) Submitted to Director, Kanto 

Local Finance Bureau on November 8, 2023 

(4)Correction Report for the Annual Securities Report, and Confirmation Letter thereof 

Submitted to Director, Kanto Local Finance Bureau on April 25 2023 

This is the Correction Report and Confirmation Letter thereof for the Annual Securities Report for fiscal 2022(29th fiscal 

year) (from January 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022) 

 (5) Extraordinary Report 

Submitted to Director, Kanto Local Finance Bureau on March 28, 2023 

This is an Extraordinary Report based on Article 19, Paragraph 2, Item 9-2 of the Cabinet Office Ordinance on Disclosure of 

Corporate Affairs (Results of Exercise of Voting Rights at the General Meeting of Shareholders). 

Submitted to Director, Kanto Local Finance Bureau on March 22, 2024 

This is an Extraordinary Report based on Article 19, Paragraph 2, Item 3 and Item 8-2 of the Cabinet Office Ordinance on 

Disclosure of Corporate Affairs (Changes in Specific Subsidiaries and Decision to Acquire Subsidiaries). 
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Part II [Information on Guarantors, Etc. for the Company] 
Not applicable. 
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 Independent Auditor’s Report and Internal Control Audit Report  

 

 March 21, 2024 

  

To the Board of Directors of ELAN Corporation  

 

 Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu LLC 

 Nagano Office  

 

 
Designated Limited 
Liability Partner 
and Engagement Partner 

 
Certified Public 
Accountant 

Masahiko Mutsuda 

 

 
Designated Limited 
Liability Partner 
and Engagement Partner 

 
Certified Public 
Accountant 

Kazuhide Kobori 

 

[Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements] 

Opinion 

Pursuant to paragraph 1 of Article 193-2 of the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act, we have audited the accompanying consolidated 

financial statements of ELAN Corporation and its subsidiaries included in the “Financial Information” section of the annual securities 

report for the fiscal year from January 1, 2023, to December 31, 2023, which is comprised of the consolidated balance sheet, the 

consolidated statements of income, the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, the consolidated statements of changes in 

equity, the consolidated statements of cash flows, significant matters that serve as the basis for preparation of the consolidated financial 

statements, other notes, and consolidated supplementary financial schedules. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 

ELAN Corporation (the “Company”) and its consolidated subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) as of December 31, 2023, 

and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for the fiscal year then ended in conformity with accounting standards 

generally accepted in Japan. 

 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan. Our responsibilities under those standards 

are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. 

We are independent of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 

our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Japan, and we have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 

requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial 

statements of the current fiscal year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as 

a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  
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Sales related to CS Set services 
([Notes] Segment information, etc.) 

The key audit matter and reason for its selection How the matter was addressed in our audit 

As presented in [Notes] (Segment information, etc.) in the 

consolidated financial statements, the Group has a single segment, 

the nursing- and medical care-related business, and its net sales 

on the consolidated statements of income were 41,425,501 

thousand yen. 
 
CS Set services, the core services of the Group’s nursing- and 

medical care-related business, combines the lending of clothing 

and towels with the sale of daily necessities to users of hospitals, 

nursing care facilities for the elderly and other such facilities, 

instead of the users providing their own clothing, towels, and 

daily necessities. In CS Set services, sales are recorded as the unit 

price of the set plan multiplied by the service usage period, and 

consist of numerous small transactions. 
 
The major business processes and related internal controls over 

the recording of sales for CS Set services are described below. 

• The person in charge registers the set plan unit price and 

service usage period for CS Set services in the billing 

management system. And, the results of this registration are 

checked against the source documents and system input results 

by person other than the person who entered this data. 

• Based on the set plan unit price and service usage period 

entered into the billing management system, sales are 

automatically calculated using the system’s pre-determined 

logic. 

• Based on sales data from the billing management system, sales 

of CS Set services are registered in the accounting system. The 

balance of accounts receivable in the billing management 

system and the balance of accounts receivable — trade in the 

accounting system are reconciled monthly by the person in 

charge in order to examine the reasonableness of the difference 

between the two. 
 
In this way, since sales are automatically calculated based on the 

set plan unit price and service usage period information, errors in 

registration to the billing management system or in the logic used 

to calculate billing amounts could have a significant impact on 

financial reporting. 

In addition, net sales are considered to be an indicator of the scale 

of a company's business activities and a particularly important 

indicator for management and investors in measuring the 

achievement of the Group's performance.  

From the above, we determined that sales related to CS Set 

services in the nursing- and medical care-related business 

segment were a key audit matter. 

We primarily performed the following audit procedures with 

regard to the key audit matter described at left. 
 
(Evaluation of internal controls) 

• We evaluated the status of internal controls and their operation 

to ensure the accuracy of the registration of set plan unit prices 

and service usage periods in the billing management system. 

• We evaluated the status of internal controls and their operation 

related to matching the accounts receivable balance of the 

billing management system with the accounts receivable 

balance of the accounting system. 

• In conjunction with our internal IT specialists, we evaluated 

the status and operation of IT operational processing controls 

related to the automatic calculation of sales. Specifically, we 

asked those in charge about the logic of the automatic 

calculation of sales data in the billing management system and 

evaluated implementation status by reviewing the system 

documentation and confirming the specifications of the subject 

programs. In addition, we evaluated the system’s operational 

status through recalculations for each major sales calculation 

pattern, including daily and monthly calculations. 

In conducting the assessment of IT operational processing 

controls, we used observation and review of documents to 

evaluate the effectiveness of general IT controls over access 

security, program changes, and data center and network 

operations related to the billing management system. 
 
(Risk assessment procedures and verification procedures) 

• As a risk assessment procedure, we analyzed trends in sales by 

branch and sales per facility, as well as the average monthly 

billing amount per user at each facility, and determined 

whether there are any branches or facilities that exceed normal 

expectations. Then, in cases where the transaction exceeded 

normal expectations, the appropriateness of the transaction was 

examined by asking questions and inspecting evidence.  

• We examined the consistency of sales amounts between the 

billing management system and the accounting system. 

• We examined the accuracy of the sales data in the billing 

management system and the appropriateness of period 

attribution by performing sampling-based voucher matching 

and recalculations. 

 

 
Other descriptions 

Other descriptions are information included in the annual securities report, other than the consolidated financial statements and 

financial statements and the audited reports thereon. Management is responsible for preparing and disclosing other descriptions. 

Further, the Audit & Supervisory Committee is responsible for overseeing the directors’ performance of their duties with regard to the 

development and operation of the reporting process for other descriptions. 

The scope of our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not include other descriptions, and the Group expresses 

no opinion on other descriptions. 
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Our responsibility in the audit of the consolidated financial statements is to read the other descriptions and, in the course of reading, 

to consider whether there are material differences between the other descriptions and the consolidated financial statements or our 

knowledge obtained in the audit, and to pay attention to whether there are material indications of errors in the other descriptions other 

than such material differences. 

Based on the work the Group has performed, if we determine that there are material errors in the other descriptions, we are required 

to report those facts. 

We have no other matters to report regarding other descriptions. 

 

Responsibilities of Management and the Audit & Supervisory Committee for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with 

accounting principles generally accepted in Japan, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 

preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going 

concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan. 

The Audit & Supervisory Committee is responsible for overseeing the directors’ performance of their duties with regard to the design 

and operation of the Group’s financial reporting process. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our responsibilities are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Misstatements can arise 

from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

In accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan, auditors exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 

skepticism throughout the audit process to perform the following: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. Design and perform audit procedures 

responsive to the risks of material misstatement. The selection and application of audit procedures is at the discretion of the auditor. 

Obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for opinion. 

• In making risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity's audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, although the purpose of the audit of the consolidated financial statements is not to express an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. 

• Assess the appropriateness of accounting policies adopted by management and the method of their application, as well as the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management and the adequacy of related notes. 

• Determine whether it is appropriate that the consolidated financial statements are to be prepared based on the premise of a going 

concern and, based on the audit evidence obtained, determine whether there is a significant uncertainty in regard to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If there is a significant uncertainty 

concerning the premise of a going concern, the auditor is required to call attention to the notes to the consolidated financial 

statements in the audit report, or if the notes to the consolidated financial statements pertaining to the significant uncertainty are 

inappropriate, issue a modified opinion on the consolidated financial statements. While the conclusions of the auditor are based on 

the audit evidence obtained up to the date of the audit report, depending on future events or conditions, an entity may be unable to 

continue as a going concern. 

• Besides assessing whether the presentation of and notes to the consolidated financial statements are in accordance with accounting 

principles generally accepted in Japan, assess the presentation, structure, and content of the consolidated financial statements, 

including related notes, and whether the consolidated financial statements fairly present the transactions and accounting events on 

which they are based. 

• Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the Company and its consolidated 

subsidiaries in order to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for instructing, supervising, 

and implementing the audit of the consolidated financial statements. We are solely responsible for the audit opinion. 

We report to the Audit & Supervisory Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit process, and other 

matters required by auditing standards. 

We report to the Audit & Supervisory Committee regarding our compliance with professional ethics codes in Japan, matters that are 

reasonably considered to have an impact on our independence, and, where applicable, measures implemented to remove obstacles to our 

independence or safeguards in place to reduce such obstacles to acceptable levels. 
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From the matters communicated with the Audit & Supervisory Committee, We determine those matters that were of most significance 

in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current fiscal year and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 

matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 

circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so 

would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
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[Audit of Internal Controls] 

Opinion 

Pursuant to the second paragraph of Article 193-2 of the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act, we have audited the Internal Control 

Report of ELAN Corporation as of December 31, 2023 (the “Management’s Report”) for the purpose of audit certification. 

In our opinion, the Internal Control Report referred to above, which represents that the internal control over financial reporting as of 

December 31, 2023, of ELAN Corporation is effective, presents fairly, in all material respects, the result of management’s assessment 

on internal control over financial reporting in conformity with standards for assessment of internal control over financial reporting 

generally accepted in Japan. 

 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards for internal control over financial reporting generally accepted in Japan. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Internal Control Audit” section 

of our report. We are independent of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 

relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Japan, and we have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance 

with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

opinion. 

 

Responsibilities of the Management and the Audit & Supervisory Committee for the Internal Control Report 

Management is responsible for the design and operation of internal control over financial reporting, and for the preparation and fair 

presentation of the Internal Control Report in accordance with assessment standards for internal control over financial reporting generally 

accepted in Japan. 

The Audit & Supervisory Committee is responsible for overseeing and verifying the design and operation of internal control over 

financial reporting. 

Internal control over financial reporting may not completely prevent or detect financial reporting misstatements. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Internal Control Audit 

Our responsibilities are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Internal Control Report is free from material misstatement, 

and to express our opinion on the Internal Control Report from an independent perspective, based on our internal control audit. 

In accordance with internal control auditing standards generally accepted in Japan, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 

professional skepticism throughout the audit process to perform the following: 

• Perform procedures to obtain audit evidence about the results of the assessments of internal control over financial reporting in the 

Internal Control Report. The procedures for the internal control audit are selected and performed, depending on the auditor’s 

judgment, based on significance of effect on the reliability of financial reporting. 

• Examine the overall presentation of the Internal Control Report in terms of scope, evaluation procedures, and conclusions of the 

evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, including the statements by management. 

• Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence related to the conclusions of the evaluation of internal controls over financial 

reporting in the Internal Control Report. We are responsible for the direction and supervision of the audit of the Management’s 

Report. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We report to the Audit & Supervisory Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of their audit of internal 

control, the results thereof, material weaknesses in internal control identified during their audit of internal control, and those that were 

remediated, and other matters required by internal control auditing standards. 

We report to the Audit & Supervisory Committee regarding our compliance with professional ethics codes in Japan, matters that are 

reasonably considered to have an impact on our independence, and, where applicable, measures implemented to remove obstacles to our 

independence or safeguards in place to reduce such obstacles to acceptable levels. 

 

Fees related information 

The amount of fees based on audit and certification services of the company and its subsidiaries and fees based on non-audit services 

for the audit firm and firms belonging to the same network as the audit firm is based on the “Corporate Governance” included in 

"Information on the Company" iii [Status of Audit]. 

 

Conflicts of Interest 

There are no conflicts of interest between the Company including the consolidated subsidiaries and Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu LLC or 

its Engagement Partners that should be disclosed in compliance with the Certified Public Accountants Act. 

END 
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(Note 1) The original of the above audit report is kept separately by the Company. 

(Note 2) XBRL data is excluded from the scope of the audit. 
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 Independent Auditor’s Report  

 

 March 21, 2024 

  

To the Board of Directors of ELAN Corporation  

 

 Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu LLC 

 Nagano Office 

 

 
Designated Limited 
Liability Partner 
and Engagement Partner 

 
Certified Public 
Accountant 

Masahiko Mutsuda 

 

 
Designated Limited 
Liability Partner 
and Engagement Partner 

 
Certified Public 
Accountant 

Kazuhide Kobori 

 

[Audit of Financial Statements] 

Opinion 

Pursuant to paragraph 1 of Article 193-2 of the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act, we have audited the accompanying non-

consolidated financial statements of ELAN Corporation included in the “Financial Information” section of the annual securities report 

for the 30th fiscal year from January 1, 2023, to December 31, 2023, comprised of the non-consolidated balance sheet, the non-

consolidated statements of income, the non-consolidated statements of changes in equity, significant accounting policies, other notes, 

and supplementary schedules. 

In our opinion, the non-consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 

of ELAN Corporation as of December 31, 2023, and the results of its operations for the fiscal year then ended in conformity with 

accounting standards generally accepted in Japan. 

 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan. Our responsibilities under those standards 

are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Non-consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. 

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated 

financial statements in Japan, and we have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that 

the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the non-consolidated 

financial statements of the current fiscal year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the non-consolidated financial 

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

 

Sales related to CS Set services 

ELAN Corporation’s net sales of 41,341,828 thousand yen, recorded in the statements of income, consist primarily of sales of CS Set 

services. 

The details of the key audit matter, the reason for its selection, and how the matter was addressed in our audit are the same as in the key 

audit matters (sales related to CS Set services) included in the audit report of the consolidated financial statements, and therefore have 

been omitted. 
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Other descriptions 

Other descriptions are information included in the annual securities report, other than the consolidated financial statements and financial 

statements and the audited reports thereon. Management is responsible for preparing and disclosing other descriptions. Further, the Audit 

& Supervisory Committee is responsible for overseeing the directors’ performance of their duties with regard to the development and 

operation of the reporting process for other descriptions. 

The scope of our audit opinion on the financial statements does not include other descriptions, and we express no opinion on other 

descriptions. 

Our responsibility in the audit of the financial statements is to read the other statements and, in the course of reading the other statements, 

to consider whether there are material differences between the other description and the financial statements or our knowledge obtained 

in the audit, and to pay attention to whether there are any indication of material errors in the other description other than such material 

differences. 

Based on the work the Group has performed, if we determine that there are material errors in the other descriptions, we are required to 

report those facts. 

We have no other matters to report regarding other descriptions. 

 

Responsibilities of Management and the Audit & Supervisory Committee for the Non-consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the non-consolidated financial statements in accordance with 

accounting principles generally accepted in Japan and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 

preparation of non-consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the non-consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a 

going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 

in Japan. 

The Audit & Supervisory Committee is responsible for overseeing the directors’ performance of their duties with regard to the design 

and operation of the Group’s financial reporting process. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Non-consolidated Financial Statements 

Our responsibilities are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the non-consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Misstatements can arise 

from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these non-consolidated financial statements. 

In accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan, auditors exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 

skepticism throughout the audit process to perform the following: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. Design and perform audit procedures 

responsive to the risks of material misstatement. The selection and application of audit procedures is at the discretion of the auditor. 

Obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for opinion. 

• In making risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity's audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, although the purpose of the audit of the non-consolidated financial statements is not to express 

an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. 

• Assess the appropriateness of accounting policies adopted by management and the method of their application, as well as the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management and the adequacy of related notes. 

• Determine whether it is appropriate that the non-consolidated financial statements are to be prepared based on the premise of a 

going concern and, based on the audit evidence obtained, determine whether there is a significant uncertainty in regard to events 

or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If there is a significant uncertainty 

concerning the premise of a going concern, the auditor is required to call attention to the notes to the non-consolidated financial 

statements in the audit report, or if the notes to the non-consolidated financial statements pertaining to the significant uncertainty 

are inappropriate, issue a modified opinion on the non-consolidated financial statements. While the conclusions of the auditor are 

based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of the audit report, depending on future events or conditions, an entity may be 

unable to continue as a going concern. 

• Besides assessing whether the presentation of and notes to the non-consolidated financial statements are in accordance with 

accounting principles generally accepted in Japan, assess the presentation, structure, and content of the non-consolidated financial 

statements including related notes, and whether the non-consolidated financial statements fairly present the transactions and 

accounting events on which they are based. 

We report to the Audit & Supervisory Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit process, and other 

matters required by auditing standards. 
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We report to the Audit & Supervisory Committee regarding our compliance with professional ethics codes in Japan, matters that are 

reasonably considered to have an impact on our independence, and, where applicable, measures implemented to remove obstacles to our 

independence or safeguards in place to reduce such obstacles to acceptable levels. 

From the matters communicated with the Audit & Supervisory Committee, We determine those matters that were of most significance 

in the audit of the non-consolidated financial statements of the current fiscal year and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 

these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 

circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so 

would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

 

Fees related information 

Fees related information is included in the Independent Auditor’s Report of the consolidated financial statements. 

 

Conflicts of Interest 

There are no conflicts of interest between the Company and Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu LLC or its Engagement Partners that should be 

disclosed in compliance with the Certified Public Accountants Act. 

END 

 

(Note 1) The original of the above audit report is kept separately by the Company. 

(Note 2) XBRL data is excluded from the scope of the audit. 
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1. [Matters relating to the basic framework for internal control over financial reporting] 
Tomohiro Minezaki, Representative Director, President and COO, Daiki Akiyama, Director, Executive Officer and CFO, General 

Manager of Administration Department are responsible for designing and operating effective internal control over financial 

reporting of ELAN Corporation and have designed and operated internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the 

basic framework for internal control set forth in “On the Revision of the Standards and Practice Standards for Management 

Assessment and Audit concerning Internal Control Over Financial Reporting (Council Opinions)” published by the Business 

Accounting Council. 

The internal control is designed to achieve its objectives to the extent reasonable through the effective function and organic 

combination of its basic elements. Therefore, there is a possibility that misstatements may not be completely prevented or detected 

by internal control over financial reporting. 

2. [Matters relating to the scope of assessment, the basis date of assessment and the assessment procedures] 
The assessment of internal control over financial reporting was performed as of December 31, 2023, which is the end of fiscal 

2023. The assessment was performed in accordance with assessment standards for internal control over financial reporting 

generally accepted in Japan. 

In conducting this assessment, we evaluated internal controls which may have a material effect on our entire financial reporting on 

a consolidation basis (“entity-level controls”) and based on the results of this assessment, we selected business processes to be 

tested. We analyzed these selected business processes, identified key controls that may have a material impact on the reliability of 

our financial reporting, and assessed the design and operation of these key controls. These procedures have allowed us to evaluate 

the effectiveness of our internal controls. 

We determined the necessary scope for assessment of internal control over financial reporting for the Company and its consolidated 

subsidiaries from the perspective of the materiality that may affect the reliability of their financial reporting. The materiality that 

may affect the reliability of the financial reporting is determined taking into account the materiality of quantitative and qualitative 

impacts. In light of the results of assessment of entity-level internal controls, which covered ELAN Corporation, we reasonably 

determined the scope of assessment of internal controls over business processes. 

Regarding the scope of assessment of internal control over business processes, we accumulated business locations to be tested in 

descending order of revenue (after elimination of inter-company transactions) for fiscal 2023, and those 1 locations whose 

combined revenue reaches two-thirds of the total amount on a consolidation basis were selected as “significant locations.” We 

included in the scope of assessment, at the selected significant business locations, business processes leading to net sales, purchase 

of goods and inventories as significant accounts that may have a material impact on the business objectives of the Company. 

Further, in addition to selected significant business locations, we also selected for testing, as business processes having greater 

materiality, business processes relating to (i) greater likelihood of material misstatements and/or (ii) significant accounts involving 

estimates and forecasts and/or (iii) a business or operation dealing with high-risk transactions, taking into account their impact on 

the financial reporting. 

3. [Matters relating to the results of the assessment] 
As a result of the assessment described above, as of the end of fiscal 2023, we concluded that ELAN Corporation’s internal control 

over financial reporting was effectively maintained. 

4. [Additional notes] 
No material items to report. 

5. [Special notes] 
No material items to report. 
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1. [Matters related to the appropriateness of the content presented in the Annual Securities Report] 
Tomohiro Mineazaki, Representative Director, President and COO, Daiki Akiyama, Director, Executive Officer and CFO, General 

Manager of Administration Department of the Company have confirmed that the contents of the Annual Securities Report for the 

30th fiscal year (from January 1, 2023, to December 31, 2023) of the Company are properly presented in accordance with the 

Financial Instruments and Exchange Act. 

2. [Special notes] 
No material items to report. 


